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National Broadband Network 
being rolled out in Brunswick

Gowanbrae Community 
Centre officially opened

Moreland at a glance...

88% of survey respondents 
agree that they can access a 
variety of recreation facilities 

and leisure activities

89% of survey respondents 
agree that Moreland is a 
good place to raise a family

Front cover image: Gowanbrae Community and Children’s Centre.

Average  
time to assess 

planning 
applications 
reduced by  
40 per cent

Estimated  
resident population 

of Moreland as 
at June 2011 was 
152,255 people

Proportion of 
customer requests 
completed on time 
has exceeded the 

target of 80%

Implementation of 
Carbon Management 

Strategy (CMS) resulted 
in savings of $68,000 

from gas and electricity 
bills and a reduction of 

425 tonnes CO2e
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Community campaign for a 
Coburg High School is successful

Stage 1 construction of Skate Park 
at CB Smith Reserve completed

87% of Moreland residents surveyed rated 
overall performance of Council as either 

‘very good’, ‘good’ or ‘average’

92% of survey respondents 
agree that cultural 

diversity enriches local 
community life

81% of survey respondents 
agree that there is a positive 

sense of community in 
Moreland

Permanent youth facility site selected 
for construction in coming years

2,438 babies  
were born in  
Moreland in  

2011/12

Between  
2006 and 2011, the 
number of private 

dwellings in Moreland 
increased by 4,071  

to a total of  
63,302

Of the 40% of 
residents born 
overseas, 87%  

were born in non-
English speaking 

countries

An estimated  
62,800 people 

attended  
the Festivals  
and Events  

Program
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purpOse Of repOrt
The Moreland City Council Annual Report 2012 provides a comprehensive account 
of Council’s performance from 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012. The Moreland City 
Council’s Council Plan 2009–2013 is the guiding document for this annual report. 
The Council Plan describes our strategic objectives in four focus areas and the 
key initiatives to be implemented to achieve them. The annual report provides an 
update on the highlights and achievements emanating from this program and 
addresses the challenges experienced throughout the year. It also identifies the 
future directions and challenges that lie ahead for our city.

cOntact
Council offices  
office hours: 8.30am to 5.00pm 
Moreland Civic Centre  
90 Bell Street  
Coburg, Victoria 3058 

Brunswick Citizens Service Centre  
233 Sydney Road  
Brunswick, Victoria 3056 

Glenroy Citizens Service Centre  
796N Pascoe Vale Road  
Glenroy, Victoria 3046 

Postal address:  
Locked Bag 10  
Moreland, Victoria 3058 

General enquiries:  
Telephone: 03 9240 1111  
Facsimile: 03 9240 1212  
email: info@moreland.vic.gov.au  
Website: moreland.vic.gov.au

To contact Council in your language 
via an interpreter, please phone 
Council’s Language Link service. 
Phone numbers for each language 
are listed at right. 

welcome to the 2012 annual report

Moreland City CounCil annual report 2012

where tO  
get a cOpy

You can view a hard copy of the 
annual report at each of the three 
Citizens Service centres, or at any of 
the municipal libraries. If you would like 
a copy to keep, please contact our 
Citizens Service call centre on (03) 9240 
1111 to arrange for one to be sent to 
you. electronic copies are available on 
our website www.moreland.vic.gov.au
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The great measure of a Council 
is the effectiveness with which it 
delivers infrastructure and services 
to its residents, business owners 
and visitors.

The year marked another strong 12 
months of delivering on our Council 
Plan 2009–2013, which sets out the 
goals and objectives against which the 
Council and its administration measures 
performance. 

Council spent $29.31 million on 
capital works during the year, with 
childcare centres and kindergartens 
among the main beneficiaries. Street 
works progressed with few hiccups. 
Significant improvements were made  
to shared paths and landscaping  
along the Merri, Moonee Ponds and 
edgars creeks.

However, as with any organisation 
tackling major infrastructure projects, 
the organisation has faced its share 
of challenges. The redevelopment of 
the Brunswick City Baths, the biggest 
single capital works project ever 
undertaken by Council, was delayed 
by several months after the discovery 
of a greater level of contamination than 
had been anticipated. Completion is 
expected by December 2012. 

The year will also be remembered 
for the modernisation of Moreland’s 
parking system. Some 4000 tiny 
sensors, which detect when vehicles 
move in and out of a parking bay, were 

installed in parking bays in Moreland 
shopping strips to discourage parking 
overstays. This has made it more 
equitable and easier for people to park 
when visiting our shopping areas and 
promotes more sustainable transport 
modes such as public transport, 
walking and cycling.

Perhaps one of the highlights for 
me was when I officially opened the 
Gowanbrae Community Centre. The 
centre includes a 30-place daycare 
centre, kindergarten, maternal and child 
health service, multipurpose community 
space and a barbecue area; all fitting 
for the vibrant, fast-growing community 
of Gowanbrae.

In addition to infrastructure, several 
key service improvements were 
implemented in 2011–12. 

The year marked the smooth transition 
of all six aquatic and leisure centres to 
YMCA under a single service tender 
agreement, and the creation of the 
‘Active Moreland’ branding strategy. 
Several initiatives launched since the 
agreement was signed have made it 
easier for residents to access the  
Active Moreland range of facilities  
and services.

The selection of Brunswick as one of 
five first rollout sites for the National 
Broadband Network has inspired 
Council to think deeply about ways to 
maximise the benefits of a super-fast 
broadband service to Council, residents 
and the business community. The 
Digital Moreland Strategy, developed 
during the year, explores innovative 
ways of working and engaging with the 
community.

The permanent introduction of longer 
library opening hours in early 2012 
proved a hit with residents and has 
no doubt contributed to the high 
regard with which residents rate 
Moreland’s libraries – as demonstrated 
in the Victorian Government’s latest 
Community Satisfaction Survey.

This year, Moreland became one of the 
first councils in Victoria to include empty 
plastic bags and wrappers, polystyrene, 

and pots and pans, on its recycling bin 
approved list. The environmental and 
financial incentives for doing this are 
clear – with a 438 per cent increase in 
the Victorian Government’s waste levy 
since 2009–10 (to $48.40 a tonne in 
2012–13) and the introduction of the 
carbon price, councils and residents 
must continue to work together to 
develop methods to reduce their waste.

The introduction of a price on carbon 
and rising costs of energy have also 
shown that Council’s commitment to 
carbon neutrality of council buildings 
is a wise policy for both environmental 
and financial reasons. 

I thank my fellow Councillors and Ceo, 
and sincerely hope that the new team 
of Councillors, who will be sworn in 
following elections on 27 october 2012, 
can build upon the achievements of 
recent years.

Cr John Kavanagh 
Mayor

Mayor’s introduction
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Gowanbrae Community 
and Children’s Centre 
includes a 30-place 
daycare centre, 
kindergarten, maternal 
and child health 
service, multipurpose 
community space and  
a barbecue area.



4

M
O

RE
LA

N
D 

CI
TY

 C
O

U
N

CI
L 

AN
N

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
2

about Moreland

Our city
The City of Moreland covers the 
inner and mid-northern suburbs of 
Melbourne. It lies between 4 and 14km 
north of central Melbourne, and covers 
a diverse range of communities.

The name Moreland is derived from 
Moreland Road which runs through 
the middle of the municipality. A train 
station on the Upfield line is also called 
Moreland. The name of the road and 
locality originated from land speculator 
Farquhar McCrae who named the area 
after his father’s birthplace in Jamaica.

The City of Moreland covers the 
suburbs of Brunswick, Brunswick 
east, Brunswick West, Pascoe Vale, 
Pascoe Vale South, Coburg, Coburg 
North, Hadfield, Fawkner, Glenroy, oak 
Park and Gowanbrae. Small sections 
of the suburbs of Fitzroy North and 
Tullamarine are also located in the City.

rne

reland

Inner Melbourne

City of Moreland

cOuncil plan 2009–2013

Our Purpose
The council plan describes our strategic 
objectives in four focus areas and the 
key initiatives to be implemented to 
achieve them. Moreland City Council 
delivers good governance to achieve a 
more socially and environmentally just 
and sustainable city.

Our Vision
Moreland City Council will partner the 
community to be a city that is lively, 
proud, celebrates its diversity, and 
cares for and respects all of its citizens.

Our Strategic Statement
Moreland City Council will be 
recognised as an accountable, 
innovative and collaborative 
organisation that delivers Council’s 
vision for the city.

Our Strategic Focus Areas
•	 A	Sustainable	&	Just	City
•	 A	Proud	City
•	 A	Healthy	&	Educated	Community
•	 A	Responsive	Organisation.

Our Values: How We Work

Collaboration
•	 Empowerment

Service
•	 Excellence
•	 Results

Social Justice
•	 Compassionate
•	 Ethical

Innovation
•	 Creative
•	 Risk
•	 Courage
•	 Discipline

Members of Moreland’s youth group oxYgen launch free wifi at Harmony Park, Coburg.
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strategic planning 
framewOrK
This chart gives an overview of 
Moreland City Council’s plans that 
drive our service delivery, projects and 
resource allocation.

 
Council 

 Plan

Health & 
Wellbeing 

 Plan

 
Strategic 

Resource Plan

 
Mayor’s  
Speech

 

 
 

Council 
 Action Plan

 
Annual  
Budget

 
Community Wellbeing 

(needs & aspirations)

 
Moreland 2025 

Community Plan

 
Key Strategic documents 

ie. Municipal Strategic Statement, Transport, economic 
Development, Climate Change, Structure Plans, 

Community Infrastructure

 
Service Unit Plans

 
Individual Performance 

Plans

 
10 year view >

 
4–5 year view >

 
1 year view >

City of 
Moreland

Moreland 
City  
Council

Prioritised 
Advocacy 
Program
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Focus area achievements Challenges
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•	 Carbon	Management	Strategy	(CMS)	implemented,	including	building	efficiency	works	and	carbon	
off-set policy developed, resulting in savings of $68,000 from gas and electricity bills, and a reduction 
of 425 tonnes Co2e.  

•	 Stage	1	of	Brunswick	Place	Framework	Strategy	completed.

•	 Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (DDA) Audits completed for all Shopping Centres and Activity 
Centres.

•	 Installation	of	3000	non-tram	Parking	Overstay	Detection	Systems	(PODS)	and	1000	tram	bay	PODS.

•	 Development	Contribution	Plan	for	Moreland	initiated.

•	 Planning	scheme	amendment	package	prepared	to	facilitate	Coburg	activity	centre	redevelopment.	

•	 Following	the	cessation	of	the	Strategic	Partnering	Agreement	(SPA)	with	Equiset,	
to maintain the momentum of the Coburg Initiative by proceeding on  
a project-by-project basis.

•	 To	progress	the	expansion	of	active	transport	networks,	such	as	the	Upfield	 
bike path.

•	 To	undertake	a	further	review	on	the	bluestone	aspect	of	the	Right	of	Way	(ROW)	
Strategy to address community concerns.

•	 To	prepare	a	local	parking	policy	for	Coburg	and	Brunswick	informed	by	the	
respective economic development strategies and place framework programs.
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•	 Brunswick	Station	has	been	secured	as	a	temporary	creative	work	space	through	a	licence	
agreement with Metro Trains. 

•	 Implementation	of	the	Moreland	Waste	&	Litter	Strategy	and	associated	contracts.	Some	of	the	
key initiatives for 2011–12 included a kerbside garbage audit and the introduction of community 
composting hubs.

•	 To	increase	total	attendance	for	the	Festivals	and	Events	Program.

•	 To	fully	implement	the	Area	Integrated	Maintenance	(AIM)	program,	including	a	
review of the street cleaning schedule and practices.
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y •	 Implementation	of	additional	Culturally	and	Linguistically	Diverse	(CALD)	Community	initiatives.	Ten	new	
storyboards have been created, including Asbestos, Food Safety, Family Violence and ePayments. 

•	 Implementation	of	an	Integrated	Library	Management	System	(ILMS).

•	 Successful	advocacy	for	a	years	7–12	secondary	school	in	Coburg.	The	Victorian	Government	recently	
announced that Coburg Senior High will expand to a full year 7–12 school in 2015.

•	 Completed	Aquatics	and	Leisure	tender	process.	YMCA	has	commenced	as	operator	of	all	six	
aquatic and leisure facilities.

•	 Completed	Stage	1	construction	of	Skate	Park	and	surrounding	areas	at	CB	Smith	Reserve.

•	 Continued	implementing	the	OxYgen	Project.	The	property	at	4–8	Gaffney	Street	has	been	selected	
as the preferred site for a permanent youth facility.

•	 The	redevelopment	of	the	Brunswick	Baths	is	well	underway	but	there	were	some	
delays due to land contamination issues. Completion of construction has been 
reset to December 2012.

•	 The	upgrade	of	the	Oak	Park	Aquatic	Centre,	which	includes	redevelopment	of	
oak Park Reserve and the pavilion located between the two ovals, is still in the 
design phase.  

•	 Preparation	of	a	master	plan	for	the	redevelopment	of	the	Coburg	City	Oval	
and grandstand has been postponed following the cessation of the Strategic 
Partnering Agreement (SPA) with equiset.
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•	 Advocacy	Plan	developed	and	adopted	by	Council,	including	assignment	of	priority	and	advocacy	
method to all items.

•	 The	backlog	of	planning	permit	applications	was	reduced	and	customer	service	improved.	This	is	
largely attributable to the newly-established Fast Track and Commercial Priority Services.

•	 The	proportion	of	planning	and	subdivision	applications	determined	within	statutory	timeframe	
improved from 40% to 62%, exceeding the target of 60%.

•	 The	proportion	of	customer	requests	completed	on	time	exceeded	the	target	of	80%.

•	 Service	unit	plans	developed	for	all	services	using	Results	Based	Accountability	model.

•	 Introduction	of	revised	Best	Value	Program	and	pilot	projects.

•	 Delivery	of	the	capital	works	program	was	not	entirely	on	time	and	on	budget	due	
to delays experienced with some major building projects.

•	 Partly	due	to	scoping	changes	and	resource	constraints,	the	completion	rate	for	
operating projects was 88%, just short of the target of at least 90%.

•	 Depreciation	of	assets	exceeded	budgeted	expenditure	on	asset	renewal	by	
$1.6m, due to some renewal projects not proceeding and a need to invest more 
in new assets in that period.

•	 The	challenge	to	Council	to	fund	the	Defined	Benefits	Call	due	1	July	2013	and	
manage impact on services.

performance Highlights



7

overview
o

peratio
n

s
perFo

rM
an

Ce
Fin

an
Cials

Focus area achievements Challenges

a
 s

u
st

a
in

a
B

le
 a

n
D

  
Ju

st
 c

it
y

•	 Carbon	Management	Strategy	(CMS)	implemented,	including	building	efficiency	works	and	carbon	
off-set policy developed, resulting in savings of $68,000 from gas and electricity bills, and a reduction 
of 425 tonnes Co2e.  

•	 Stage	1	of	Brunswick	Place	Framework	Strategy	completed.

•	 Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (DDA) Audits completed for all Shopping Centres and Activity 
Centres.

•	 Installation	of	3000	non-tram	Parking	Overstay	Detection	Systems	(PODS)	and	1000	tram	bay	PODS.

•	 Development	Contribution	Plan	for	Moreland	initiated.

•	 Planning	scheme	amendment	package	prepared	to	facilitate	Coburg	activity	centre	redevelopment.	

•	 Following	the	cessation	of	the	Strategic	Partnering	Agreement	(SPA)	with	Equiset,	
to maintain the momentum of the Coburg Initiative by proceeding on  
a project-by-project basis.

•	 To	progress	the	expansion	of	active	transport	networks,	such	as	the	Upfield	 
bike path.

•	 To	undertake	a	further	review	on	the	bluestone	aspect	of	the	Right	of	Way	(ROW)	
Strategy to address community concerns.

•	 To	prepare	a	local	parking	policy	for	Coburg	and	Brunswick	informed	by	the	
respective economic development strategies and place framework programs.
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•	 Brunswick	Station	has	been	secured	as	a	temporary	creative	work	space	through	a	licence	
agreement with Metro Trains. 

•	 Implementation	of	the	Moreland	Waste	&	Litter	Strategy	and	associated	contracts.	Some	of	the	
key initiatives for 2011–12 included a kerbside garbage audit and the introduction of community 
composting hubs.

•	 To	increase	total	attendance	for	the	Festivals	and	Events	Program.

•	 To	fully	implement	the	Area	Integrated	Maintenance	(AIM)	program,	including	a	
review of the street cleaning schedule and practices.
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y •	 Implementation	of	additional	Culturally	and	Linguistically	Diverse	(CALD)	Community	initiatives.	Ten	new	
storyboards have been created, including Asbestos, Food Safety, Family Violence and ePayments. 

•	 Implementation	of	an	Integrated	Library	Management	System	(ILMS).

•	 Successful	advocacy	for	a	years	7–12	secondary	school	in	Coburg.	The	Victorian	Government	recently	
announced that Coburg Senior High will expand to a full year 7–12 school in 2015.

•	 Completed	Aquatics	and	Leisure	tender	process.	YMCA	has	commenced	as	operator	of	all	six	
aquatic and leisure facilities.

•	 Completed	Stage	1	construction	of	Skate	Park	and	surrounding	areas	at	CB	Smith	Reserve.

•	 Continued	implementing	the	OxYgen	Project.	The	property	at	4–8	Gaffney	Street	has	been	selected	
as the preferred site for a permanent youth facility.

•	 The	redevelopment	of	the	Brunswick	Baths	is	well	underway	but	there	were	some	
delays due to land contamination issues. Completion of construction has been 
reset to December 2012.

•	 The	upgrade	of	the	Oak	Park	Aquatic	Centre,	which	includes	redevelopment	of	
oak Park Reserve and the pavilion located between the two ovals, is still in the 
design phase.  

•	 Preparation	of	a	master	plan	for	the	redevelopment	of	the	Coburg	City	Oval	
and grandstand has been postponed following the cessation of the Strategic 
Partnering Agreement (SPA) with equiset.
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•	 Advocacy	Plan	developed	and	adopted	by	Council,	including	assignment	of	priority	and	advocacy	
method to all items.

•	 The	backlog	of	planning	permit	applications	was	reduced	and	customer	service	improved.	This	is	
largely attributable to the newly-established Fast Track and Commercial Priority Services.

•	 The	proportion	of	planning	and	subdivision	applications	determined	within	statutory	timeframe	
improved from 40% to 62%, exceeding the target of 60%.

•	 The	proportion	of	customer	requests	completed	on	time	exceeded	the	target	of	80%.

•	 Service	unit	plans	developed	for	all	services	using	Results	Based	Accountability	model.

•	 Introduction	of	revised	Best	Value	Program	and	pilot	projects.

•	 Delivery	of	the	capital	works	program	was	not	entirely	on	time	and	on	budget	due	
to delays experienced with some major building projects.

•	 Partly	due	to	scoping	changes	and	resource	constraints,	the	completion	rate	for	
operating projects was 88%, just short of the target of at least 90%.

•	 Depreciation	of	assets	exceeded	budgeted	expenditure	on	asset	renewal	by	
$1.6m, due to some renewal projects not proceeding and a need to invest more 
in new assets in that period.

•	 The	challenge	to	Council	to	fund	the	Defined	Benefits	Call	due	1	July	2013	and	
manage impact on services.

More 
 information on 

page 40

More 
 information on 

page 43

More 
 information on 

page 45

More 
 information on 

page 48
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a snapshot of Moreland

Moreland can be characterised as a 
municipality with a steadily growing 
population, which retains a high level of 
cultural and linguistic diversity. Households 
in Moreland have changed greatly over the 
past decade, with decreasing proportions 
of family households and an increasing 
proportion of lone person households, 
resulting in smaller household sizes overall. 
Significant differences in socioeconomic 
advantage and disadvantage occur 
across the municipality.

pOpulatiOn
The estimated resident population of 
Moreland for June 2011 was 152,255 
people. The population of Moreland 
remained steady at around 136,000 
between 1996 and 2001. Since 2001, 
steady population growth has occurred 
across Moreland, with the population 
increasing by approximately 16,000 or 
12% since 2001. (Source: Australian 
Bureau of Statistics, estimated Resident 
Population Statistics & 2011 Census of 
Population and Housing). 

Births in mOrelanD
The City of Moreland has seen a dramatic 
increase in the number of babies born in 
the municipality in recent years, with an 
average of 2000 babies born in Moreland 
each year since 1995. In the 2011–12 
financial year, 2438 babies were born 
in Moreland. This represents a 6.2% 
increase since the 2008–09 financial 
year, and a 28.9% increase in births since 
2000–01. (Source: Moreland Maternal 
and Child Health database).
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Cat. No. 3235.0 – Population by Age and Sex, 
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A lifeguard at the indoor pool at Fawkner Leisure Centre.
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inDigenOus pOpulatiOn
The total number of indigenous 
residents in Moreland increased to  
703 people in 2011 from 627 in  
2006. (Source: Australian Bureau of 
Statistics, 2011 Census of Population 
and Housing). 

cultural Diversity
The City of Moreland is a highly 
culturally and linguistically diverse 
municipality. Many different cultural 
groups live in Moreland and residents 
of Moreland speak approximately 
140 different languages at home. In 
2011, more than one-third of Moreland 
residents were born overseas. of the 
total Moreland population, 60% were 
born in Australia. of those residents 
born overseas, 87% were born in 
non-english speaking countries and 
13% were born in english speaking 
countries. The main countries of birth 
of Moreland residents, apart from 
Australia, represent the traditional 
migrant groups from europe, including 
Italy, Greece and the United Kingdom, 
along with India, Lebanon, China and 
New Zealand. (Source: Australian 
Bureau of Statistics, Census of 
Population and Housing). However, 
new arrivals to Moreland show changes 
to Moreland’s cultural diversity. New 
arrivals are more likely to be born 
in India, China, Pakistan, Lebanon, 
Sri Lanka, the Philippines, and Iran. 
(Source: Department of Immigration 
and Citizenship Settlement database).

age prOfile
Moreland’s age profile is broadly similar 
to that of metropolitan Melbourne, 
with a median age of 35 years. 
However, Moreland has a larger 
proportion of older people compared 
to the Melbourne Statistical Division 
(MSD). There are smaller proportions 
of 5 to 14 year olds and 55 to 64 
year olds in Moreland relative to the 
MSD. Interestingly, the number and 
proportion of persons in the 35–54 year 
age group in Moreland has increased 
substantially over the last decade and is 
now fairly similar to the MSD. (Source: 
Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2011 
Census of Population and Housing).

life expectancy
The life expectancy of residents living 
in Moreland is similar to the Victorian 
average and is increasing. Women in 
Moreland (and Victoria) live longer than 
males by approximately five years.  
The life expectancy of females born in 
Moreland between 2004 and 2006 is 
83.8 years whereas the life expectancy 
of males is 78.3 years. (Source: 
Department of Human Services, Life 
expectancy estimates).

eDucatiOn anD OccupatiOn
Moreland has experienced improved 
retention of students from years 10–12 
in recent years, from 71% in 2005 to 
90% in 2011. (Source: Department 
of education and early Childhood 
Development, Summary Statistics 
Victorian Schools). 

People in Moreland are also becoming 
better educated. The proportion 
of residents in Moreland who have 
non-school qualifications continues 
to increase. Many more residents in 
2006 had completed a non-school 
qualification than in 1991 – 40% 
compared with 22%. (Source: 
Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2006 
Census of Population and Housing).

The occupations of residents of 
Moreland have also changed. The 
proportion of professionals, associate 
professionals and intermediate 
clerical, sales and service workers has 
increased, while a fall has occurred in 
the proportion of trades people and 
related workers, advanced clerical, 
sales and service workers, and 
labourers and related workers. For 
example, the proportion of Moreland 
residents in the workforce classified 
as ‘professionals’ increased from 19% 
in 1996 to 26% in 2006. (Source: 
Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2006 
Census of Population and Housing).

hOusing anD families in 
mOrelanD
The number of homes in Moreland 
is increasing. In 2011, Moreland had 
63,302 private dwellings (including 
unoccupied dwellings), up from 
59,231 in 2006. Moreland has 
witnessed substantial changes in 
households over the past decade. 
The proportion of families with children 
has decreased over this period.  
Moreland had a smaller proportion 

Age Profile

0–
4

5–
9

10
-1

4

15
–1

9

20
–2

4

25
–2

9

30
–3

4

35
–3

9

40
–4

4

45
–4

9

50
–5

4

55
–5

9

60
–6

4

65
–6

9

70
–7

4

75
–7

9

80
–8

4

85
+

2001 2006

9 –

8 –

7 –

6 –

5 –

4 –

3 –

2 –

1 –

% 0 –



10

M
O

RE
LA

N
D 

CI
TY

 C
O

U
N

CI
L 

AN
N

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
2

10

M
O

RE
LA

N
D 

CI
TY

 C
O

U
N

CI
L 

AN
N

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
2

of these households in 2011 at 59% 
of all household types compared to 
63% in metropolitan Melbourne. The 
proportion of households comprised 
of couples without children has 
remained fairly stable over the past 
three census periods, while increases 
have occurred in the proportions of 
lone person households. Moreland 
has a higher proportion of these 
households in comparison to the 
metropolitan average. For example, 
27% of households in Moreland were 
lone person households compared 
to 23% in metropolitan Melbourne in 
2011. (Source: Australian Bureau of 
Statistics, 2011 Census of Population 
and Housing).

hOusing stOcK
The majority of occupied private 
dwellings in Moreland are separate 
houses (65%), which is significantly 
below the metropolitan average of 
73%. However, the proportion of 
separate houses in Moreland has 
continued to fall with the growth of 
flats, units or apartments, along with 
semi-detached dwellings. Moreland 
has a significantly higher proportion of 
these dwellings (35%) compared with 
the MSD (27%). Between 2006 and 
2011, the number of private dwellings 
in Moreland increased by 4071 to a 
total of 63,302.

Residential property prices in Moreland 
over the past decade have risen at a 
relatively fast rate, especially in the years 
between 2007 and 2010. Following the 

rapid rise in house and unit prices, the 
median price for both houses and units 
fell in 2011. The median house price in 
Moreland in 2011 was $561,500 – a 
decrease of 5.3% since 2010. The 
gap between the median price of 
houses and the median price of units is 
closing, with the median price for a unit 
in Moreland in 2011 being $410,000. 
However, this has also decreased 
since 2010, a decrease of 2.4%.  
(Source: Department of Sustainability 
and environment, A Guide to Property 
Values, 2011).

cOmmunity wellBeing
Council is committed to building and 
maintaining a vibrant and liveable 
city. Results from Council’s annual 
Community Indicators Survey 2012 
indicate that, as in previous years, 
people living in Moreland believe their 
local area has a positive sense of 
community and is a good place to live.  
The results show continuing high levels 
of perceived community wellbeing.  In 
2012, 81% of respondents agreed that 
there is a positive sense of community 
in Moreland. As in previous years, a 
high 89% agreed that Moreland is a 
good place to raise a family. High levels 
of agreement were recorded for the 
ability to access a variety of recreation 
facilities and leisure activities with 88% 
agreement; while 89% of respondents 
agreed with the statement “You can get 
to know your neighbours”. Moreland 
continues to rate highly for measures 
relating to cultural diversity with 92% 

agreement with the statement “Cultural 
diversity enriches local community life” 
and 90% agreement that people from 
different ethnic backgrounds are made 
welcome in their neighbourhoods.

The only area showing a consistent 
decrease in agreement has been the 
affordability of living in the area. This 
indicator has steadily declined over 
the six years of the survey, dropping 
from 68% in 2005 to 45% in 2010. In 
2012, this figure rose slightly to 52% 
agreement but is still low.

mOrelanD Of the future
Population projections predict 
Moreland’s population will grow over 
the coming years. It is expected that 
the Moreland population will increase 
to approximately 182,000 by 2031, or 
an increase of 28% from 2006 figures.  
The most significant growth is predicted 
to occur in Brunswick and Brunswick 
east, with the populations rising by 
38.7% and 103.5% respectively. The 
biggest shift in Moreland’s age structure 
will be the rise in the proportion of 
residents aged 45-64 years. This 
proportion is predicted to rise from 
19.7% of the total population in 2006 to 
22.9% in 2031, or an additional 13,000 
residents. It is also predicted that the 
number of lone person households 
will increase. This will contribute to a 
reduction in the median household 
size from 2.5 persons per household in 
2001 to 2.3 in 2031. (Source: Moreland 
City Council population projections).

a snapshot of Moreland (cont.)
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Citizenship Ceremony at Coburg Town Hall.

It is expected that the 
Moreland population 
will increase to 
approximately 182,000 
by 2031, or an increase 
of 28% from 2006 
figures.
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your Councillors
CoUNCILLoRS AS AT 30 JUNe 2012

The Moreland City Council consists of 11 Councillors 
elected from three wards across the City of Moreland. 
Voters in the Moreland community elect Councillors  
every four years. 

Eleven Councillors were elected to Moreland City Council in 
November 2008. The City of Moreland is divided into three 
wards: North-West Ward (four Councillors), North-East Ward 
(four Councillors) and South Ward (three Councillors). The 
next Council election will be held on 27 October 2012.

In addition to representing the interests of their wards, 
six Councillors are each given specific responsibility for 
a Council department. These Councillors are known as 
Portfolio Councillors. Project responsibility for particular 
issues is also allocated to Councillors.
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Cr Lambros Tapinos
Phone: 03 9240 1193
Fax: 9240 1179
Mobile: 0433 419 075
email: ltapinos@moreland.
vic.gov.au

elected to Council: 
November 2008

Mayor of Moreland: 
December 2008 – 
December 2009

Portfolio Councillor 
economic Development

Councillor Responsible for 
City Amenity & Improvement

Member Urban Planning 
Committee

Member of the Audit 
Committee

Lambros has lived in 
Brunswick his entire life 
and has always been 
passionate about his local 
area. His vision for Moreland 
is to provide a safe, friendly 
and caring community 
that works together to 
meet our collective hopes 
and aspirations to make 
Moreland a better place 
to live and work, and a 
community that provides 
essential services to its aged 
citizens and young families.

He is interested in 
international politics, the 
environment, history, 
archaeology, football, soccer 
and having fun. He loves 
Moreland for its people, the 
community and its diversity.  

In the past he has been the 
president of the National 
Union of Students (Victorian 
Branch) and worked for 
Victorian Labor Senator 
David Feeney as an 
electorate officer. Currently, 
he works for Victoria 
University.

Cr Jo Connellan
Phone/fax: 03 9387 8254
Mobile: 0428 348 447
email: jconnellan@moreland.
vic.gov.au

elected to Council: 
November 2004

Portfolio Councillor City 
Development

Councillor Responsible 
for Sustainable Transport 
(shared with Cr Pryor)

Councillor Responsible 
for Sustainability, Climate 
Change & Water

Member Urban Planning 
Committee

Jo ran for Council a second 
time to build on the work 
of the first four years, 
and to see some of the 
bigger projects and plans 
completed or well underway. 
Jo’s vision for Moreland is to 
create a much greener city, 
with better public transport 
and public spaces, a more 
socially just place, with 
more public and affordable 
housing, and a better 
educated city, with greater 
opportunities for good 
quality public education.

Jo likes Moreland because 
it is always changing, which 
makes it interesting. Jo is a 
civil engineer and planner, 
currently working as a 
project manager with the 
Victorian Government.

Cr Alice Pryor
Mobile: 0416 219 261
email: apryor@moreland.vic.
gov.au

elected to Council: 
November 2004

Deputy Mayor December 
2010 – December 2011

Portfolio Councillor 
organisational Development

Councillor Responsible for 
Youth

Councillor Responsible 
for Sustainable Transport 
(shared with Cr Connellan)

Chairperson Urban Planning 
Committee

Member of the Audit 
Committee

Alice felt that she had more 
to give to the Moreland 
community and that there 
were things she still wanted 
to achieve on Council so 
decided to run for a second 
term. Her work on the 
redevelopment of Brunswick 
Baths, Brunswick Structure 
Plan and a youth facility 
for Moreland has come to 
fruition with current works 
being undertaken in all areas.

Alice loves gardening, her 
cats and spending time with 
her family. Her absolute 
favourite thing about 
Moreland is how anything 
you want to do, buy or 
find, you can do or find it in 
Moreland – be it from any 
part of the world.

In the past, she has worked 
at a local deli in Brunswick. 
Currently, she is the 
online Communications 
Co-ordinator at Diabetes 
Australia (Victoria).

sOuth warD
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Cr Anthony Helou JP
Phone: 03 9384 3147
Fax: 9384 1328
Mobile: 0419 515 593
email: ahelou@moreland.vic.
gov.au

elected to Council:  
March 1996

Mayor of Moreland: April 
1998 – March 1999, 
April 2004 – November 
2004, December 2005 – 
December 2006.

Councillor Responsible 
for Social Diversity and 
Reconciliation

Member Urban Planning 
Committee

Member Audit Committee  
(until March 2012)

Anthony has a strong 
background in community 
service, spanning the 41 
years in which he has lived 
and worked within the City 
of Moreland. He has an 
excellent understanding of 
the wide range of issues 
and has extensive networks 
in the community. His love 
for the city and its people 
encouraged him to run for 
Council again. This allowed 
him to put his skills into 
practice and to be part of 
a team working towards 
making the city a good place 
in which to work, live and 
raise a family.

Anthony wants the people 
of Australia and the world to 
look at Moreland and see it 
as a highly educated, skilled, 
tolerant and confident city 
with people making their own 
way in a modern Moreland. 
Anthony has extensive work 
experience and a number 
of educational qualifications 
behind him. Since 1996, he 
has dedicated his time to 
being a Councillor.

Cr Toby Archer
elected to Council: 
November 2008

Resigned from Council:  
December 2011

Cr Lenka Thompson
Phone/Fax: 03 9240 1193
Mobile: 0466 004 652
email: lthompson@
moreland.vic.gov.au

elected to Council:  
January 2012

Lenka stood for Council to 
represent the residents of a 
progressive Moreland and 
help maintain the grassroots’ 
connection between Council 
and community. Her main 
priorities are climate change, 
open space, health and 
wellbeing of Moreland 
residents, planning/built 
environment and affordable 
housing. She would like  
to see Council achieve 
becoming carbon neutral. 

Lenka enjoys Darbuka 
drumming, gardening, 
hydrogeology, cooking and 
dancing. 

She is currently working 
as a hydrogeologist in a 
project manager role at an 
environmental/contaminated 
land and groundwater 
consultancy company. 

Cr Stella Kariofyllidis
Phone/Fax: 03 9384 6243
Mobile: 0466 004 650
email: skariofyllidis@
moreland.vic.gov.au

First elected to Council: 
March 1996

Stella was first elected to 
Council in March 1996 
and was the first Greek-
born female Mayor ever 
in Australia and the first 
and only female Mayor in 
Moreland from March 2000 
to March 2001.

Re-elected to Council: 
November 2008

Mayor of Moreland 
December 2009 – 
December 2010

Portfolio Councillor Social 
Development

Councillor Responsible for 
Status of Women

Member Urban Planning 
Committee

Stella joined Council to 
participate in the decision-
making for the area in 
which she lives. She wants 
Moreland to be seen as a 
clean, green, affordable city 
whose residents are happy 
and proud to live in the 
municipality.

Stella enjoys going out with 
friends, walking, reading, 
movies and dancing. Stella 
has worked as a Greek 
teacher of young children 
and as a bank officer.

Cr Michael Teti
Phone/Fax: 03 9387 5217
Mobile: 0435 105 368
email: mteti@moreland.vic.
gov.au

elected to Council: 
November 2008

Deputy Mayor December 
2011– present

Councillor Responsible for 
Aged Services

Councillor Responsible for 
Recreation & Leisure (shared 
with Cr Yildiz)

Member Urban Planning 
Committee 

Michael joined Council to 
bring about a change in 
the direction at Council. He 
believes Council must first 
do the basics well, in order 
to then make progress 
in other areas. He would 
like to be part of a back to 
basics campaign throughout 
the entire community. 
He wants Council to be 
defined by fairness and 
decency through delivering 
high quality services and 
community facilities whilst 
eliminating wasteful Council 
spending.

Michael enjoys fishing in 
Port Phillip Bay, camping 
in various locations around 
Victoria, dirt bike riding and 
go-karts. He loves Moreland 
for its multiculturalism, with 
each suburb having its own 
valuable culture.

nOrth-east warD
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Cr John Kavanagh
(Mayor December 2011 – 
present)

Phone/fax: 03 9240 1179
Mobile: 0427 550 935
email: jkavanagh@moreland.
vic.gov.au

elected to Council: 
November 2004

Chairperson Audit 
Committee

John joined Council to make 
a difference by contributing 
to the local community. He 
also wants Council to get 
‘back to basics’ and not be 
distracted by tackling issues 
beyond its control. His vision 
for Moreland is that it is a 
vibrant, peaceful, welcoming 
city that people view as 
being a great place in which 
to live and raise a family.

John enjoys family activities, 
current affairs, reading 
biographies, horse racing 
and following Carlton 
Football Club.

He loves Moreland’s 
complete diversity, not only 
its cultural diversity but the 
diversity of housing styles, of 
streetscapes, of shopping 
strips and of sporting 
facilities as well as of age 
and religious affiliation. 

John has been a primary 
school teacher for 27 years 
and previously worked part-
time in petrol stations.

Cr Kathleen  
Matthews-Ward
Phone/fax: 03 9300 3567
Mobile: 0428 573 785
email: kmatthewsward@
moreland.vic.gov.au

elected to Council: 
November 2004

Deputy Mayor: December 
2007 – December 2010.

Portfolio Councillor City 
Infrastructure

Councillor Responsible for 
Accessible and Affordable 
Housing

Kathleen joined Council to 
‘get in there, have a go, and 
try to make things better’. 
She sees Moreland as a 
welcoming and friendly place 
where all people, no matter 
their age, background or 
level of ability, are valued 
and are able to achieve a 
quality life as an active and 
connected member of the 
local community.

Kathleen enjoys catching 
up with friends and family, 
walking, gardening and 
reading. She loves Moreland 
for its diversity, its generosity 
of heart, its welcoming and 
caring nature, its down 
to earth attitude and its 
willingness to fight for the 
underdog.

Kathleen has worked 
in retail, credit unions, 
customer service, office 
administration and 
advocacy, and is now 
enjoying parenthood.

Cr Oscar Yildiz JP
Mayor December 2010 –  
December 2011
Fax: 03 8300 8668
Mobile: 0413 850 357
email: oyildiz@moreland.vic.
gov.au 

elected to Council: 
November 2008

Portfolio Councillor 
Corporate Services

Councillor Responsible for 
Recreation/Leisure (shared 
with Cr Teti)

oscar joined Council to be 
the voice of the community. 
He wants Moreland to be 
recognised as being a leader 
in introducing cost savings 
to its residents by offering 
new initiatives and giving 
back to the community.

oscar enjoys sport, 
spending time with his 
family, writing, socialising, 
swimming, body boarding, 
fishing, outdoor activities and 
teaching.

He loves Moreland for its 
shopping strips, bicycle 
paths, children’s play areas, 
parks, sporting facilities and 
the various restaurants.

He has worked in five 
different industries: retail, 
hospitality, education, 
transport and marketing. 
oscar is a qualified teacher 
and has completed various 
diplomas in management.

Cr Enver Erdogan
Fax: 03 9240 1179
Mobile: 0412 266 245
email: eerdogan@moreland.
vic.gov.au

elected to Council: 
November 2008

Member Urban Planning 
Committee

Councillor Responsible for 
east Timor

enver’s main motivation for 
running for Council was that 
he feels local government 
is a good way for him to 
take an active role in his 
local community and make 
a positive contribution. He 
wants Moreland to be a 
happier and healthier city 
that remains unique.

enver enjoys study, sport 
and community activism. 
He has been active in 
advocating for better 
transport routes in Moreland.

He loves Moreland for 
its food, the sense of 
community belonging and  
its diversity.

 

nOrth-west warD
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Ceo’s report

Heading into our final year of 
the current Council term, the 
organisation has remained 
committed to improving service 
delivery to the community, and 
delivery on the Council Plan.

Council’s underlying operating surplus 
for 2011–12 was $734,000. Total 
budget expenditure for the year was 
$150.8 million. Moreland’s long-term 
financial sustainability continues to 
be rated as low risk by the Victoria’s 
Auditor General’s most recent 
assessment of the state’s  
local councils.

In 2011–12, Council ensured that 
budget outcomes were in line with 
the Five Year Financial Plan. The 
Plan, adopted in June 2011 following 
community consultation, is Council’s 
medium-term blueprint for delivering 
services and maintaining assets in our 
growing municipality.  

As always, the quality of service delivery 
is primarily determined by the quality 
of people within an organisation, and 
the ability of those people to foster 
and drive change. Council, this year, 
implemented the outcomes of a recent 
organisational review, which resulted 
in the number of directorates reducing 
from six to five and has sharpened 
Council’s focus on service delivery. 

This year, we again received 
confirmation of the high quality of 
leadership in Council. Director City 

Infrastructure Nerina Di Lorenzo was 
awarded the first prize for executive 
Leadership in the Local Government 
Sector at the SACS Leadership Awards 
in August.

Council’s efforts to connect with all 
of its community received a ringing 
endorsement when our CALDCoM 
storyboards took out the top award 
at the 2012 National Awards for 
excellence in Local Government.  
To beat the other 370-plus entries is 
testament to Council’s groundbreaking 
work in communicating with its  
diverse community.

Council’s Urban Planning and 
Development team had a breakthrough 
year. It slashed the average time it 
takes to assess planning applications 
by 40 per cent following a review and 
overhaul of work systems. The key 
drivers were the creation of a ‘Fast 
Track’ planning approval process for 
residents wanting to do minor works, 
and a ‘Commercial Priority’ process for 
new businesses or the expansion of 
existing businesses leading to local job 
creation. By streamlining its processes, 
the department has freed up officers to 
tackle more complex applications and 
focus on long-term planning matters.

In addition to the improvements in 
urban planning, Council made a 
range of other enhancements to its 
customer service procedures, including 
simplifying the process for getting a 
replacement bin and reporting missed 
bin collections. Further improvements 
are programmed for 2012–13.

During the year, Council terminated 
the Strategic Partnering Agreement 
with equiset for The Coburg Initiative. 
Despite this setback, The Coburg 
Initiative remains a Council priority and 
Council continues to explore options as 
part of the two-decade long strategy, 
including the development of a major 
health facility.

The results of the Victorian 
Government’s latest Community 
Satisfaction with Local Government 
Survey provides evidence that 
our efforts are recognised by our 

community. eighty-seven per cent of 
Moreland residents surveyed rated 
us as either ‘very good’, ‘good’ or 
‘average’ – with Council improving in 
every category of the survey. 

Much of the credit for this goes to our 
staff who do such a great job, often in 
trying conditions, and we are continually 
striving to improve our process and our 
overall service delivery.

I thank the Mayor and Councillors for 
their guidance throughout the year, and 
the Moreland executive Group for their 
strong support.

Peter Brown 
Chief Executive Officer
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Launch of the National Broadband 
Network in Brunswick.
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Financial snapshot

This financial snapshot is based on 
the report at page 63.

strategic resOurce plan 
Council continues to be guided by the 
principles of the 2009–13 Strategic 
resource plan. This plan was not 
intended to be static and has been 
reviewed annually as part of the Council 
planning process and updated to reflect 
changing circumstances. In addition, 
in February, Council adopted a new 
Five Year Financial Plan for the period 
2011–16.

The aim of the plan is to ensure that 
Council is able to repair and maintain 
its infrastructure assets at the level 
expected by the community while at 
the same time continuing to deliver the 
services needed by the community. 

on pages 64–131 you will find the 
formally presented financial statements 
of Council prepared in accordance 
with relevant accounting standards 
and legislative requirements. These 
reports are comprehensive and, as 
such, stakeholders and members of the 
community may find them difficult to 
interpret. This overview aims to simplify 
the pertinent information regarding 
Council’s financial performance for 
2011–12. 

incOme – where DiD the 
mOney cOme frOm? 
Total income for the year was $149.4 
million. There was an overall revenue 
increase of  $12.22 million (or 8.9%) 
compared to that of 2010–11, primarily 
due to increased rates and charges, 
and donated assets. The majority of 
this revenue comes from rates income 
of $100.70 million. 

other major sources of revenue were 
government grants of $20.46 million 
(13.7%) and user charges and fines of 
$17.246 million (11.5%). 

expenses – hOw was the 
mOney spent? 
Total expenses for the year were 
$150.8 million. overall expenses 
increased in 2011–12 by approximately 
$18.56 million, which is primarily due 
to the inclusion of Vision Super Defined 
Benefit Call which is payable on 1 July 
2013 ($13.2 million). The majority of 
total expenses consists of employee 
costs of $80,597 million and contract 
payments, materials and services of 
$47.335 million. 

Council is reporting an accounting 
deficit of $1.431 million for financial 
year 2011–12. It is, however, important 
to note that this accounting result 
includes items that are either one-off 
or committed for capital expenditure. 
After excluding non-cash developer 
contributions, capital grants and 
contributions, and the superannuation 
defined benefit call, Council achieved a 
modest underlying surplus of $734,000. 
This is a modest result in the context of 
a total budget turnover of approximately 
$149 million and the surplus is 
necessary to meet debt redemption 
payment obligations.

capital spenDing By cOuncil 
prOgram 
Total capital spending for the year was 
$29.312 million. Council continues to 
work at addressing its capital works 
program across a wide range of 
projects with the total capital spend 
being $9.085 million above the 
depreciation for the year. However, 
renewal works were $1.587 million 
below depreciation.
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Roads and footpaths
5.1%

Recreation and leisure
3.0%

Customer service 
2.3%

Capital works
21.7%

Waste collection and recycling
7.0%

Children’s services 
2.0%

Health and immunisation
3.7% Local laws regulations 

3.9%

Governance 
0.8%

Aged and disability services
8.8%

Administration 
15.0%

LIBRARY

Property services
4.8%

Transport and conservation
2.0%

OPEN 7 DAYSFRESHFRESHcafé café
Polling
Booth

ROADWORKAHEAD

Arts and libraries
4.2%

Parks and street trees 
5.7%

Asset maintenance 
2.8%

Planning and urban strategy
4.6%

Street cleansing 
2.4%

expenDiture prOfile 2011–12
A breakdown of total 
expenditure percentage 
by expense category is 
shown in the diagram.



20

M
O

RE
LA

N
D 

CI
TY

 C
O

U
N

CI
L 

AN
N

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
2

a year in Moreland –  
Financial year 2011–12

septemBer Quarter (2011)
•	 Writing	workshops	conducted	

across Moreland libraries in  
early July.

•	 NAIDOC Week ceremony held at 
Coburg Town Hall on 4 July

•	 Community Reassurance Day 
jointly hosted with Victoria 
Policy and Hume City Council in 
northern suburbs on 6 July

•	 Creative Kids Workshop held at 
Sussex Street Neighbourhood 
House on 11 July

•	 New	Moreland	library	system	
went live on 12 July

•	 Maggie	Beer	(Senior	Australian	of	
the Year in 2010) visits Moreland 
Food Services

•	 Revised	Coburg	Hill	Development	
Plan approved by Minister for 
Planning on 21 July

•	 Improvement	works	at	Snell	
Grove shopping centre 
commence on 25 July

•	 Rod Quantock for East Timor 
event held at Coburg Town Hall 
on 3 August

•	 National	Broadband	Network	
media launch for Brunswick area 
on 4 August

•	 Moreland	Arts	&	Culture	Strategy	
2011–15 launched on 9 August

•	 Dumped Rubbish Forum hosted 
by Moreland on 10 August

•	 DecAdance inclusive disco held 
on 20 August

•	 Battle of the Bands music 
competition at Brunswick Town 
Hall on 26 August

•	 Census	of	unregistered	animals	
commences on 1 September

•	 Coburg Lake Classic cross-
country run held on 2 September

•	 Mobility	Maps	published	on	
Council’s website

DecemBer Quarter (2011)
•	 MoreArt public art show 

launched on 2 october
•	 YMCA	Victoria	commences	

management of Moreland’s six 
aquatic and leisure facilities on 
10 october

•	 Official	launch	of	Fawkner Skate 
Park facility on 20 october

•	 Kid’s Day Out event on 23 
october at Bridges Reserve, 
Coburg

•	 Moreland L2P Program evening 
on 27 october to celebrate 
program volunteers

•	 Launch	of	new	CALDCOM 
Handbook on 2 November

•	 Official	opening	of	the	
Gowanbrae Community 
and Children’s Centre on 2 
November

•	 Fawkner Festa held 2–6 
November

•	 Ageing Well at Home with 
Broadband project launched on 
3 November

•	 Mayor’s Police Leadership 
Awards and Citizenship 
Ceremony held on 15 November

•	 MoreConnect social connection 
program for problem gamblers 
commenced in mid-November

•	 Annual	Northern Region White 
Ribbon Lunch hosted by 
Moreland on 25 November

•	 Brunswick Beach community 
art project  28 November – 4 
December at Mechanics Institute

•	 Cr	John	Kavanagh	elected	as	
the new Mayor of Moreland City 
Council on 5 December

•	 Fighting for Equality exhibition 
launched on 1 December at 
Coburg Library

•	 Glenroy	Tennis	Club	Court	and	
Lighting redevelopment project 
completed

•	 FlippaBall junior water polo event 
held at oak Park Aquatic Centre 
throughout  December

•	 Coburg Night Market held on 
Fridays from 18 November to 23 
December at Bridges Reserve, 
Coburg

•	 Annual	Carols by the Lake 
program on 3 December

•	 Annual	Christmas	Concerts	for	
older residents held on 7 and 8 
December at Coburg Town Hall

•	 Official	opening	of	Snell	Grove	
shopping strip renewal project 
on Saturday 10 December
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march Quarter (2012)
•	 Newly	elected	Councillor	Lenka	

Thompson sworn in on 16 
January

•	 Moreland Young Citizen of the 
Year Awards held on 26 January

•	 Brunswick 2012 Beethoven 
Festival held at Brunswick Town 
Hall from 2 to 12 February

•	 Movies in the Park program 
in February at Glenroy and 
Fawkner

•	 Wireless Internet (free outdoor 
internet service) launch at 
Harmony Park, Coburg on 24 
February

•	 Greening Moreland Forum held 
on 25 February

•	 Music for the People concert 
held at Shore Reserve, Pascoe 
Vale South on 25 February

•	 Annual Mayor’s Charity Cup 
round-robin soccer competition 
held on 25 February and 4 
March

•	 Watch This Space ephemeral 
public art program launched on 
1 March

•	 Sydney Road Street Party held 
on 3 March

•	 Brunswick Music Festival held 
from 13 to 24 March

•	 Cultural Diversity Week 
celebrations held on 21 March  
at Coburg Civic Centre

•	 Newroz Festival held at Coburg 
Lake Reserve on 25 March

•	 Sewell	Reserve	Stormwater 
Harvesting Project launch on  
25 March

•	 Initiatives	and	Innovations	in	
Women’s Business Networks 
Expert Forum held on 28 March 
at Coburg Civic Centre

•	 3046 Festival on the Streets held 
during March/April

•	 Electric	vehicle	charging	station	
launch on 22 March at CeReS

•	 2012 Why B Active Festival 
held at Fawkner’s C. B. Smith 
Reserve on 29 March

 

June Quarter (2012)
•	 Chaldean Festival held at 

Coburg Lake Reserve on 1 April
•	 emPOWER to EMPLOYment 

(disability access) workshops 
held at Coburg Civic Centre on 
12 and 13 April

•	 Moreland	business	website	
(bizmoreland) went live in April

•	 Breaking Down Barriers event 
held at Harmony Park on  
15 April

•	 Moreland National Youth Week 
event held at Coburg Library and 
Victoria Mall on 20 April

•	 Inaugural	Moreland	Relay for Life 
community event on 21 and 22 
April

•	 Responsible Gambling 
Awareness Week event (“My 
Passionate Affair with the Poker 
Machine!”) held at Coburg Civic 
Centre on 15 May

•	 New	Parking	Overstay	Detection	
Systems (PoDS) went live in 
May

•	 Community Planting Day held on 
19 May to celebrate reopening 
of Bass Street Reserve and 
Moonee Ponds Creek Reserve 
following five years of public 
works by Melbourne Water

•	 Moreland	hosted	the	inaugural	
Digital Economy Workshop for 
Melbourne’s North on 30 May

•	 World Environment Day events 
held in Moreland on 3 and 5 
June

•	 Coburg Carnivale 12–16 June
•	 Zero Waste for a Week 

Challenge held in June
•	 Fawkner	Leisure	Centre	

Precinct Cogeneration system 
construction begins in June

•	 Moreland	presented	with	the	
National Award for excellence 
in Local Government for its 
CALDCoM Storyboards on  
19 June

•	 Moreland	Midwinter	Affordable	
Housing Pecha Kucha on  
20 June

•	 Our Generation film screening at 
Coburg Library on 30 June

Skate park at Harmony Park, Coburg.
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Glenroy Festival.
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Moreland City Council delivers 
good governance to achieve a 
more socially and environmentally-
just and sustainable city. Council 
is strongly committed to fostering 
open, responsive and consultative 
governance.

Local government is the third 
sphere of government. The local 
government of Moreland derives its 
power, role, purpose and functions 
from the Local Government Act 
1989. Moreland City Council is 
committed to providing good 
governance to the Moreland 
community. 

Council believes local government 
is a legitimate form of government 
in its own right and is committed 
to nurturing a democratic and 
participatory culture at the first 
level of government. This includes 
consultative decision-making 
and meaningful opportunities 
for individual and community 
involvement in the issues that affect 
the lives of people who live, work 
and recreate in Moreland. 

A strong sense of democracy 
in Moreland also demands that 
Council acts on its responsibility to 
represent the needs and aspirations 
of its citizens to other decision-
makers and levels of government. 

cOuncil meetings 
Council meetings, at which 
decisions on issues affecting 
citizens are made, are held once a 
month. Council meetings provide 
citizens with an opportunity 
to witness the discussion and 
decisions of Council, to ask 
questions of Councillors and to 
raise issues for Council to consider 
in its decision-making process. 
outside of the formal agenda, 
citizens are given 30 minutes in 
which matters can be raised with 
Council. Council met 17 times over 
the reporting period 2011–12. Six 
of those meetings were Special 
Council meetings. 

Governance update

prOJect anD pOrtfOliO 
cOuncillOrs
The roles of Mayor, Portfolio Councillors 
and Councillors “Responsible for” were 
established to assist Council’s effective 
governance. In acting on behalf of 
Council, all Councillor office holders 
strive to represent the views of Council. 
Actual authority is only exercised 
by Council itself or its authorised 
delegates. Councillor office holders are 
expected to assist Council in providing 
direction for the administration.

2011–2012 cOuncillOr attenDance at cOuncil meetings

1 July 2011 to  
30 June 2012

No. of Meetings 
Attended 

(17 meetings held)

No. of Alternative 
Council Commitments 

Attended

Cr Lambros Tapinos 16 0

Cr Jo Connellan 17 0

Cr Alice Pryor 17 0

Cr Anthony Helou 15 1

Cr Toby Archer 6 (Resigned December 
2011)

Cr Stella Kariofyllidis 16 1
Cr Michael Teti 7 0
Cr John Kavanagh 17 0
Cr Kathleen Matthews-Ward 17 0
Cr oscar Yildiz 17 0
Cr enver erdogan 14 0
Cr Lenka Thompson 13 (elected January 2012)

mayOr
The Mayor’s role should be seen as 
being at the apex of Council structures 
in relation to policy-making and the 
setting of Council priorities. The 
political aspirations of the community 
are embedded in the role of the 
Mayor. The Mayor embodies the 
community’s democratic leadership. 
The Mayor represents a primary form 
of accountability and responsible 
governance.

Citizenship Ceremony at Coburg Town Hall.
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pOrtfOliO cOuncillOrs
Portfolio Councillors provide leadership on behalf of Council in the area of the 
portfolio responsibility. Relationships between Portfolio Councillors and Council’s 
departmental directors facilitate the capacity of the Portfolio Councillor to be 
informed about key departmental issues and the director to be aware of Council’s 
position on relevant issues. Portfolio Councillors keep the relevant director informed 
and are available to the director for consultation. Directors ensure that Portfolio 
Councillors are kept informed of all relevant issues. 

1 July 2011 tO 5 DecemBer 2011

Council Department Portfolio Councillor

City Development Cr Jo Connellan
City Infrastructure Cr John Kavanagh
Corporate Services Cr Anthony Helou
Social Development Cr Stella Kariofyllidis
economic Development Cr Lambros Tapinos
organisational Development Cr Kathleen Matthews-Ward

6 DecemBer 2011 tO 30 June 2012

Council Department Portfolio Councillor

City Development Cr Jo Connellan
City Infrastructure Cr Kathleen Matthews-Ward
Corporate Services Cr oscar Yildiz
Social Development Cr Stella Kariofyllidis 
economic Development Cr Lambros Tapinos
organisational Development Cr Alice Pryor

cOuncillOrs respOnsiBle fOr
The Councillor Responsible for assists coordination between Council and 
community activity on key issues that require a specific focus from Councillors, 
which may involve more than one portfolio area and which require a greater Council 
focus than usual for strategic or community relations reasons. 

1 July 2011 – 5 DecemBer 2011 

Key Issue: Councillor/s Responsible for: 

Accessible and Affordable Housing Cr Kathleen Matthews-Ward
Aged Services Cr Michael Teti
east Timor Cr Alice Pryor
Children Cr Toby Archer
Sustainability, Climate Change & Water Cr Jo Connellan
City & Amenity Improvement Cr Lambros Tapinos
Recreation / Leisure Cr John Kavanagh/Cr Michael Teti
Social Diversity & Reconciliation Cr Anthony Helou
Sustainable Transport Cr Connellan
Status of Women Cr Stella Kariofyllidis
Youth Cr Alice Pryor

Governance update (cont.)
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6 DecemBer 2011– 30 June 2012

Key Issue: Councillor/s Responsible for:

Accessible and Affordable Housing Cr Kathleen Matthews-Ward
Aged Services Cr Michael Teti
east Timor Cr enver erdogan
Children Cr John Kavanagh
Sustainability, Climate Change & Water Cr Connellan
City & Amenity Improvement Cr Lambros Tapinos
Recreation/Leisure Cr oscar Yildiz/Cr Michael Teti
Social Diversity & Reconciliation Cr Anthony Helou
Sustainable Transport Cr Jo Connellan/Cr Alice Pryor
Status of Women Cr Stella Kariofyllidis
Youth Cr Alice Pryor

maJOr cOmmittees
Council has two major committees: the Urban Planning Committee and the Audit 
Committee.

urBan planning cOmmittee
The Urban Planning Committee (UPC) deals with planning and building applications 
as well as traffic management issues. All affected parties are provided with an 
opportunity to speak on applications and issues. This committee has a pivotal role 
in developing the quality of life in Moreland. In the reporting year, the committee met 
12 times and considered 66 reports.

2011–2012 cOuncillOr attenDance at upc meetings

1 JULY 2011 –  
6 DECEMBER 2011

No. of Meetings 
Attended (6 meetings 

held)

No. of Alternative 
Council Commitments 

Attended

Cr Jo Connellan 5 0
Cr Alice Pryor 6 0
Cr Anthony Helou 6 0
Cr Toby Archer 5 0
Cr Michael Teti 2 0
Cr John Kavanagh 6 0
Cr enver erdogan 4 0
Cr Lambros Tapinos 6 0

7 DECEMBER 2011 –  
30 JUNE 2012

No. of Meetings 
Attended 

(6 Meetings Held)

No. of Alternative 
Council Commitments 

Attended

Cr Jo Connellan 6 0
Cr Alice Pryor 5 1
Cr Anthony Helou 6 0
Cr Michael Teti 2 0
Cr Stella Kariofyllidis 6 0
Cr enver erdogan 5 1
Cr Lambros Tapinos 6 0

auDit cOmmittee
Consistent with the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 1989 and 
sound corporate governance generally, 
Council has an Audit Committee. 
For public accountability purposes, 
Council has formed the committee 
under section 86 of the Act (section 
86 of the Act). This means that formal 
meeting agendas are prepared, 
minutes are kept and the meetings 
are open for members of the public 
to attend. Audit Committee agenda 
papers and minutes are available 
for public inspection. The current 
charter and terms of reference of 
the Audit Committee were reviewed 
by the committee and an updated 
charter was adopted by Council 
in November 2009. The Moreland 
Council Audit Committee Charter is 
generally consistent with the January 
2011 best practice guidelines for audit 
committees titled Audit Committees 
– A Guide to Good Practice in Local 
Government. 

The overall purpose of the Audit 
Committee is to provide a forum for 
communication between Council, 
management, and the internal and 
external auditors, and to assist Council 
in its oversight responsibilities by 
monitoring, reviewing and advising on:
•	 The	external	auditors’	performance
•	 The	independence	and	

performance of the internal audit 
function 

•	 The	truth	and	fairness	of	the	view	
given by the annual financial, 
standard and performance 
statements of Council 

•	 Council’s	accounting	policies	
and practices in accordance with 
current and emerging accounting 
standards 

•	 Compliance	with	legal	and	
regulatory requirements and 
policies 

•	 Compliance	with	Council’s	policy	
framework 

•	 Internal	controls,	the	control	
environment and the overall 
efficiency and effectiveness of 
financial operations 

•	 Council’s	overall	risk	management	
policy and programs
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The committee is presently chaired by Cr Kavanagh, with two other Councillor 
members, Cr Pryor and Cr Tapinos, Chief executive officer Peter Brown, and 
three representatives that are external to Council’s operations and governing body. 
Council is fortunate to have the continuing services of Michael Francis (Managing 
Director of local Moreland company Pneuvay engineering Pty Ltd) and Kevin 
Quigley (local resident, chartered accountant and business consultant). Local 
chartered accountant John Hoffmann joined the committee in June 2012. The 
committee met on four occasions during 2011–12.

auDit cOmmittee meetings 1 July 2011 – 30 June 2012

1 JULY 2011 –  
31 DECEMBER 2011

No. of 
Meetings Held 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

No. of 
Alternative 

Council 
Commitments 

Attended

Cr John Kavanagh (Chair) 2 2 n/a
Cr Alice Pryor 2 2 n/a
Cr Anthony Helou 2 2 n/a
Michael Francis 2 2 n/a
Kevin Quigley 2 2 n/a

1 JANUARY 2012 – 
30 JUNE 2012

No. of 
Meetings Held 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

No. of 
Alternative 

Council 
Commitments 

Attended

Cr John Kavanagh (Chair) 2 2 n/a
Cr Alice Pryor 2 1 0
Cr Lambros Tapinos 2 1 1
Michael Francis 2 2 n/a
Kevin Quigley 2 2 n/a
John Hoffmann 1 1 n/a

state anD feDeral gOvernment investigatiOns
Moreland Council was not the subject of any state or federal government 
investigations.

DOcuments cOntaining prescriBeD matters Open fOr 
puBlic inspectiOn
Council is committed to open and transparent governance and in accordance with 
the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) and Section 11 of the Local Government 
(General) Regulations 2004, the following documents are available for public 
inspection at Moreland Civic Centre, 90 Bell Street, Coburg. 
•	 Details	of	current	allowances	fixed	for	the	Mayor	and	Councillors.	
•	 Details	of	senior	officers’	total	salary	packages	for	the	current	financial	year	and	

the previous year including the gross salary, the amount of Council or employee 
contribution to superannuation, the value of any motor vehicle provided by 
Council and the total value of any other benefits and allowances provided by 
Council. 

•	 Details	of	overseas	or	interstate	
travel (with the exception of 
interstate travel by land for less 
than three days) undertaken in an 
official capacity by Councillors or 
any member of Council staff in 
the previous 12 months, including 
the names of the Councillors or 
members of Council staff and the 
date, destination, purpose and  
total cost of the overseas or 
interstate travel. 

•	 Names	of	Council	officers	who	
were required to submit a return 
of interest during the financial year 
and the dates the returns were 
submitted. 

•	 Names	of	Councillors	who	
submitted returns of interest during 
the financial year and the dates the 
returns were submitted. 

•	 Agendas	and	minutes	of	special	
and ordinary Council meetings. 

•	 A	list	of	all	special	committees	
established (or abolished during the 
financial year) by Council and the 
purpose for which each committee 
was established. 

•	 Minutes	of	meetings	of	special	
committees established under 
section 86 of the Act and held in 
the previous 12 months. 

•	 Register	of	delegations	kept	under	
sections 87, 88 and 98 of the Act. 

•	 Submissions	received	in	
accordance with section 223 of the 
Act during the previous 12 months. 

•	 Details	of	all	property,	finance	
and operating leases involving 
land, buildings, plant, computer 
equipment or vehicles entered into 
by Council as lessor or lessee, 
including the name of the other 
party to the lease and the terms 
and the value of the lease. 

•	 Register	of	authorised	officers	
appointed under section 224 of  
the Act. 

•	 A	list	of	donations	and	grants	
made by Council during the 
financial year, including the  
names of persons or bodies that 
have received a donation or grant 
and the amount of each donation 
or grant. 

Governance update (cont.)
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•	 A	list	of	the	names	of	the	
organisations of which Council was 
a member during the financial year 
and details of all membership fees 
and other amounts and services 
provided during that year to each 
organisation by Council. 

•	 A	list	of	contracts	valued	at	
$150,000 or more, which Council 
entered into during the financial 
year without first engaging in a 
competitive process. 

•	 Applications	for	enrolment	on	the	
voters’ roll, and the voters’ roll.

Inspection of these documents can be 
arranged by contacting the Governance 
Department on 9240 2454. 

cODe Of cOnDuct 
Moreland City Council has developed a 
Code of Conduct for Councillors. It was 
endorsed by Council in July 2009. 

freeDOm Of infOrmatiOn 
The Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 
1982 gives the community a legal right 
to access certain Council documents. 

Moreland City Council is subject to 
the FoI Act and responds to requests 
directly related to its operations.

There were 62 FoI requests processed 
in 2011–12. There were six requests 
granted in full, 22 in part and 13 
requests denied in full. The others were 
either withdrawn or not proceeded 
with. There was two internal reviews 
requested. of the 62 requests received, 
17 were planning or building related, 
two health/personal information related 
and the other requests were asking 
for information about other areas of 
Council. of the requests that were 
partly denied, the most common 
exemption clause used was section 
33(1) which relates to the unreasonable 
disclosure of information relating to the 
personal affairs of any person.

The FoI Act has four basic principles:
1. The public has a legal right of 

access to information.
2.  Local governments are required to 

publish information concerning the 
documents they hold.

3.  People may request that inaccurate, 
incomplete, out-of-date or 
misleading information in their 
personal records be amended.

4.  People may appeal against a 
decision not to give access to the 
information or not to amend a 
personal record.

accessing fOi
FoI requests must be in writing and 
accompanied by an application fee 
of $24.40 (effective 1 July 2011). 
Applicants should indicate the form  
in which access is required.

on receipt of a request, a decision 
must be made within 45 days. Where 
a decision is made to refuse or defer 
access, the applicant will be notified 
in writing of the reasons for the refusal 
and the procedures available to appeal 
the decision.

For all enquiries to access information 
available to the public, or FoI, contact 
Council’s Manager Governance on 
9240 2454.

lOcal laws
Council has the following local laws:
•	 Environmental	and	Civic	Assets	

Local Law 2006
•	 Moreland	City	Council	General	

Local Law 2007
•	 Meeting	Procedure	Local	Law	2010

natiOnal cOmpetitiOn 
pOlicy (ncp)
Moreland City Council has complied 
with the requirements of the Local 
Government Improvement Incentive 
Program in respect of the NCP, in 
accordance with National Competition 
Policy and Local Government – A 
revised Statement of the Victorian 
Government Policy (December 2008), 
for the financial year 2011–2012 for  
the following:
•		 Trade	Practices	compliance	–	

Moreland City Council is fully 
compliant

•		 Local	Laws	compliance	–	Moreland	
City Council is fully compliant

•		 Competitive	Neutrality	compliance	
– Moreland City Council is fully 
compliant.

An NCP statement was prepared 
and presents fairly the Council’s 
implementation of the NCP.

whistleBlOwer legislatiOn
The Whistleblowers Protection Act 
2001 (the Act) commenced operation 
on 1 January 2002. The purpose 
of the Act is to encourage and 
facilitate the making of disclosures of 
improper conduct by Council officers 
or Councillors. The Act provides 
protection to whistleblowers that make 
disclosures in accordance with the 
Act, and establishes a system for the 
matters disclosed to be investigated 
and rectifying action to be taken.

As required by section 68 of the Act, 
Moreland City Council has developed 
disclosure procedures to facilitate 
the making of disclosures under the 
Act. The procedures can be found on 
Council’s website. During the period 
to 30 June 2012, there were no 
complaints referred to Council by the 
ombudsman.

All correspondence, phone calls 
or emails from internal or external 
whistleblowers should be addressed 
to Moreland City Council’s Protected 
Disclosure Coordinator (phone 9240 
2294 or email ithomas@moreland.vic.
gov.au).

infOrmatiOn privacy pOlicy
Moreland City Council believes that 
the responsible handling of personal 
information is a key aspect of good 
democratic governance, and is 
strongly committed to protecting 
every individual’s right to privacy. 
Accordingly, Council is committed to full 
compliance with its obligations under 
the Information Privacy Act 2000 (Vic) 
and the Health Records Act 2001 (the 
Acts). In particular, Council will comply 
with the Information Privacy Principles 
(IPPs) and Health Privacy Principles 
(HPPs) contained in the Acts. Council’s 
policy applies to all personal information 
held by Council.
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For example, Council holds personal 
(and, in some cases, sensitive) 
information on its local citizens 
and ratepayers (e.g. names and 
addresses) in order to carry out its 
functions (e.g. planning, valuations 
and property services). It may also 
request personal information in order 
to provide education, welfare and 
other community services (e.g. child 
care services). In some instances, 
personal information may be 
contained on a public register  
(e.g. register of building permits, 
food premises and animal 
registration details).

The Information Privacy Policy 
applies to all Council employees, 
Councillors and contractors of 
Moreland City Council. Training 
and awareness sessions, local 
procedures and a policy manual 
have been set in place to best 
ensure the protection of personal 
information and to provide strong 
security frameworks around its use 
and disclosure. 

Any person wishing to access their 
personal information should contact 
Council’s Privacy officer (phone 
9240 2294). Access will be provided 
except in the circumstances outlined 
in the Acts, for example, where 
the information relates to legal 
proceedings or where the FoI  
Act applies. 

If any citizen believes that their 
personal information is inaccurate, 
incomplete or out of date, they 
may request Council to correct 
the information. If any citizen feels 
aggrieved by Council’s handling 
of their personal information, the 
individual may make a complaint 
to Council’s Privacy officer. The 
complaint will be investigated as 
soon as possible and a written 
response will be provided. 
Alternatively, any person may 
make a complaint to the Privacy 
Commissioner. During the period 
to 30 June 2012, there were no 
complaints referred to Council by  
the Privacy Commissioner.

awarDs anD citatiOns
•	 Social	Support	Services	received	an	Award	from	Deakin	University	

for “Involvement with the practicum placement of students”

•	 Reaccreditation	under	ISO	9001:2008	for	the	Social	Support	
Services Quality Management System

•	 Reaccreditation	of	Food	Safety	Plan	under	Safe	and	Sound	
Management Systems

•	 Duty	Manager	of	the	Year	–	Aquatic	and	Recreation	Victoria	
Awarded to Alek olszewski, in July /August 2011

•	 SACS	Consulting	Award	for	Leadership	in	the	Local	Government	
Sector – winner of the executive Category Nerina Di Lorenzo

•	 CALDCOM	Story	Boards	–	winner	of	the	‘Strength	in	Diversity’	
category of the National Awards for excellence in Local Government

•	 LGPRO	AWARDS	FOR	EXCELLENCE	2012	–	finalist	in	the	
Sustainability Initiative for Council’s Carbon Management Strategy

Launch of the National Broadband Network in Brunswick.

Governance update (cont.)
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Chief Executive Officer – Peter Brown
Bachelor of engineering (Civil), Graduate Diploma of Municipal engineering, 
Graduate Diploma (Urban Policy and Planning), MBA 

Peter commenced his career in the private sector, undertaking structural and civil 
engineering projects. Peter has been in local government for 22 years in senior 
management positions. Joining Council in 2000 as Director City Works, he was 
appointed Chief executive officer in 2002.

Director City Infrastructure – Nerina Di Lorenzo 
Bachelor of engineering (Civil), Bachelor of Business Administration (Management) 

Nerina commenced her career in the private sector, delivering petrochemical and 
construction projects on the oil rigs of Bass Strait. Nerina joined local government 
13 years ago, holding senior management positions in business improvement and 
engineering roles. Nerina was appointed Director City Infrastructure in 2009. 

The City Infrastructure group contains: 
•	 Group	Manager	City	Operations	(encompassing	waste	services	and	outdoor	

maintenance units) 
•	 Manager	Capital	Works	Delivery
•	 Manager	Strategic	Transport	and	Property

Director Corporate Services – James Scott 
Bachelor of Business (Accounting), Chartered Accountant 

James has a finance background and worked for commercial organisations in  
the airline and financial consulting sectors for 12 years before joining Council in 
2002. He was appointed to the role of Director Corporate Services in July 2005. 
He was seconded to The Coburg Initiative as Project Director from April 2008 to 
February 2010.

The Corporate Services group contains: 
•	 Manager	Citizen	Services	
•	 Manager	Finance	and	Business	Systems	
•	 Manager	Information	Technology	
•	 Manager	Governance
•	 Manager	Project	Management	Office

Council’s people

Peter Brown

Nerina Di Lorenzo

James Scott

Our executive management team
Moreland City Council’s executive team as at 30 June 2012 is shown below. Since last year, there has been a 
reduction in the number of departments from six to five, with City Development services being reallocated to the 
former economic Development Department and the former organisational Development Department. The entire 
corporate management team is shown in the organisational chart that follows.
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Director Planning & Economic Development – Kirsten Coster 
Bachelor of Applied Science (Town Planning), Masters of Business (Marketing) 

Kirsten was appointed to the role of Director Planning & economic Development in 
August 2009 returning to local government after a role as a director in the private 
sector for three years with a national town planning and economic development 
services consultancy. Kirsten has a strong background in economic development, 
land use strategies and major projects, having worked in these fields in both the 
private and public sectors for over 20 years. 

The Planning & economic Development group contains: 
•	 Group	Manager	City	Development	
•	 Manager	City	Economy	and	Places
•	 Manager	City	Strategy	and	Design

Director Social Development – Andrew Day 
Bachelor of Speech Pathology, Masters of Business Management  
(organisational Change)

Andrew was appointed to the role of Director Social Development in February 
2011. Andrew’s background includes clinical and management roles in the health 
and not-for-profit sectors. He joined local government in 2005 and has held a 
range of management positions in the community wellbeing and organisational 
development areas. The Social Development group contains: 
•	 Manager	Aged	and	Disability	Services	
•	 Manager	Cultural	Development	
•	 Manager	Youth	and	Leisure	
•	 Manager	Social	Policy	and	Early	Years	Services	
•	 Friends	of	Aileu	Project

Director Organisational Development & Urban Safety – Gerry Smith 
Bachelor of Arts, Graduate Diploma (Management), MBA

Gerry’s background covers experience in line-management, human resources, 
corporate planning and organisational development roles following a career as a 
logistics officer in the Australian Defence Force. Gerry has held management roles 
in human resources and corporate services, in local and state government and 
the private sector before joining Council in 2007 as executive Manager Human 
Resources. Gerry was appointed to the role of Director organisational Development 
in october 2010. The organisational Development group contains: 
•	 Manager,	Council	Planning	&	Performance
•	 Manager,	Marketing	&	Communications
•	 Manager	Human	Resources
•	 Manager	Risk	and	OH&S
•	 Manager	Urban	Safety

Kirsten Coster

Andrew Day

Gerry Smith
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Corporate Management team

MANAGER
INTERNAL AUDIT

Ian Thomas

MANAGER
GOVERNANCE

Lidia Harding

MANAGER
INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY

Denis Wilson

MANAGER
FINANCE & 
BUSINESS 
SYSTEMS
Helen Sui

MANAGER
CITIZENS  
SERVICE

Tracie Andrews

DIRECTOR
CORPORATE 

SERVICES
James Scott

MANAGER
AGED & DISABILITY 

SERVICES
Rebecca Haack

MANAGER
CULTURAL 

DEVELOPMENT
Genimaree Panozzo

MANAGER
SOCIAL POLICY  
& EARLY YEARS

Barry Hahn

MANAGER
YOUTH & LEISURE 

SERVICES
Chris Leivers

 DIRECTOR
SOCIAL 

DEVELOPMENT
Andrew Day

MANAGER
CITY STRATEGY  

& DESIGN
Sue Vujcevic

GROUP MANAGER
CITY 

DEVELOPMENT
Phillip Priest

MANAGER
CITY ECONOMY  

& PLACES
Vacant

 DIRECTOR
PLANNING & 
ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT
Kirsten Coster

MANAGER
COUNCIL 

PLANNING &  
PERFORMANCE

Anita Craven

A/MANAGER
MARKETING &

COMMUNICATIONS 
Carlos Ibarra

MANAGER 
HUMAN 

RESOURCE 
SERVICES
Frank Joyce

MANAGER 
OCCUPATIONAL 
HEALTH, SAFETY 

& RISK
Julia Cushing

MANAGER
URBAN SAFETY

Paulline Magee

 DIRECTOR
ORGANISATIONAL  
DEVELOPMENT & 
URBAN SAFETY

Gerry Smith

DIRECTOR
CITY 

INFRASTRUCTURE
Nerina Di Lorenzo

GROUP MANAGER
CITY OPERATIONS
Andrew Mackinnon

A/MANAGER
CAPITAL WORKS 

DELIVERY
Shannon Best

MANAGER
STRATEGIC 

PROPERTY & 
TRANSPORT
olivia Wright

MANAGER
MP2 PROJECT 

OFFICE
erica Wilson

Structure as at 1 July 2012.

CHIEF ExECUTIVE OFFICER
Peter Brown
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service Delivery 2011–12
Details of the operational and service activity across selected services are  
given below:

Selected Services Quantity

Landfill  
Total tonnes

29,304 tonnes

Landfill  
Average rubbish per dwelling

480 kg

Paper and bottle recycling 13,631 tonnes
Green waste 9,767 tonnes
Street sweeping 102,580 kms
Trees and shrubs planted 11,911
Planning permit applications received 1156
Planning permit applications received for subdivision 382
Funded family day care 
Number of occupied places eFT

110

Number of children enrolled in family day care 303
Total home care hours 144,000
Delivered meals total 
Meals delivered to Moreland residents 
Whittlesea / Nillumbik Contract   

200,980 
155,425 
45,555

Number of library loans 1,426,618

operational outputs

capital wOrKs 2011–12

Capital Works Projects delivered in the 2011–12 budget included:

4 Aquatic & leisure centres $7,429,538
4 Roads & car parks $3,865,376
4 Footpaths & bike paths $2,656,946
4 Parks & reserves $2,622,552
4 Transport management $2,565,137
4 early years’ facilities $2,561,626
4 Council fleet $1,773,291
4 Community use facilities $1,036,082
4 Information technology $949,513
4 Climate change $898,556
4 Civic buildings $892,352
4 Library collection $859,257
4 Drainage $730,986
4 Coburg 2020 $534,564
4 Business centre renewal $399,556
4 Pavilion & sports clubs $329,972
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each year, Moreland participates 
in a survey of local government 
services administered by the Victorian 
Government Department of Planning 
and Community Development. 
The survey aims to provide data so 
individual councils can track the views 
of their residents over time. 

The survey was restructured in 2012 
and adopted a new rating scale.  
Although the scale has not changed 
dramatically, comparisons with 
previous years’ performance should 
be considered indicative only. In 2011, 
Moreland scored 77% for overall 
performance. Under the new rating 
scale, Moreland scored 88%. This 
indicates significant improvement on 
the 2011 result.

Twenty Council services were surveyed, 
with seven of these receiving ratings 
above 90%. The area of Council that 
received the highest rating was arts 
centres and libraries at 97%. This was 
followed by community and cultural 
activities (96%), waste management 
(94%), family support services (94%), 
%), recreational facilities (92%), 
environmental sustainability (92%), and 
disadvantaged support services (90%).

The lowest levels of satisfaction were 
with planning and building permits at 
71%, planning for population growth in 
the area at 72% and the condition of 
local streets and footpaths in your  
area at 73%.

Community satisfaction
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%

Proportion of respondents satisfied 
with Council’s overall performance

Source: DPCD Community Satisfaction 
with Local Government Survey

Musicians at Sydney Road Street Party, Brunswick.
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wOrKfOrce Data
As at 30 June 2012, Council had 1081 employees. The profile of Council’s workforce by gender, department and status  
(full-time, part-time or casual) is shown below:

 FT PT CASUAL Total*
Department Female Male Total Female Male Total Female Male Total Female Male Total 

CEO Group 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 4

City Infrastructure 21 181 202 4 3 7 0 3 3 25 187 212

Corporate Services 44 32 76 32 3 35 2 0 2 63 35 113

Planning & 
Economic 
Development          

36 21 57 11 1 12 1 0 1         
48

22 70

Organisational 
Development & 
Urban Safety   

40 37 77 37 19 56 1 1 2 78 57 135

Social Development 116 40 156 239 33 272 91 27 118 517 100 546

Totals 260 313 573 323 59 382 95 31 126 678 403 1081

* The reduction in staffing numbers is due to the transfer to YMCA management at the leisure centres

our Human resources

inDigenOus emplOyment: 
Council offers two traineeships per year 
for indigenous residents of Moreland. 
In 2011–12, two indigenous trainees 
were employed. A new School Based 
Traineeship Program was investigated 
and implemented in partnership with 
Aboriginal employment Service. 
School-based traineeship programs 
can provide an opportunity for 
indigenous students currently enrolled 
in years 11 and 12 to gain paid work 
experience, a nationally-recognised 
qualification, credit towards their 
VCe and exposure to different career 
opportunities available in the local 
government industry.

wOrKplace relatiOns
Council’s current eBA 2009 expired on 
30 June 2012. Council commenced 
negotiating the new agreement with 
unions in December 2011. Following 
16 meetings, the core of the agreement 
was agreed to in principle and 
negotiations were about to commence 
for the local area work agreements.

Throughout the year, workplace 
relations within Council remained 
harmonious and there was no lost 
time due to industrial action. A number 
of restructures occurred to improve 
service delivery in areas such as 
Information Technology and Leisure 
Services. Aquatic and Leisure Services 

were successfully transferred to YMCA 
from 10 october 2011 with a number 
of staff transferred. A significant 
organisational review was undertaken 
following the resignation of the Director 
City Development, with a new structure 
implemented after staff consultation 
and a review of organisational needs.

2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

Number of days lost due to  
industrial dispute

0 12 14 0 18 0
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BuilDing wOrKplace 
culture  
In 2011, the focus continued on 
improving performance and customer 
service, and ensuring that service 
unit plans are effective through 
consolidating performance measures 
for all 40 service units. Under Results 
Based Accountability (RBA), service 
units are now reporting on their service 
unit plans, highlighting the actions 
that are meaningful for the Moreland 
community as a priority.

It was also the year of refreshing 
and reinvigorating the organisational 
Values. over 350 staff participated 
in developing the new values for the 
organisation. These will be rolled out 
during 2012–13.

The next step will be for staff to use 
these values when making decisions, 
approaching their work and in all their 
daily interactions. This is being planned 
through the development of values 
champions who will help to embed the 
use of values across the organisation.

learning & DevelOpment

Developing our Leaders:  
“Aim for Blue”
The “Aim for Blue” leadership 
development program supports the 
move towards a more constructive 
and higher performing workplace 
culture through a combination of 
tailored workshops and development 
activities designed to build existing 
leadership capability and to enhance 
the confidence of leaders when  
interacting with staff.

The programs are aimed at continuing 
to support the development of our 
leaders at all levels. “Aim for Blue” 
explicitly links these programs to 
our Human Synergistics culture 
measurement tools: organisational 
Culture Inventory (oCI) and Life Styles 
Inventory (LSI).

The “Aim for Blue” program in 2011–12 
continued to focus on contributing 

to a positive culture at Moreland City 
Council by investing in its leaders. The 
focus for 2012–13 will continue to build 
the capacity of our leaders as well as 
investing in future leaders within the 
organisation.

E-Learning
Moreland City Council has continued  
to use e-learning as a training 
delivery tool for staff. This web-based 
e-Learning system delivers compliance, 
induction and various personal 
development training online with a 
course library of over 400 different 
courses to choose from.

Throughout the year, 139 different 
e-learning courses were assigned to 
staff with a total of 71 staff undertaking 
online courses.

Corporate Training Program 
(including OHS)
Council is deeply committed to 
developing its staff in order to  
enable people to reach their potential 
and to perform at higher levels in  
their jobs.  

Throughout the year, 187 separate 
training programs were run, with  
1203 staff undertaking corporate 
training (including oHS training). 
The programs conducted under the 
Corporate Training Program are  
shown below:

 

Corporate Training 2011–12 (including OHS)

Training Category Number of attendees 
(instances)

Number of  
courses run

oHS 463 14

Business 251 11

Leadership 88 8

Diversity 22 2

Lifestyle & Wellbeing 91 5

Compliance 129 5

Systems/Finance 159 142

overall Total 1203 187

OccupatiOnal health,  
safety & risK 

Occupational Health & Safety
The oHS Strategic Plan 2011–14 was 
been developed to provide guidance 
and set measurable objectives for 
occupational Health & Safety and Risk 
across the organisation. The oHS 
Strategic Plan consists of six strategic 
objectives, outlining specific actions to 
be undertaken over three years. The 
objectives are similar to the previous oHS 
Strategic Plan; however, the focus is on 
further development of the systems that 
the oHS & Risk Branch had implemented 
during the previous three years. 

oHS Actions and Initiatives stemming 
from the Strategic Plan in 2011–12 
included:
•	 To	actively	participate	in	WorkSafe	

Programs through a series of 
WorkSafe Incident Management and 
Reporting Training Sessions held in 
February 2012.

•	 To	continue	SafetyMap	accreditation	
of business units on an ongoing basis 
with a view to implementing AS 4801 
in 2013–14.

•	 Installation	of	three	defibrillation	units	
at Coburg Civic Centre, Bob Hawke 
Community Centre and Brunswick 
Civic Centre.

•	 Safety	Leadership	training	for	
managers and supervisors was held 
on 19 June.

•	 To	improve	incidence	reporting	of	
significant incidents with respect to 
timeliness, accuracy and escalation.



36

M
O

RE
LA

N
D 

CI
TY

 C
O

U
N

CI
L 

AN
N

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
2

Corporate Training Program – OHS
Throughout the year, 46 oHS training programs were run with 538 staff 
participating. The oHS programs conducted under the Corporate Training  
Program are shown below:

OHS Training 2011–12

Course Number of 
courses run

Number of 
staff attended 

(instances)

Brush Chipper operator Training 1 8

Chief Fire Warden Training 1 1

Construction Induction Training 
(formerly known as Red Card)

2 45

Defibrillation Training 1 24

Fire and emergency Warden Training 1 22

Fire extinguisher Training 1 12

Home Maintenance Safe Work 
Procedure Information Session

1 9

First Aid 8 120

Manual Handling 5 89

oHS/Risk & Injury Management 
Training

1 19

Worksafe 3 144

oH&S Rep Refresher 2 21

Woodman Dust extraction Canister 
Induction

1 7

Job Safety Analysis/Risk Assessment 1 8

Incident Reporting 1 8

occupational Violence 1 7

Cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) 10 107

Defensive Driving Training 3 22

Total 44 673

 

in managing minor injuries and 
minimising the impact pre-claim. 

2. Manual Handling and Slips, Trips 
and Falls continue to be a major 
contributor to how the injuries 
occur. A Manual Handling Internal 
Reference Group (MHIRG) has 
been established to develop 
strategies to reduce the number 
of Manual Handling and Slips, 
Trips and Falls. A Council-wide 
promotion on Slips, Trips and Falls 
will be rolled out in August 2012.

3. A further initiative was to analyse 
the high risk areas of Council (major 
contributors to workplace injuries). 
A number of improvements were 
identified and funded through the 
Risk Management Funding from 
the WorkCover Agent.

4. In order to further support 
supervisors, oHS, Risk and Injury 
Management workshops were 
rolled out as part of the Corporate 
Training Calendar. ongoing 
coaching also continues to be 
provided to relevant areas across 
Council to minimise the impact 
of a workplace injury on both the 
injured employee and immediate 
workplace.

5. The majority of claims in 2011–12 
were sustained within our high 
risk areas in Social Development 
and City Infrastructure, namely: 
Home Support, Libraries, open 
Space and Street Cleansing/Waste 
respectively. Urban Safety has also 
contributed to a notable number 
of injuries in 2011–12. It is noted 
that all employees who lodged a 
claim in 2011–12 have successfully 
achieved a return to work that is 
durable. 

MoreCare – Injury Management 
In 2011–12 there was a significant 
increase in incidents and injuries 
reported across Council compared to 
previous years. The number of incidents 
increased by 23.4% from 2010–12 and 
the number of injuries increased  
by 35.6%.

The increase in the number of injuries 
also contributed to the significantly 
higher number of days lost (64.4% 
increase over the past year).

A number of initiatives are being put in 
place to address these increases:

1. The early Intervention Program 
continues to be successful with 
the majority of injuries being 
musculoskeletal in nature. As noted 
in the table below, the number of 
injuries has significantly increased 
with claims decreasing. This 
strongly suggests that the early 
Intervention Program is effective 

our Human resources (cont.)
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Injury Management Results

2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12

No. of 
incidents 
reported

186 200 272 269 295 385

No. of injuries 
reported

160 177 175 181 190 295

No. of claims 37 48 34 28 26 18

Average claim 
cost $

$28,274 $43,464 $35,276 $23,702 $16,295 $42,574

No. of days 
lost

495 1051 1545 324 214 601

Employees 
returned to 
work

21 33 22 15 15 14

No. return to 
work

1 4 3 0 1 0

*For return to work information, only time lost claims have been included in the 
above count.

MoreHealth – Employee Health 
& Wellbeing
In 2011–12 a Health & Wellbeing 
program was developed in response 
to the recommendations made in 
the employer WorkHealth Check 
Summary Report. The Health & 
Wellbeing Program is designed 
to support employees’ current 
health initiatives and provide them 
with the knowledge to make 
better decisions about health and 
wellbeing matters. During the year, 
employees participated in WorkSafe 
Work Health Checks, self-funded 
pilates and yoga, meditation, 
Global Corporate Challenge 
(walking challenge), healthy eating 
demonstrations, bone density 
testing, breast screening and a 
number other relevant initiatives.

Risk Management
Risk Management continued to be 
embedded across the organisation’s 
business operations during  
2011–12. 

Risk assessments were completed 
within service units’ planning and 
the Corporate Risk Register was 
endorsed by the Audit Committee 
with high and extreme risks identified 
and treatment plans established to 
manage those risks.

Risk Management was presented 
at all corporate induction programs 
during 2011–12 with a further 
three oHS & Risk Management 
workshops being conducted for 
supervisors and leaders across the 
organisation.

The MAV Risk Management 
Progress Audit was undertaken 
with the Risk Management category 
score improving from 23 to 31 
points from a total on 50 and overall 
corporate score improvement from 
69% to 73%.

The overall score for the 2012 
JMAPP Audit was 64.7% providing 
an improvement score of 23 
percentage points from the 2011 
audit score of 41.3%. Citizens Service at Moreland Civic Centre.
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Best value
A review of Council’s MoreValue 
program was completed in 
November 2011. The review 
explored opportunities for program 
improvements through incorporation 
of service unit plans and Results 
Based Accountability (RBA) into 
Council’s Continuous Improvement 
Program review methodology. The 
RBA approach to strategic planning 
and performance measurement has 
become the primary driver for the 
MoreValue program. 

As the review recommended significant 
changes to the MoreValue program, a 
decision was made to pilot the revised 
program with two service units in 
2012. Council’s Civic Facilities Service 
Unit was the first piloted in early 2012. 
Council’s Community Transport Service 
is scheduled for piloting, commencing 
in September 2012. 

A number of other things are happening 
across the organisation to drive 
improvement and deliver best value, 
including:
•	 Improvements	in	community	access	

to Council services, evidenced by:
– annual increase over previous 

year of 119% in online Building 
and Planning application 
payments

– 29% increase in online invoice 
payments (Carelink) (330% for 
pay-by-phone)

– 68% increase in online licence/
permit renewal payments (230% 
for pay-by-phone)

– 27% increase in on-line 
Customer Requests

– 126% in online easyBiz forms 
used 

– 450% in online green waste bin 
payments.

•	 Other	initiatives	that	have	improved	
customer access include: a new 
online capability for planning 
applications; a new production 
mobile web platform; and an online 
payment capability for compost 
bins, all of which went live in June.

•	 During	2011,	Council	entered	
into a new Waste Services tender 

to be delivered through a single 
provider for the southern part of the 
municipality. In addition to providing 
a more efficient service, this tender 
is delivering better environmental 
outcomes with increased recycling 
opportunities resulting in annual 
savings of over $874,000 per 
annum through the packaging of 
contracted services. Additionally, 
the location of the recyclables 
in North Coburg is providing 
local economic benefits and 
environmental outcomes through 
the reduction in travel.

•	 Council	entered	into	a	single	
service tender with the YMCA for 
its six aquatic and leisure facilities 
in August 2011, with the intention 
being to provide significant 
improvements in service delivery 
to the community and better 
value for ratepayers. Since then, 
there has been a successful and 
smooth transition that has provided 
increased programs for members 
and the introduction of a universal 
membership allowing members to 
use all six facilities. 

•	 The	establishment	of	an	online	
business support service (Biz 
Moreland website launched in April 
2012), incorporating a business 
directory.

•	 A	reduction	in	the	number	of	
planning and subdivision permit 
applications outstanding was 
assisted by a new Fast Track 
Service, as shown by a reduction of 
22% or 125 applications.

•	 A	reduction	in	average	timeframe	for	
all planning decisions as shown by:
– a reduction from 77 to 

44 statutory days (a 43% 
improvement)

– an improvement from 40% 
to 62% for decisions within 
statutory timeframes 

•	 The	proportion	of	customer	
requests completed on time has 
exceeded the organisation target of 
80%, shown by an 88% completion 
in time rate for 2011–12, up from 
85% in 2010–11.

•	 The	alignment	and	embedding	of	

the RBA methodology across the 
organisation and with Council and 
other corporate planning processes, 
as shown by RBA-derived 
measures being incorporated into 
service unit plans.

•	 The	introduction	of	a	new	IT	
document copier contract, resulting 
in significant paper savings, as 
shown by a 19% reduction of paper 
usage throughout the organisation, 
from 5,857,547 to 4,724,439 units 
(A4 pages).

•	 The	development	of	a	digital	local	
government strategy to focus the 
organisation and community on 
how to capitalise on Brunswick 
being one of the first suburbs 
to participate in the National 
Broadband Network (NBN) roll out.
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perForManCe review:
a sustainable & Just City

Coburg Leisure Centre.

40



41

overview
o

peratio
n

s
perfo

rm
an

ce
fin

an
cials

achievements

Climate change
•	 Carbon	Management	Strategy	

(CMS) implemented, including 
building efficiency works and 
Carbon off-set Policy developed.  
In 2011–12, Council’s energy 
Management Program recorded 
savings of $68,000 from gas and 
electricity bills and a reduction of 
425 tonnes Co2e.

•	 Sports	fields	at	Martin,	Brearley	and	
Raeburn Reserves converted to 
warm season grasses.

•	 Continued	implementation	of	
Integrated Water Management 
Plan (IWMP), including building 
water efficiency works and storm 
water harvesting projects, such 
as Sewell Reserve Stormwater 
Harvesting project completed. This 
infrastructure will generate three 
megalitres of storm water reuse  
per annum.

Local economy
•	 Stage	1	of	Brunswick	Place	

Framework Strategy completed 
(‘Brunswick Investment Strategy’).

•	 Implementation	of	Glenroy	
Streetscape Master Plan was 
completed and adopted by Council 
in July 2012.

•	 The	Moreland	business	directory	
and online business support  
service went live.

Transport & mobility
•	 Implementation	of	the	Moreland	

bicycle plan proceeded mostly as 
planned. However, Cumberland 
Road was delayed due to the more 
detailed consultation required. 
Detailed design work for the 
Craigieburn bike path commenced 
which will allow formal costing and 
approvals to be sought.

•	 Disability Discrimination Act 1992 
(DDA) Audits completed for all 
Shopping centres and activity 
centres.

•	 An	Internal	focus/reference	
group was set up to investigate a 
community bus link to transit points 
and major roads.

•	 Continued	implementation	of	a	
parking management project, 

including installation of 3000 non-
tram Parking overstay Detection 
Systems (PoDS) and 1000 tram 
bay PoDS.

•	 A	capital	works	priority	program	for	
the Moreland Pedestrian Strategy 
was developed and endorsed by 
Council for inclusion in the 2012–13 
Capital Works Program. 

Infrastructure
•	 Application	of	a	Community	

Infrastructure Framework to the 
Fleming Park and Brunswick Civic 
and Cultural Precincts.

•	 Commenced	implementation	of	
Laneways Policy with adoption of a 
Right of Way (RoW) Strategy.

•	 Continued	to	implement	exercise	
equipment in parks in accordance 
with strategy, as per adopted FY 
2011–12 Capital Works Program 
– specifically, Brearly & De Chene 
Reserves.

•	 Construction	of	pavilion	at	CB	Smith	
Reserve initiated with construction 
tender awarded in June 2012 and 
contractors on site from 23 July 
2012.

•	 Advocacy	for	amenity	improvements	
adjacent to Pascoe Vale, oak Park 
and Glenroy train stations.

Open space
•	 Moreland	Open	Space	Strategy	

(MoSS) was adopted at June 
Council meeting.

•	 Landscaping	and	open	space	
around the Gowanbrae Community 
Centre completed.

•	 Advocacy	undertaken	against	
inner city councils being required 
to comply with the electrical Safety 
(Line Clearance).

Land use
•	 Continued	implementation	of	the	

Coburg 2020 Structure Plan and 
Coburg Place Framework.

•	 Continued	implementation	of	
the North of Bell Street Heritage 
Study via the preparation of an 
amendment to the Moreland 
Planning Scheme.

•	 Implementation	of	a	municipal-wide	
Development Contribution Plan 
for Moreland initiated, including 
preparation of a planning scheme 
amendment.
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•	 Implementation	of	the	Moreland	
Industrial Land Use Strategy 
(MILUS) continued via planning 
scheme amendments.

•	 Parking	Management	Strategy	
(public spaces) adopted.

•	 Implementation	of	the	
recommendations of the Moreland 
Planning Scheme Review (2010).

•	 Protocol	developed	for	officers	
to refer all public land issues (not 
Council-owned land) to Ceo and 
brief Council if appropriate.

•	 Implementation	of	a	proactive	
planning enforcement program.

•	 Planning	scheme	amendment	
package prepared to facilitate 
Coburg activity centre 
redevelopment.

•	 Prepared	basis	for	advocating	grade	
separation of the Glenroy Road 
railway crossing through preparation 
of submission on Council’s preferred 
option for grade separation or 
alternatives.

•	 Progressed	issues	relating	to	Hilton	
Street site (‘Kode’) with the aim 
of keeping public access to open 
space.

•	 Initiated	advocacy	for	noise	
attenuation improvements along the 
Ring Road.

Housing
•	 Promoted	the	inclusion	of	affordable	

accommodation in new (larger-
scale) development through 
participation in pre-application 
meetings e.g. Coburg Hill.

challenges

Climate change
•	 Tenders	for	the	conversion	of	

Moreland’s street lights to energy-
efficient globes closed, but the 
tender is yet to be formally awarded.

•	 Implementation	of	the	Moreland	
Climate Action Plan was delayed 
until after an issues paper 
was considered by Moreland 
executive Group in August. To 
be implemented by the end of 
December 2012.

Local economy
•	 A	draft	feasibility	study	on	

expanding the Business Incubation 
program to campuses in the 
northern and central areas of 
the municipality was completed. 
Council is scheduled to consider the 
final report in late 2012. 

•	 Further	implementation	of	the	
Shopping Strip Renewal Program.

•	 Phase	1	of	the	Glenroy	Place	
Framework Strategy was drafted 
but awaiting finalisation until 
grade separation has been further 
explored given its potential to 
reshape the centre.

•	 Preparation	of	a	Development	
Management Agreement for the 
Coburg Initiative was discontinued. 
The model for implementation of 
The Coburg Initiative was reviewed 
and a new approach tested. 
Council initiated an eoI process for 
a key site for a major health facility.

Transport & mobility
•	 Develop	and	implement	a	Peak	

oil Strategy by means of other 
Strategies such as Moreland 
Integrated Transport Strategy 
(MITS) and Carbon Management 
Strategy.

•	 Progress	the	expansion	of	active	
transport networks, such as the 
Upfield bike path. No funding is 
available in 2012–13 federal or state 
government budgets. Will continue 
advocating for 2013–14.

•	 Continue	to	advocate	to	the	
Department of Transport to finish 
revised design for a Disability 
Discrimination Act (DDA) compliant 
underpass in Glenroy and build the 
underpass.

•	 Advocate	for	more	pedestrian	
crossings on busy (arterial 
and major) roads (particularly 
Cumberland Road, Glenroy Road, 
Widford Street and Hilton Street), 
and changes to VicRoads’ warrants 
for pedestrian crossings.

Infrastructure
•	 Preparation	of	a	feasibility	study	on	

the use of the Brunswick Civic and 
Arts Precinct including resolution of 
community hub and Saxon Street 
property issues.

•	 Further	review	the	bluestone	aspect	
of the Right of Way (RoW) Strategy 

to address community (i.e. heritage 
versus cost) concerns.

•	 The	re-location	of	Sussex	
Neighbourhood House to Rogers 
Reserve Pascoe Vale. Discussions 
with the Neighbourhood House and 
other stakeholders on the design 
are continuing.

•	 Progress	public	toilet	upgrades,	
including construct new public toilet 
at West St Hadfield and complete 
design and study for new public 
toilet at Cumberland Rd/ Gaffney St.

•	 Review	and	adopt	a	Public	Toilet	
Strategy with funding targets 
(operating and capital). A draft was 
presented at June Council Meeting 
for public consultation.

Open space
•	 Complete	Fleming	Park	Building	

Master plan and commence 
scoping the open Space Master 
plan.

•	 Amend	the	local	law	to	protect	
significant trees. Further internal 
consultation is underway.

•	 Implement	the	Moreland	Street	
Landscape Strategy (MSLS) 
following anticipated adoption of 
final version in August 2012.

•	 Continue	to	investigate	
opportunities for shared use 
agreements for use of open space 
with local primary and secondary 
schools.

Land use
•	 Prepare	a	local	parking	policy	for	

Coburg and Brunswick informed 
by the respective economic 
development strategies and place 
framework programs.

•	 Council	has	successfully	negotiated	
the purchase of the former Glenroy 
Primary School site. Development of 
new public uses for the site will be 
the next challenge in deploying this 
site to address the long-term needs 
of the community.

Housing
•	 Advocate	for	greater	investment	

from state and federal governments 
in social and public housing to 
address homelessness and housing 
affordability.

•	 Identify	opportunities	for	expansion	
and redevelopment of existing 
public housing stock.

perForManCe review:
a sustainable & Just City (cont.)
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Hollobak Dance Crew performing at 2011 
Glenroy Festival.
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achievements

Celebrations
•	 Provided	Festivals	and	Events	

Program. estimated total 
attendance for 2011–12 was 
62,800.

Creativity
•	 Created	a	new	work	space	for	

creative activity. The Brunswick 
Station was secured as a temporary 
creative space through a licence 
agreement with Metro Trains. 
In addition to the Brunswick 
Station residency a number of 
other creative spaces were for 
development including spaces 
within the Glenroy Primary School.

•	 Implementation	of	new	Arts	and	
Culture Strategy for 2011–16 – 20 
of 23 Strategy Actions for 2011–12 
completed. 

Community resilience
•	 Implementation	of	Multicultural	

Policy action plan, including forum 
on housing issues for international 
students in Moreland.

Sector recognition
•	 Continued	participation	in	sectoral	

campaign for the constitutional 
recognition of local government. 
Council continued to participate in 
this campaign through letters and 
meetings as appropriate. Councillors 
attended the annual ALGA National 
General Assembly in June 2012 and 
submitted three motions on behalf 
of Council which were all successful.

Waste & litter
•	 Continued	work	with	the	

Department of Justice for the timely 
removal of inappropriate graffiti.

•	 Continued	improvement	in	the	
enforcement of littering laws, as 
shown by notices to comply and 
fines issued for dumping.

•	 Implementation	of	the	Moreland	
Waste & Litter Strategy and 
associated contracts. Some of the 
key initiatives for 2011–12 included: 

1.  Completion of Moreland’s first 
kerbside garbage audit

2.  Introduction of community 
composting hubs

3.  TV drop-off day and 100% 
eWaste recycling from the 
annual hard waste collection

4.  expansion of the range of 
plastics recyclable under 
Council’s weekly kerbside 
collections to include all plastics.

5.  2011 Moreland Magazine and 
Calendar focused on waste 
education.

challenges

Celebrations
•	 Increase	total	attendance	for	the	

Festivals and events Program. 
Attendances at festivals and 
events in 2011–12 was lower 
than previously estimated due to 
1) severe weather conditions and 
2) being in a transition stage, in 
line with recommendations of the 
Festivals and events Review which 
were endorsed by Council in  
August 2011.

Creativity
•	 Continued	implementation	of	

new Arts and Culture Strategy for 
2011–16.

Waste & litter
•	 Fully	implement	the	Area	Integrated	

Maintenance (AIM) program, 
including a review of street cleaning 
schedule and practices. The focus 
for 2011–12 was a street sweeping 
service review, which is scheduled 
for completion in December 2012. 
The AIM review will follow the street 
sweeping review.

•	 A	Waste	and	Litter	Strategy	for	
Sporting Clubs is yet to be adopted. 
The completion date for this project 
has been re-set to 30 June 2013.

perForManCe review:
a proud City
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perForManCe review: 
a Healthy & educated Community 

Painting at the Gowanbrae Children’s 
and Community Centre.
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achievements

Ageing
•	 Implementation	of	community	

participation and development 
elements of the Later Years 
Strategy.

•	 Participation	in	relevant	forums	and	
discussions regarding possible 
changes and opportunities for 
funding and partnerships in Aged 
Services.

Community engagement
•	 Additional	Culturally	and	

Linguistically Diverse (CALD) 
Community initiatives. 
Approximately ten new storyboards 
were created, including Asbestos, 
Food Safety, Family Violence and 
e-payments.

Community services
•	 Implementation	of	Disability	Action	

Plan. Workshops held focusing 
on job readiness and pathways 
to employment for people with a 
disability. Consultation with user 
groups at CB Smith Reserve to 
inform the design brief for the 
Yooralla First Base day service.

•	 Implementation	of	an	Integrated	
Library Management System 
(ILMS). Libero ILMS went live on 12 
July 2011. A survey of the online 

Public Access Catalogue (oPAC) 
found 73% of respondents were 
either very satisfied or satisfied with 
the oPAC.

•	 Report	on	priority	actions	for	
key improvements in the layout 
and presentation of all libraries 
completed. Planning for allocation 
of expenditure for priority 
improvements also completed.

•	 Advocated	for	changes	to	the	
National Building Code to specify 
standards for disability access 
through the Municipal Strategic 
Statement (MSS) Review and other 
public submissions.

Education
•	 Ensured	that	funds	for	the	purchase	

of new books increased at a 
minimum of the CPI rate. $857,200 
allocated to the 2011–12 book 
budget fully expended by June.

•	 Early	years’	facilities	upgrade	and	
expansion projects progressed 
satisfactorily, with construction 
work completed at 8 of 10 centres. 
Noel St and Denzil Don delayed 
due to design deliberations with 
committees.

•	 Advocated	for	education	
improvements through participation 
in the Moreland schools 
regeneration project.

perForManCe review: 
a Healthy & educated Community (cont.)
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•	 Continued	to	advocate	for	a	years	
7–12 secondary school in Coburg. 
The Victorian Government recently 
announced that Coburg Senior High 
will expand to a full year 7 to year 12 
school in 2015.

Health
•	 Implementation	of	the	Annual	

Moreland Municipal Public Health 
Action Plan.

•	 Implementation	of	the	Moreland	
Playground Strategy. Brearley 
Reserve and De Chene Reserve 
were completed as planned.

•	 Continued	to	work	with	the	
Moreland Food Access working 
group and local community garden 
groups to promote community 
gardens and access to fresh food  
in Moreland.

Sport and recreation
•	 Completed	Aquatics	and	Leisure	

tender process. YMCA commenced 
as operator for all six aquatic and 
leisure facilities. Planning has 
commenced for implementation of a 
range of Active Moreland objectives.

•	 Ensured	outdoor	pools	are	
promoted and patronised. 
Attendance across all Active 
Moreland seasonal outdoor 
pools for this period was 78,082 
participants.

•	 Design	and	specifications	
completed for two netball courts 
in Brunswick. Contract awarded. 
Courts to be constructed by 
october 2012.

•	 Explored	costs	and	benefits	
of a restoration program for all 
grandstands in Moreland, including 
Gillon oval and Fleming Park 
Brunswick, and Coburg City oval.

Youth
•	 Investigated	possible	sites	for	

additional	skateboard	and	BMX	
parks. Some further works will be 
undertaken at CB Smith Skate 
Park as a result, including additional 
skate park infrastructure and some 
Park our Training elements.

•	 Completed	Stage	1	construction	
of skate park and surrounding 
areas at CB Smith Reserve. Stage 
2 planning commenced and 
proposes additional skate park 
infrastructure and some Park our 
Training elements.

•	 Continued	implementing	the	
oxYgen Project, through clarifying 
and defining preferred models 
for delivering youth spaces and 
activities. The property at 4–8 
Gaffney Street selected as the 
preferred site for a permanent  
youth facility.

challenges

Community engagement
•	 Project	to	investigate	the	proposal	

for a café at the Coburg Lake has 
not progressed as resources were 
redirected to other projects.

Community services
•	 Project	to	undertake	structural	

repairs and improvements to the 
Brunswick library was not achieved 
in the timeframe. Tender was 
awarded with a delayed timeline to 
allow additional costs to be spread 
over the 2012–13 and 2013–14 
financial years. 

Sport and recreation
•	 Redevelopment	of	the	Brunswick	

Baths was delayed due to land 
contamination issues. Completion 
of construction has been reset to 
December 2012.

•	 The	upgrade	of	the	Oak	Park	
Aquatic Centre, which includes 
redevelopment of oak Park Reserve 
and the pavilion located between 
the two ovals, is still in the design 
phase.  Site layout plan and 
concept plan will be presented at 
September 2012 Council Meeting 
for adoption.

•	 The	analysis	of	cycling	velodrome	
site options was delayed. A draft 
report was prepared and received 
for officer consideration. Final report 
to be received July 2012.

•	 Preparation	of	a	master	plan	for	
the redevelopment of the Coburg 
City oval and grandstand was 
postponed following the cessation 
of the Strategic Partnering 
Agreement (SPA) with equiset.

Fawkner Leisure Centre.
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perForManCe review: 
a responsive organisation

Citizen Services Officer at 
Moreland Civic Centre.
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achievements

Advocacy
Advocacy Plan developed and adopted 
by Council, including assignment of 
priority and advocacy method to all 43 
items, of which 84% were achieved.

Business improvement
•	 Improvements	in	community	access	

to Council services, as measured 
by: annual (online) increase over 
previous year of 119% in Building 
and Planning application payments, 
29% in invoice payments (Carelink) 
(330% for pay-by-phone), 68% in 
licence/permit renewal payments 
(230% for pay-by-phone), 27% 
in Customer Requests, 126% in 
easyBiz forms used, 450% in green 
waste bin payments; new online 
capability for planning applications 
implemented in June; new 
production mobile web platform 
(with limited forms) went live in June; 
online payments for compost bins 
went live in June.

•	 Integration	between	the	new	
Council assets database and 
the new Geographic Information 
System (GIS) platform was 
developed, tested and works as 
required.

•	 Ongoing	implementation	of	the	
outcomes of a review of policy 
development. A report is scheduled 
to be presented to Council in 
August 2012 on progress to date.

•	 More	than	95%	of	Council	
resolutions closed within the agreed 
time. Summary outstanding Council 
resolutions reported to Council 
monthly via Council agenda. New 
detailed reports are now provided 
monthly.

•	 95%	of	Performance	&	
Development Reviews (PDRs) 
completed and forwarded to 
Human Resources branch, as 
per agreed organisational Key 
Performance Indicator (KPI).

•	 Ongoing	work	occurred	to	embed	
Results Based Accountability (RBA) 
across the organisation, through 
the development of performance 
measures, alignment with 

development and review of policies 
and strategies.

•	 Detailed	monitoring	of	a	selection	
of contractors to the terms in 
their contracts, including: Cash 
Collection; Leisure Centre 
Management; Brunswick Aquatic 
Centre Redevelopment; Advisory 
Services for Health Facility Tender; 
and, Debt Recovery Services.

•	 Maintained	effective	relations	
with government on key policy 
issues affecting the municipality. 
ongoing advocacy arrangements 
are in place. For example, staff and 
Councillors meeting with staff and 
Ministers at state and federal levels 
on a range of issues.

Customer service
•	 The	backlog	of	planning	permit	

applications was reduced and 
customer service improved. The total 
number of outstanding applications 
was reduced by 22% or 125 
applications. The new Fast Track 
and Commercial Priority Services 
were established with decision-
making well within targets delivering 
improved customer service.

•	 The	proportion	of	planning	and	
subdivision applications determined 
within statutory timeframe improved 
from 40% to 62%, exceeding 
the target of 60%. The overall 
average timeframes for all planning 
decisions reduced from 77 to 44 
statutory days in 2011–12, a 43% 
improvement.

•	 A	customer	service	strategy	was	
drafted, including customer service 
measures. Reporting to Directors 
monthly on Customer Response 
System (CRS) status.

•	 The	proportion	of	customer	
requests completed on time 
exceeded the target of 80%.

•	 A	revised	MoreValue	Program	
commenced development, with a 
pilot underway with Civic Facilities.

•	 Continued	to	advocate	to	the	
Victorian Government for an 
increase to scheduled planning 
permit and amendment fees.
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Democratic governance
•	 Following	a	Council	resolution	in	

December 2011, all submitters to 
policies, strategies or action plans 
are now invited to the Council 
meeting at which the policy, 
strategy or action plan is being 
recommended for adoption.

•	 Development	of	an	election	
campaign to encourage all  
residents who are eligible to vote in 
Council elections to be enrolled to 
vote. Rollout commenced in  
late June 2012.

•	 The	number	of	reports	to	Council	
deemed to be “confidential” was 
successfully minimised to no more 
than 10%.

Financial management
•	 Ensured	that	budget	outcomes	

were in accordance with the Five 
Year Financial Plan.

•	 Ensured	budgets	prepared	for	
Council consideration were in 
line with the Five Year Strategic 
Resource Plan.

Strategic planning
•	 Commenced	planning	for	the	

development of the 2013–17 
Council Plan. The Community Plan 
project was well underway and 
aligns with the 2013–17 Council 
Plan, revised MSS and Moreland 
Health & Well Being Plan.

Workplace culture
•	 Corporate	Training	Calendar	and	

Aim for Blue program developed 
and launched.  Programs 
implemented August 2011 – June 
2012 according to budget.

•	 Implemented	Occupational	Health	
& Safety systems which meet 
statutory requirements and which 
maximise the health and safety of 
the Council work environment.

•	 Implementation	of	service	unit	
plans based on Results Based 
Accountability (RBA) model to 
drive improved performance was 
largely achieved. Work commenced 
to partner with Research, IT and 

service units to establish base data 
for reporting against performance 
measures.

challenges

Business improvement
•	 The	development	of	new	corporate	

planning software to facilitate 
better alignment with a corporate 
planning and reporting process will 
require further scoping of corporate 
requirements.

•	 Delivery	of	the	capital	works	
program was not entirely on time 
and on budget due to delays 
experienced with some major 
building projects. open space 
renewal projects were delayed 
to allow appropriate community 
consultation and in line with 
available resourcing.

•	 The	completion	rate	for	operating	
projects was 88%, just short of 
the target of 90%. Due in part to 
scoping changes and resource 
constraints.

Financial management
•	 The	optimal	management	of	

expenditure on asset renewal, as 
measured by budgeted expenditure 
on asset renewal relative to 
depreciation of assets, was not 
achieved. Asset depreciation for 
2011–12 was $20.2m. Renewal 
plus maintenance expenditure 
was $18.6m. The $1.6m shortfall 
in planned expenditure on asset 
renewal for 2011–12 was mainly 
due to some renewal projects not 
proceeding and deciding to invest 
more in new assets in that period.

•	 An	Airspace	use	feasibility	study	of	
Council car parks was not achieved 
within the timeline. This project has 
proven to be significantly larger than 
anticipated.

Workplace culture
•	 Development	of	an	Organisational	

Development Strategy commenced 
to capture strategies and actions 
resulting from Culture Survey 
debriefs that have been conducted 
across the organisation.

perForManCe review: 
a responsive organisation (cont.)

Redevelopment works at the historic Brunswick Baths.
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Key Strategic Activity Measure Target Result Comment

Initiative Action

Key Strategic Objective 1: Collaborate with the community and respond actively to climate change

Carbon 
Management 
Strategy

Implement 
the Carbon 
Management 
Strategy, including 
building efficiency 
works and 
development of 
carbon off-set 
policy

Implementation 
of strategy 
milestones and 
deliverables 
provided

In accordance 
with strategy or 
progress report 
to Council not 
later than June 
2012

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Implementation / achievements 
reported at 13 June 2012 
Council meeting.

Climate Action 
Plan

Implement Climate 
Action Plan, 
including review 
vehicle policy

Implementation of 
plan milestones 
and deliverables 
provided

In accordance 
with plan or 
progress report 
to Council not 
later than June 
2012 N

o
T 

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D Policy to be implemented by 

end of December 2012.

Key Strategic Objective 2: Facilitate the development of the local economy and jobs

Brunswick 
Structure Plan

ongoing 
preparation of 
Brunswick Place 
Framework 
Strategy to attract 
investment to 
optimise economic 
and social benefits

Completion of 
Phase 2 of Place 
Framework 
Strategy and 
deliverables 
provided, and 
implementation 
of structure 
plans, including 
approved capital 
works

June 2012

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Investment Strategy presented 
to Council at Issues and 
Discussion Workshop on 
21 May 2011. PSA stage 1 
adopted by Council in June 
2012. (Note: ‘Stage 1’ here = 
‘Phase 2’ in CAP 11/2)

Economic 
Development 
Strategy

Implement 
Shopping Strip 
Renewal Program

Deliver three 
business plans 
and designs for 
two small and 
one medium 
shopping centre 
and implement 
two small centre 
streetscape 
improvement 
plans

June 2012

N
o

T 
A

C
H

Ie
Ve

D

Centres changed in February 
2012 leaving little time to 
achieve this action. Tool kit 
developed and piloted but not 
yet complete. Construction of 
projects for current financial 
year – Argyle St and Widford St 
– is on target.

Glenroy 
Structure Plan

Prepare Glenroy 
Place Framework 
Strategy to attract 
investment to 
optimise economic 
and social benefits

Completion of 
Phase 1 of Place 
Framework and 
implementation 
of stage 1 of 
the Streetscape 
Master Plan

June 2012

N
o

T 
A

C
H

Ie
Ve

D

Streetscape Master plan 
completed and will be presented 
to Council for adoption in July 
2012. Place Framework work 
linked to MACHS work currently 
being undertaken by Strategic 
Planning has been deferred until 
June 2013.

performance statement
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Key Strategic Activity Measure Target Result Comment

Initiative Action

Key Strategic Objective 2: Facilitate the development of the local economy and jobs

The Coburg 
Initiative

Prepare and submit 
Development 
Management 
Agreement

Timely 
achievement of 
project milestones

Development 
Management 
Agreement 
signed and 
adopted 
December 
2011

N
o

T 
A

C
H

Ie
Ve

D

Call for proposal endorsed by 
Council on 9 February 2011.  
equiset’s response received 
21 April 2011. evaluation 
complete by 24 August 2011. 
Council decision to cease SPA 
agreement with equiset. Council 
has undertaken eoI for  
hospital site. 

Key Strategic Objective 3: Improve transport and mobility

Disability Action 
Plan

Complete DDA 
Audits for all 
shopping centres 
(including any 
work not already 
completed for the 
activity centres)

DDA Audits 
completed for all 
shopping centres 
and activity 
centres

oct 2011

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Successful candidate 
contracted in February 2012, 
with study completed in mid-
June 2012. This has been 
achieved but not within the 
targeted timelines.

Parking Strategy Implement parking 
management 
project, including 
implementation of 
PoDS

PoDS installed Jan 2012

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

3000 non tram PoDS, 1000 
tram bay PoDS and handhelds 
were installed prior to end of 
June and all were operational 
as of the end of July 2012. This 
has been achieved but not by 
the January timeline.

Pedestrian 
Strategy

Develop and 
Implement Capital 
Works priority 
Program for 
pedestrian strategy

Report to council 
and inclusion in 
2011–12 Capital 
Works Program

Aug 2011

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Report provided to the 
December meeting and 
deferred by Council. Report was 
resubmitted in June 2012 and 
endorsed with some additional 
notes. Achieved before 30 
June 2012, but deferral meant 
timelines not met.

Pedestrian 
Strategy

Invest in better 
amenity and 
streetscape of 
pedestrian paths  
(especially on 
pedestrian routes 
to activity centres), 
including more 
trees or shade, 
seating and 
appropriate lighting

As per adopted 
2011–12 Capital 
Works Program

June 2012

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Works were identified early 
in the financial year and were 
completed by June 30.

performance statement (cont.)
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Key Strategic Activity Measure Target Result Comment

Initiative Action

Key Strategic Objective 4: Maintain and enhance appropriate infrastructure and open space

Neighbourhood 
House Strategy

Re-locate Sussex 
Neighbourhood 
House to Rogers 
Reserve Pascoe 
Vale

Complete detailed 
design, contract 
documentation 
and planning 
permit. 
Construction to 
commence as per 
5yr Capital Works 
Program

June 2012

N
o

T 
A

C
H

Ie
Ve

D

This is in progress, with 
continuing discussions with 
the Neighbourhood House 
and other stakeholders on the 
design. Council Report in June 
reset timelines to end of 2012.

Open Space 
Strategy

Redevelop CB 
Smith Reserve

Commence 
construction of 
pavilion

Project 
milestones 
achieved in 
accordance 
with plan by 
June 2012

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Construction tender awarded 
in June 2012 via Council 
report. Contract instrument of 
agreement signed in June.

Key Strategic Objective 5: Effective use of our land use and development policies for outcomes appropriate to the 
long-term needs of communities

Planning 
Scheme – 
Development 
Contributions 
Plan

Implement a 
municipal-wide 
Development 
Contribution Plan 
for Moreland

Prepare planning 
scheme 
amendment

Nov 2011

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Planning scheme amendment 
has been prepared.  
Authorisation to exhibit the 
amendment was received  
from the Minister for Planning  
in July 2012. 

Planning 
Scheme – 
Planning 
Scheme Review

Implement the 
recommendations 
of the Moreland 
Planning Scheme 
Review (2010) 
including key 
priorities: Local 
Planning Policy 
Framework 
Review/ MSS 
Review, including 
review private open 
space requirement 
and review of urban 
villages policy and 
of reverse living 
planning policies

Implement the 
actions arising 
from the Local 
Planning Policy 
Framework 
Review/ MSS 
Review and 
report progress to 
Council

April 2012

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Item was reported to Council at 
its meeting on 13 June 2012.

The Coburg 
Initiative

Prepare a 
planning scheme 
amendment 
package to 
facilitate Coburg 
activity centre 
redevelopment

Prepare Planning 
Scheme 
Amendment

June 2012.

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Amendment package was 
prepared before end of 
2011–12. Item was reported to 
Council on 11 July 2012.
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Key Strategic Activity Measure Target Result Comment

Initiative Action

Key Strategic Objective 7: Engage the organisation and community to make Moreland a prouder and cleaner city

AIM Program Full implementation 
of the AIM 
program, including 
a review of street 
cleaning schedule 
and practices

Level of 
community 
satisfaction 
with Council 
performance, 
as measured by 
program survey

Improvement 
in community 
satisfaction

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

AIM program survey data is not 
a relevant measure as the AIM 
Review was not completed. The 
focus for 2011–12 was a street 
sweeping service review, with 
progress reported to Council on 
13 June 2012. Council resolved 
to undertake the AIM review 
following the street sweeping 
review, which is scheduled for 
completion in December 2012.

Waste & Litter 
Strategy

Implement 
Moreland Waste 
& Litter Strategy 
and associated 
contracts

Strategy and 
contracts 
implemented

As per Council 
resolution

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Some of the key initiatives for 
2011–12 include:
1. Collection and disposal 

contracts awarded by Council
2. Completion of Moreland’s 

first kerbside garbage audit
3. Introduction of community 

composting hubs (No 
document. two hubs 
installed: Cameron St, 
Brunswick and Wolsley St, 
Coburg)

4. TV drop-off day
5. 100% eWaste recycling 

from the annual hard waste 
collection

6. expansion of the range of  
plastics recyclable under 
Council’s weekly kerbside 
collections, to include all 
plastics (effective october 
2011)

7. 2011 Moreland Magazine 
and Calendar focused on 
waste education (circulated 
october 2012)

Key Strategic Objective 11: Appropriately respond to the population health needs of people at all ages and stages

Playground 
Strategy

Implement 
Moreland 
Playground 
Strategy

Implementation 
of strategy 
milestones and 
deliverables 
provided

In accordance 
with plan or 
progress report 
to Council by 
Jan 2012 A

C
H

Ie
Ve

D Brearley Reserve and De Chene 
Reserve completed as planned. 
Completion of works due 
october 2012.

Key Strategic Objective 13: Ensure that the community has access to a range of sporting and recreational facilities

Aquatic Strategy Redevelop the 
Brunswick Baths

Completion of 
construction

June 2012

N
o

T 
A

C
H

Ie
Ve

D Construction underway, delays 
relating to land contamination 
have impacted timelines. 
Report to Council in June 2012 
provided progress update. 
Practical completion now 
December 2012.

performance statement (cont.)
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Initiative Action

Key Strategic Objective 13: Ensure that the community has access to a range of sporting and recreational facilities

Aquatic Strategy Upgrade oak 
Park Aquatic 
Centre (includes 
redevelopment of 
oak Park Reserve 
and the pavilion 
located between 
the two ovals)

Complete Stage 
1 concept 
planning, detailed 
design, contract 
documentation, 
and planning 
permit. 
Construction to 
commence as per 
5yr Capital Works 
Program.

June 2012

N
o

T 
A

C
H

Ie
Ve

D

Site layout complete, concept 
plans now being developed. 
Site plan and concepts to be 
presented at August 2012 
Council meeting for adoption.

Key Strategic Objective 14: Ensure that the community has access to a range of educational opportunities to 
maximise their potential

Universal 
Access to 
15 Hours 
Kindergarten

Upgrade and 
expand early years’ 
facilities

Increased 
capacity for more 
places

As per action 
plan

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Refurbishment and expansion 
projects are progressed 
satisfactorily, as shown by 
several successful funding 
applications under the 
Children’s Facilities Capital 
Program.

Key Strategic Objective 17: Invest in our young people

Youth Strategy Complete 
construction of 
skate park and 
surrounding areas 
at CB Smith 
Reserve 

Implementation 
according to 
agreed project 
plan milestones 
and deliverables

Progress report 
to Council not 
later than June 
2012

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Stage 1 completed and skate 
park open for public use. Stage 
2 planning has commenced 
and proposes additional skate 
park infrastructure and some 
Parkour training elements. 

Youth Strategy Continue 
implementing the 
oxYgen Project, 
through clarifying 
and defining 
preferred models 
for delivering 
youth spaces and 
activities, with a 
view to both long 
and short-term 
solutions

Site selected. 
Further 
development of 
the venue option/s 
for youth space 
and models for 
delivery of services 
and activities 
(preliminary design 
and partners 
identified).

 Dec 2011

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

At the 7 December Council 
meeting, Council approved 4–8 
Gaffney Street as the preferred 
site for a permanent youth 
facility and resolved to prepare 
detailed master plan for the site 
using prefabricated modular 
buildings. Council endorsed the 
sale of 75 Albion St, Brunswick.

Key Strategic Objective 18: Improve service to citizens

Code of Good 
Governance

Develop an 
Advocacy Plan, 
including prioritising 
which items to 
advocate for, and 
how, in 2011–12

Implementation of 
a Advocacy Plan

As per agreed 
plan

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Advocacy Plan developed and 
adopted by Council. All priority 
1A items have been scoped by 
officers.
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Key Strategic Activity Measure Target Result Comment

Initiative Action

Key Strategic Objective 18: Improve service to citizens

Continuous 
Improvement 
Policy

Reduce statutory 
timelines for 
planning permit 
applications 
and improve 
customer service 
by implementing 
actions identified 
in the Urban 
Development 
Branch Service 
Plan 2011–12

Percentage of 
planning and 
subdivision 
applications 
determined 
within statutory 
timeframe

Demonstrate 
improvement 
from 40% 
towards 60% 
of planning and 
subdivision 
planning permit 
applications 
determined 
within 60 
statutory days

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

The overall average timeframes 
for all planning decisions 
reduced from 77 to 44 statutory 
days in 2011–12 – a 43% 
improvement.  Decisions within 
statutory timeframes, improved 
from 40% to 62%, thus 
exceeding the target. 

Customer 
Service Strategy

ensure that all 
inquiries and 
complaints are 
dealt with promptly 
and thoroughly

Proportion 
of requests 
completed on 
time

>80%

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D obtained a result of 88%.

Key Strategic Objective 19: Align the financial resources of Council to meet the needs of the community now and 
into the future

Financial 
Strategy

ensure budget 
outcomes are in 
accordance with 
Five Year Financial 
Plan

1. Annual 
Budget 
reviewed by 
the public and 
council

2. VAGo 
sustainability 
measures

3. Audit report

1. Budget 
approved 
by August 
2011

2. Keep within 
sustainability 
limits

3. Unqualified 
approval

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

2011–12 Budget adopted by 
Council in June 2011.

Unqualified approval obtained 
from the Auditor-General 
for Moreland City Council’s 
2010–11 annual accounts.

The Auditor-General assessed 
Moreland’s long term financial 
sustainability as low risk, based 
on Measure No. 2.

Key Strategic Objective 20: Leverage technology to improve service delivery

eGovernment 
Strategy

Improve community 
access to Council 
services

Proportion of 
online versus 
non-online 
transactions 
for common 
processes 
available online 
via the Council 
website

30% 
(measured in 
June 2012)

A
C

H
Ie

Ve
D

Annual (online) increase over 
previous year of 119% in 
Building and Planning application 
payments, 29% in invoice 
payments (Carelink) (330% for 
pay-by-phone),  68% in licence/
permit renewal payments (230% 
for pay-by-phone), 27%  in 
customer requests, 126% in 
easyBiz forms used, 450% in 
green waste bin payments; new 
online capability for planning 
applications implemented in 
June; new production mobile 
web platform (with limited 
forms) went live in June; online  
payments for compost bins went 
live in June.

performance statement (cont.)
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Initiative Action

Key Strategic Objective 21: Align and implement organisational plans

Council Planning 
Process

Deliver Capital 
Works Program  

1. Completion of 
projects

2. expenditure of 
budget

1. At least 
90%

2. At least 
90%

N
o

T 
A

C
H

Ie
Ve

D

Major building projects delayed 
as reported to Council in 
June 2012. open space 
renewal projects delayed to 
allow appropriate community 
consultation and in line with 
available resourcing. Note 
that two RoW jobs were 
placed on hold due to RoW 
bluestone decision review, 
and one drainage and road 
reconstruction job placed 
on hold during works due to 
resident concerns.

Council Planning 
Process

oversight, 
monitoring and 
reporting of 
the delivery of 
operating projects 
across Council

1. Completion of 
projects

2. expenditure of 
budget

1. At least 
90%

2. At least 
90%

N
o

T 
A

C
H

Ie
Ve

D

end of year reporting has not 
yet been completed; however, 
it is expected that completion 
rates of projects will be closer to 
80%. expenditure of budget will 
be closer to 70%. The State of 
the Projects Report (September 
2012) will provide exact figures. 

Project non-completion is due 
to multiple factors, including 
resourcing and scoping issues. 
expenditure of budget is tied to 
project non-completion.

Key Strategic Objective 22: Foster a motivated, responsive, innovative, performance-oriented workplace culture

Service Unit 
Planning

Assist in the 
implementation 
of service unit 
plans based on 
Results Based 
Accountability 
(RBA) model to 
drive improved 
performance

1. Data 
development 
actions 
from RBA 
workshops 
in service 
unit plans 
implemented 

2. Baseline 
measurement 
data obtained 
where feasible

1.  All data 
development 
actions 
implemented 
by June 2012

2. Relevant 
performance 
measurement 
baseline 
reported at  
30 June 
2012

N
o

T 
A

C
H

Ie
Ve

D

ongoing work has occurred 
throughout the year to 
establish base data for Results 
Based Accountability (RBA) 
performance measures. This 
work will continue into 2012–13.
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Category Proposed Indicator Indicator definitions and comments 2010 2011 2012

1. Average rates 
and charges per 
assessment

Rates and charges declared as being 
receivable, in the calculations for the adopted 
rates, at the beginning of the year, including:

general rates and charges declared under SS. 
160, 161, 161A of the Local Government Act 
1989; municipal charges and services rates and 
charges (i.e. garbage services) levied under SS. 
159 and 162 respectively; and supplementary 
rates declared divided by the number of 
assessments used in the calculation of the 
adopted rate (i.e. when the rate is struck).

$1264.56 $1360.23 1451.58

2. Average rates 
and charges 
per residential 
assessment

Rates and charges declared for all residential 
assessments (as per the definition in 1. above, 
except for assessments only) divided by the 
number of residential assessments.

$1186.05 $1275.78 1354.65

S
U

S
TA

IN
A

B
IL

IT
Y

1. Average liabilities 
per assessment

Total liabilities as per the published financial 
statements (i.e. AAS27);

less items held in trust (reflected in assets also 
held);

divided by the number of assessments used in 
the calculation of the adopted rate (i.e. when the 
rate is struck).

$742.64 $866.41 1242.66

2. operating result 
per assessment

operating result per financial statements (i.e. 
AAS27);

divided by the number of assessments used in 
the calculation of the adopted rate (i.e. when the 
rate is struck).

$145.18 $72.62 -21.16

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S

1. Average operating 
expenditure per 
assessment

operating expenditure per the financial 
statements (i.e. AAS27) (including asset sales 
and depreciation);

divided by the number of assessments used in 
the calculation of the adopted rate (i.e. when the 
rate is struck).

$1800.95 $1956.37 2230.83

2. Community 
satisfaction 
rating for overall 
performance 
generally of Council

Council result from the Annual Community 
Satisfaction Survey for Local Governments 
(Chart one: Summary of Results – Result No. 1) 
coordinated by the Local Government Division.

67% 63% 62%

victorian Government performance indicators
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Category Proposed Indicator Indicator definitions and comments 2010 2011 2012

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S

1. Average capital 
expenditure per 
assessment 

Amount capitalised to the balance sheet and 
contributions by a local government to major 
assets not owned by the local government, 
including expenditure on:

capital renewal of existing assets which returns 
the service potential or the life of the asset to 
that which it had originally;

capital expansion which extends an existing 
asset at the same standard as currently enjoyed 
by residents to a new group of users;

capital upgrade which upgrades an existing 
asset to provide a higher level of service or 
expenditure that will increase the life of the asset 
beyond that which it had originally;

divided by the number of assessments used in 
the calculation of the adopted rate (i.e. when the 
rate is struck).

Note: exactly what is included, as capital 
expenditure will vary according to the local 
government’s policy in defining the ‘asset’  
and its ‘life’.

$421.44 $361.25 433.42

2. Renewal gap. 
Renewal and 
maintenance gap

Ratio of current spending on renewal to the 
long-term Average Annual Asset Consumption 
(AAAC) 26%.

Ratio of current spending on renewal plus 
maintenance to AAAC plus maintenance 
35%. The AAAC is the amount of a local 
government’s asset base consumed during a 
year based on current replacement cost (i.e. 
cost or fair value) divided by useful life, and 
totalled for each and every infrastructure asset.

83%

89%

69%

80%

60%

78%

G
O

V
E

R
N

A
N

C
E

1. Community 
satisfaction rating 
for Council’s 
advocacy and 
community 
representation on 
key local issues. 
(Indexed mean)

Council result from the Annual Community 
Satisfaction Survey for Local Governments 
(Chart 1: Summary of Results – Result No 2) 
coordinated by the Local Government Division.

66% 61% 56%

2. Community 
satisfaction rating 
for Council’s 
engagement in 
decision-making 
on key local issues. 
(Indexed mean)

Council result from the Annual Community 
Satisfaction Survey for Local Governments 
(Chart 1: Summary of Results – Result No 3) 
coordinated by the Local Government Division.

64% 60% 55%

victorian Government performance indicators (cont.)
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Artist’s impression of a section of the 
Brunswick Baths redevelopment.
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a plain english Guide to the Financial report

1. intrODuctiOn 
The financial report is a key report 
presented by the local government 
of Moreland. It shows how Council 
performed financially during the 
2011–12 financial year and the overall 
position at the end of the financial year 
(30 June 2012).

Council’s financial report complies 
with Australian Accounting Standards, 
other authoritative pronouncements of 
the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board, the Local Government Act 1989, 
and the Local Government (Finance and 
Reporting) Regulations 2004. Particular 
terms required by the Standards may 
not be familiar to some readers. Further, 
Council is a ‘not-for-profit’ organisation 
and some of the generally-recognised 
terms used in private sector company 
reports are not appropriate to  
Council’s reports. 

Council is committed to accountability. 
It is in this context that a plain english 
guide has been developed to assist 
readers to understand and analyse the 
financial report. 

2. what is cOntaineD in the 
annual financial repOrt? 
Council’s financial report has two 
main sections; namely, the report and 
the notes. There are four statements 
and 44 notes. These are prepared by 
Council’s staff, examined by the  
Council Audit Committee and by 
Council, and then audited by the 
Victorian Auditor-General. 

The four statements are included in the 
first few pages of the report. They are 
the Comprehensive Income Statement, 
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes 
in equity and Cashflow Statement. 

The notes detail Council’s accounting 
policies and the make up of values 
contained in the statements. 

3. cOmprehensive incOme 
statement 
The comprehensive income statement 
shows: 
•	 The	sources	of	Council’s	revenue	

under various income headings.
•	 The	expenses	incurred	in	running	

Council during the year.

The expenses relate only to the 
‘operations’ and do not include the cost 
associated with the purchase of or the 
building of assets. While asset purchase 
costs are not included in the expenses 
there is an item for ‘depreciation’. This 
amount is the value of the assets used 
up during the year. 

The key figure to look at is the profit or 
(loss) of Council for the year. A profit 
means that the revenue was greater 
than the expenses and a loss means 
that the expenses were greater than  
the revenue. 

4. Balance sheet 
The balance sheet is a snapshot of  
the financial situation as at 30 June.  
It shows what Council owns as assets 
and what it owes as liabilities. Towards 
the bottom of the balance sheet is a 
line showing net assets. This is the net 
worth of Council, which has been built 
up over many years. 

The assets and liabilities are separated 
into current and non-current. Current 
means those assets or liabilities, which 
will fall due in the next 12 months. 

The components of the balance sheet 
are described here. 

4.1 Current and Non-current 
Assets 
•	 Cash	and	other	financial	assets	

includes cash and investments, 
i.e. cash held in the bank and in 
petty cash, and the market value of 
Council’s investments.

•	 Receivables	are	monies	owed	to	
Council by ratepayers and others. 

•	 Non-current	financial	assets	
represent the value of shares held 
by Council. 

•	 Investment	property	represents	the	
value of property owned by Council 
as investment. 

•	 Property,	infrastructure,	plant	and	
equipment is the largest component 
of Council’s worth and represents 
the value of all the land, buildings, 
roads, vehicles, equipment and 
so on, which has been built up by 
Council over many years.

4.2 Current and Non-Current 
Liabilities 
•	 Payables	are	those	to	whom	

Council owes money as at 30 June. 
•	 Provisions	include	accrued	long	

service and annual leave owed to 
employees. 

•	 Trust	funds	represent	monies	held	 
in trust by Council. 

•	 Loans	represent	Council’s	
outstanding borrowings.

4.3 Net Assets 
This term is used to describe the 
difference between the value of total 
assets and the value of total liabilities.  
It represents the net worth of Council  
as at 30 June. 

4.4 Total Equity 
This always equals net assets. It is 
made up of the following components: 
•	 Asset	revaluation	reserve	is	the	

difference between the previously 
recorded value of assets and their 
current valuations. 

•	 General	reserves	are	allocations	of	
the accumulated surplus to specific 
activities. 

•	 Accumulated	surplus	is	the	value	 
of all net assets accumulated  
over time.

5. statement Of changes in 
eQuity 
During the course of the year, the value 
of total ratepayers’ equity as set out 
in the balance sheet changes. This 
statement shows the values of such 
changes and how these changes arose. 

The main reasons for a change in equity 
stem from: 
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•	 The	‘profit	or	loss’	from	operations,	
described in the statement as 
operating surplus or (deficit) for  
the year.

•	 The	use	of	monies	from	Council’s	
reserves.

•	 Revaluation	of	the	assets;	this	 
takes place on a regular basis. It 
also occurs when existing assets 
are taken up in the books for the 
first time. 

6. cashflOw statement 
The cashflow statement summarises 
Council’s cash payments and cash 
receipts for the year. This statement is 
presented according to a very specific 
accounting standard and needs some 
care in analysis. The values may differ 
from those shown in the income 
statement as it is prepared on a cash 
accounting basis. 

Cash in this statement refers to bank 
deposits and other forms of highly 
liquid investments that can readily 
be converted to cash, such as cash 
invested with funds managers. 

Council’s cash arises from, and is used 
in, three main areas: 
•	 Cashflows	from	operating	activities:	
– Receipts – all cash received into 

Council’s bank account from 
ratepayers and others who owed 
money to Council. Receipts also 
include the interest earnings from 
Council’s cash investments. It does 
not include the costs associated 
with the sale of assets. 

–  Payments – all cash paid by Council 
from its bank account to staff, 
creditors and other persons. It does 
not include the costs associated 
with the creation of assets. 

•	 Cashflows	from	investing	activities	
 – this section shows the cash 

invested in the creation or purchase 
of property, infrastructure, plant  
and equipment assets and the  
cash received from the sale of  
these assets. 

•	 Cashflows	from	financing	activities	
 – this is where the receipt and 

repayment of borrowed funds  
are recorded. 

The bottom line of the cashflow 
statement is the cash at end of financial 
year. This shows the capacity of 
Council to meet its cash debts and 
other liabilities. 

7. nOtes tO the accOunts 
The notes are a very important and 
informative section of the report. 
The accounting standards are not 
prescriptive in a lot of issues. Therefore, 
to enable the reader to understand 
the basis on which the values shown 
in the statements are established 
it is necessary to provide details of 
Council’s accounting policies. These 
are described in Note 1. 

Apart from the accounting policies, the 
notes also give details behind many 
of the summary figures contained in 
the statements. The note numbers are 
shown beside the relevant items in the 
comprehensive income statement, 
balance sheet and the cashflow 
statement. 

Where Council wishes to disclose 
other information, which cannot be 
incorporated into the statements, then 
this is shown in the notes. 

other notes include: 
•	 the	cost	of	the	various	functions	of	

Council
•	 the	break	down	of	expenses,	

revenues, reserves and other assets 
•	 contingent	liabilities	
•	 transactions	with	persons	related	to	

Council 
•	 financial	performance	indicators.	

The notes should be read at the same 
time as, and together with, the other 
parts of the financial statements to get 
a clear picture of the accounts. 

8. stanDarD statements 
The standard statements section 
provides three of the four statements 
mentioned above (income statement, 
balance sheet and cashflow statement) 
together with a further statement 
(statement of capital works). 

The statement of capital works sets out 
the expenditure on creating or buying 

property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment assets by each category 
of asset. It also shows how much of 
the total has been spent on renewing, 
upgrading, expanding or creating  
new assets. 

These standard statements provide  
a comparison between the actual 
results for the year and the budget  
that was set at the start of the year.  
All major differences are explained in 
the accompanying notes. 

9. statements By principal 
accOunting Officer anD 
cOuncillOrs 
The Certification of the Principal 
Accounting officer is made by the 
person responsible for the financial 
management of Council that, in his/her 
opinion, the financial statements have 
met all the statutory and professional 
reporting requirements. 

The certification of Councillors is made 
by two Councillors on behalf of Council 
that, in their opinion, the financial 
statements are fair and not misleading. 

10. auDitOr general’s 
repOrt 
The Independent Audit Report 
provides the reader with an external 
and independent opinion on the 
financial statements. It confirms that 
the financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with relevant legislation 
and professional standards and that it 
represents a fair picture of the financial 
affairs of the Council. 

Council’s main office is located at:  
90 Bell Street Coburg, Victoria 3058. 

external Auditor –  
Auditor-General of Victoria 

Internal Auditor – Senior officer –  
Mr Ian Thomas 

Solicitors – Various 

Bankers – Commonwealth Bank  
of Australia 

Website address –   
www.moreland.vic.gov.au
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Note
2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Income
Rates and charges 2 (b)  100,704  92,310 
Statutory fees and fines 3  5,831  5,454 
User fees 4  11,415  13,142 
Contributions – cash 6 (a)  1,909  516 
Contributions – non-monetary assets 6 (b)  3,408  157 
Grants – recurrent 5  16,466  16,590 
Grants – non-recurrent 5  3,996  2,630 
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 7  159  105 
other income 8  5,979  5,684 
Fair value adjustments for investment property 23  (380)  894 
Total income  149,487  137,482 

Expenses
employee benefits 9  80,597  67,032 
Materials and services 10  47,335  42,637 
Bad and doubtful debts 11  842  1,300 
Depreciation and amortisation 12  20,227  19,738 
Finance costs 13  1,799  1,528 
other expenses 14  71  74 
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures accounted  
for by the equity method 15  47  262 

  
Total expenses  150,918  132,571 

  
Surplus/(deficit)  (1,431)  4,911 

Other comprehensive income
Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) reversals 28 (a)  (15,297)  -   
Comprehensive result (16,728)  4,911

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Comprehensive income statement
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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Note
2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 16  37,499  18,019 
Trade and other receivables 17  12,784  10,670 
Financial assets 18  -    9,300 
Inventories 19  123  131 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 20  4,145  -   
other assets 21  2,106  255 
Total current assets  56,657  38,375 

Non-current assets
Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method 15  1,316  1,363 
Shares in MAPS Ltd  2  2 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 22  1,445,888  1,453,700 
Investment property 23  24,780  25,160 
Total non-current assets  1,471,986  1,480,225 
Total assets  1,528,643  1,518,600 

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24  14,807  13,112 
Trust funds and deposits 25  1,325  1,221 
Provisions 26  15,193  14,609 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 27  1,745  1,443 
Total current liabilities  33,070  30,385 

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 26  1,168  922 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 27  37,918  27,288 
Trade and other payables 24  13,210  -   
Total non-current liabilities  52,296  28,210 
Total liabilities  85,366  58,595 

  
Net Assets  1,443,277  1,460,005 

Equity
Accumulated surplus  443,793  444,713 
Asset revaluation reserve 28 (a)  990,456  1,005,753 
other reserves 28 (b)  9,028  9,539 
Total Equity  1,443,277  1,460,005 

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance sheet
As at 30 June 2012
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2012 Note

 Total 
2012
$’000

Accumulated
Surplus

2012
$’000

Asset
Revaluation

Reserve
2012
$’000

Other
Reserves

2012
$’000

Balance at beginning of the financial year  1,460,005  444,713  1,005,753  9,539 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year  (1,431)  (1,431)  -    -   
Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) 28(a)  (15,297)  -    (15,297)  -   
Transfers to other reserves 28(b)  -    (3,986)  -    3,986 
Transfers from other reserves 28(b)  -    4,497  -    (4,497)
Balance at end of the financial year  1,443,277  443,793  990,456  9,028 

2011 Note

 Total 
2011
$’000

Accumulated
Surplus

2011
$’000

Asset
Revaluation

Reserve
2011
$’000

Other
Reserves

2011
$’000

Balance at beginning of the financial year  1,455,094  441,055  1,005,753  8,286 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year  4,911  4,911  -    -   
Transfers to other reserves 28(b)  -    (4,804)  -    4,804 
Transfers from other reserves 28(b)  -    3,551  -    (3,551)
Balance at end of the financial year  1,460,005  444,713  1,005,753  9,539 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

statement of Changes in equity
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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Note

2012
Inflows/

(Outflows)
$’000

2011
Inflows/

(Outflows)
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates  99,708  91,490 
Statutory fees and fines  4,699  4,489 
User charges and other fines (inclusive of GST)  7,256  9,998 
Grants (inclusive of GST)  20,828  19,552 
Developer contributions (inclusive of GST)  3,986  4,804 
Reimbursements (inclusive of GST)  1,255  873 
Interest  1,762  1,162 
Rents (inclusive of GST)  2,252  2,328 
other receipts (inclusive of GST)  2,974  1,533 
Net GST refund/payment  6,503  5,963 
Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST)  (58,854)  (48,508)
Payments to employees (including redundancies)  (67,131)  (64,095)
Additional superannuation contributions resulting from actuarial review  -    (2,703)
other payments  (153)  (73)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 29  25,085  26,813 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  (24,700)  (29,867)
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  558  252 
Payments for investment property  -    -   
(Payments for) or receipts from other financial assets  9,300  (400)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (14,842)  (30,015)

Cash flows from financing activities     

Finance costs  (1,799)  (1,528)
Trust funds and deposits  105  119 
Proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings  12,300  9,200 
Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings  (1,369)  (777)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  9,237  7,014 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  19,480  3,812 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  18,019  14,207 

  
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year     30  37,499  18,019 

Financing arrangements 31

Restrictions on cash assets 32

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Cash Flow statement
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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intrODuctiOn
(a) The Moreland City Council was established by an order of the Governor in Council on 21 June 1994 and is a body 

corporate.  
 The Council’s main office is located at 90 Bell Street, Coburg.
(b) The purpose of the Council is to:

– provide for the peace, order and good government of its municipal district
– promote the social, economic and environmental viability and sustainability of the municipal district 
– ensure that resources are used efficiently and effectively and services are provided in accordance with the Best Value 

Principles to best meet the needs of the local community
– improve the overall quality of life of people in the local community
– promote appropriate business and employment opportunities
– ensure that services and facilities provided by the Council are accessible and equitable
– ensure the equitable imposition of rates and charges
– ensure transparency and accountability in Council decision-making.

external Auditor – Auditor-General of Victoria
Internal Auditor – Ian Thomas
Solicitors
– Maddocks
– DLA Piper Australia
– elliot Stafford & Associates
– Hoeys Lawyers
– Hunt & Hunt Lawyers
– Norton Rose Australia
– Russell Kennedy
Bankers – Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Website address – www.moreland.vic.gov.au

 This financial report is a general purpose financial report that consists of a comprehensive Income Statement, Balance 
Sheet, Statement of Changes in equity, Cash Flow Statement, and notes accompanying these financial statements. The 
general purpose financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government Act 1989, and the Local Government (Finance and 
Reporting) Regulations 2004.

1 significant accOunting pOlicies

(a) Basis of accounting

 This financial report has been prepared on the accrual and going concern bases.

 This financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, except where specifically stated in notes 
1(h), 1(j), 1(l), 1(t), 1(w), 1(x) and 1(y). 

 Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year. Where appropriate, 
comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been made of any 
material changes to comparatives. 

 All entities controlled by Council, such as special committees of management, have been included in this financial report. 
All transactions between these entities and the Council have been eliminated in full. Details of entities not included in this 
financial report based on their materiality are detailed in note 44. 

(b)  Change in accounting policies

 There were no changes in accounting policy during the financial year.

notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(c) Revenue recognition

 Rates, grants and contributions
 Rates, grants and contributions (including developer contributions) are recognised as revenues when the Council obtains 

control over the assets comprising these receipts.

 Control over assets acquired from rates is obtained at the commencement of the rating year as it is an enforceable debt 
linked to the rateable property or, where earlier, upon receipt of the rates.

 A provision for doubtful debts on rates has not been established as unpaid rates represents a charge against the rateable 
property that will be recovered when the property is next sold.

 Control over granted assets is normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier notification that a grant 
has been secured, and are valued at their fair value at the date of transfer.

 Income is recognised when the Council obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution. 
It is probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the Council and the amount of the 
contribution can be measured reliably.

 Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year were obtained on condition that they be 
expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period and those conditions were undischarged at balance 
date, the unused grant or contribution is disclosed in note 5. The note also discloses the amount of unused grant or 
contribution from prior years that was expended on Council’s operations during the current year. 

 A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite service has not 
been provided at balance date.

 User fees and fines 
 User fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the 

payment is received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs.

 A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when collection in full is no longer probable.

 Sale of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure
 The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to the buyer.

 Trade and other receivables
 Receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. A provision for doubtful debts is 

recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred.

 Rental
 Rents are recognised as revenue when the payment is due or the payment is received, whichever first occurs. Rental 

payments received in advance are recognised as a prepayment until they are due.

 Interest
 Interest is recognised progressively as it is earned.

 Dividends
 Dividend revenue is recognised when the Council’s right to receive payment is established.

(d)  Trade and other receivables and inventories

 Trade and other receivables
 Receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. A provision for doubtful debts is 

recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment has occurred.

 Inventories
 Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential.

 other inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(e) Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure, intangibles

 Buildings, plant and equipment, motor vehicles, computer equipment, furniture and fittings, library books, infrastructure, 
and other assets having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over their useful lives to the Council in a 
manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets. estimates of remaining useful lives 
and residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset classes reassessed annually. Depreciation rates and 
methods are reviewed annually.

 Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are 
assigned distinct useful lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component.

 Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having a limited useful life. 

 Artworks are not depreciated. 

 Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year. 

 Major depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated: 

 Period
 Buildings 20 to 100 years
 Plant and equipment 3 to 10 years
 Motor vehicles up to 10 years
 Computer equipment 3 to 10 years
 Furniture and fittings 3 to 10 years
 Library books 3 to 10 years
 Infrastructure 
    road surface up to 30 years
    road payment (includes right-of-ways) up to 100 years
    drains up to 100 years
    footpaths (includes shared footways) up to 50 years
    kerb and channel up to 75 years
    bridges / retaining walls up to 80 years
    other structures (includes playground equipment, furniture and other road associated assets etc.) up to 100 years

(f) Repairs and maintenance

 Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the repair relates to the 
replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold, the cost is capitalised and 
depreciated. The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed. 

(g) Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are capitalised 
as part of a qualifying asset constructed by Council. except where specific borrowings are obtained for the purpose 
of specific asset acquisition, the weighted average interest rate applicable to borrowings at balance date, excluding 
borrowings associated with superannuation, is used to determine the borrowing costs to be capitalised.

 Borrowing costs include interest on bank overdrafts, interest on borrowings, and finance lease charges.

notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(h) Recognition and measurement of assets

 Acquisition
 The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as 

consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is the amount for 
which the asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

 Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, borrowing costs 
incurred during construction, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed overheads.

 The following classes of assets have been recognised in note 22. In accordance with Council’s policy, the threshold limits 
detailed below have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset class and unless otherwise stated are 
consistent with the prior year:

   Threshold Limit
   $’000
 Property 
 Land 
    land  No limit 
    land under roads  No limit 
 Buildings 
    buildings  1 
 Plant and equipment 
    Plant and equipment  3 
    Furniture and fittings  1 
    Computer equipment  1 
    Library books  1 
 Motor vehicles  3 
 Artworks  1 
 Infrastructure 
 Roads surface, drains, footpaths, kerb and channel  1 
 Road pavement  1 
 Bridges  1 
 Street furniture  10 
 Park furniture, fences and playground equipment (other structures)  5 

 Revaluation
 Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, motor 

vehicles, furniture and fittings, computer equipment, library books and artworks, are measured at their fair value, being the 
amount for which the assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 
At balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to 
ensure that each asset materially approximated its fair value. Where the carrying value materially differed from the fair 
value at balance date, the class of asset was revalued.

 In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging 
from two to three years. The valuation is performed either by experienced Council officers or independent experts.

 Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation surplus except 
to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as 
an expense, in which case, the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense. Revaluation 
decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments are included in the asset revaluation surplus for 
that class of asset, in which case, the decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments. Within 
the same class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.

 Land under roads
 Land under roads acquired after 30 June 2008 is brought to account using the fair value basis. Council does not 

recognise land under roads that it controlled prior to that period in its financial report. 

notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other 
highly-liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(j) Financial assets

 Managed funds are valued at fair value, being market value, at balance date. Any unrealised gains and losses on holdings 
at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense.

(k) Investments

 Investments (non-financial), other than investments in associates, are measured at cost.

 At balance date, Moreland City Council had a 100% interest in the Moreland energy Foundation Limited. It has assessed 
the materiality of the Moreland energy Foundation Limited annual accounts and determined that the foundation will be 
consolidated into its financial statements. As such, it is not currently necessary to disclose the foundation’s accounts 
on a four column, parent and consolidated basis, as they are not material. The current contract of service which exists 
between Moreland City Council and Moreland energy Foundation Limited expires on 30 June 2015.

(l) Accounting for investments in associates

 Council’s investment in associates is accounted for by the equity method as the Council has the ability to influence rather 
than control the operations of the entities. The investment is initially recorded at the cost of acquisition and adjusted 
thereafter for post-acquisition changes in the Council’s share of the net assets of the entities. Council has an interest in 
Regional Kitchen Pty Ltd and RFK Pty Ltd Trading as Community Chef. The Council’s share of the financial result of the 
entities is recognised in the comprehensive income statement.

(m) Tender deposits and trust funds

 Amounts received as tender deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as Trust funds until 
they are returned or forfeited (refer to note 25).

 Separate and distinct Trust Funds are maintained for all monies held under Trust Deed arrangements. Trust Funds are 
classified as current liabilities (refer to note 25). 

(n) Employee benefits

 Wages and salaries
 Liabilities for wages and salaries and rostered days off are recognised and measured as the amount unpaid at balance 

date and include appropriate oncosts such as workers’ compensation and payroll costs.

 Annual leave
 Annual leave entitlements are accrued on a pro rata basis in respect of services provided by employees up to balance date. 

 Annual leave expected to be paid within 12 months is measured at nominal value based on the amount, including 
appropriate oncosts, expected to be paid when settled.

 Annual leave expected to be paid later than one year has been measured at the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflows to be made for these accrued entitlements. Commonwealth bond rates are used for discounting future 
cash flows.

 Long service leave
 Long service leave entitlements payable are assessed at balance date having regard to expected employee remuneration 

rates on settlement, employment related oncosts and other factors including accumulated years of employment, on 
settlement, and experience of employee departure per year of service.

 Long service leave expected to be paid within 12 months is measured at nominal value based on the amount expected 
to be paid when settled. 

 Long service leave expected to be paid later than one year has been measured at the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made for these accrued entitlements. Commonwealth bond rates are used for discounting 
future cash flows.

notes to the Financial report
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1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(n) Employee benefits (cont.)

 Classification of employee benefits
 An employee benefit liability is classified as a current liability if the Council does not have an unconditional right to defer 

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the period. This would include all annual leave and 
unconditional long service leave entitlements.

 Superannuation
 The superannuation expense for the reporting year is the amount of the statutory contribution the Council makes to the 

superannuation plan which provides benefits to its employees together with any movements (favourable/unfavourable) in 
the position of any defined benefits schemes. Details of these arrangements are recorded in note 33.

 Retirement gratuities
 Retirement gratuities were provided to certain employees who were, prior to the formation of Moreland City Council, 

employed by the City of Brunswick. The liability represents payment amounts calculated on the basis of achieved levels 
of available sick leave. At balance date, the liability is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows to be 
made for this entitlement.

(o) Leases

 Finance leases
 Leases of assets where substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset, are transferred to the 

Council are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the 
fair value of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease 
payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the interest expense. Leased assets are depreciated 
on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives to the Council where it is likely that the Council will obtain ownership 
of the asset or over the term of the lease, whichever is the shorter. Council has no finance leases at this time.

 Operating leases
 Lease payments for operating leases are required by the accounting standard to be recognised on a straight line basis, 

rather than expensed in the years in which they are incurred. operating leases which derive income for Council are 
recognised on a straight line basis, rather than being recorded as income at the time of receipt. This treatment reflects the 
pattern of benefits provided by the Council.

(p) Allocation between current and non-current

 In the determination of whether an asset or liability is current or non-current, consideration is given to the time when each 
asset or liability is expected to be settled. The asset or liability is classified as current if it is expected to be settled within 
the next 12 months, being the Council’s operational cycle, or if the Council does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

(q) Agreements equally proportionately unperformed

 The Council does not recognise assets and liabilities arising from agreements that are equally proportionately 
unperformed in the balance sheet. Such agreements are recognised on an ‘as incurred’ basis.

(r) Website costs

 Costs in relation to websites are charged as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(s) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the Australian Tax office. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown 
inclusive of GST.

 Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and 
financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
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1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(t) Impairment of assets

 At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any indication 
that these assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher 
of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the 
assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the comprehensive income statement, unless the asset 
is carried at the revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation surplus 
in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation 
surplus for that same class of asset.

(u) Rounding

 Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. Figures in 
the financial statement may not equate due to rounding.

(v) Non-current assets held for sale

 A non-current asset held for sale (including disposal groups) is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell, and are not subject to depreciation. Non-current assets, disposal groups and related liabilities assets 
are treated as current and classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the 
asset’s sale (or disposal group sale) is expected to be completed within 12 months from the date of classification.

(w) Investment property

 Investment property, comprising freehold commercial properties, is held to generate long-term rental yields. Investment 
property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefit in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset 
will flow to the Council. Subsequent to initial recognition at cost, investment property is carried at fair value, determined 
annually by independent valuers. Changes to fair value are recorded in the comprehensive income statement in the 
period that they arise. Rental income from the leasing of investment properties is recognised in the comprehensive 
income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(x) Financial guarantees

 Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is initially 
measured at fair value, and if there is material increase in the likelihood that the guarantee may have to be exercised, at 
the higher of the amount determined in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate. In the determination of fair 
value, consideration is given to factors including the probability of default by the guaranteed party and the likely loss to 
Council in the event of default. 

notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012



78

M
O

RE
LA

N
D 

CI
TY

 C
O

U
N

CI
L 

AN
N

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
2

1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(y) Pending Accounting Standards

 The following Australian Accounting Standards have been issued or amended, and are applicable to the Council but are 
not yet effective.

 They have not been adopted in preparation of the financial statements at reporting date.

Standard / 
Interpretation

Summary Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods beginning or 
ending on

Impact on Local 
Government financial 
statements

AASB 9: Financial 
Instruments and 
AASB 2009–11: 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 
4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 
139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 10 & 12]

These standards are applicable retrospectively 
and amend the classification and measurement 
of financial assets. Council has not yet 
determined the potential impact on the financial 
statements. Specific changes include:
– Simplifying the classifications of financial 

assets into those carried at amortised cost 
and those carried at fair value

– Removing the tainting rules associated with 
held-to-maturity assets

– Simplifying the requirements for embedded 
derivatives

– Removing the requirements to separate 
and fair value embedded derivatives for 
financial assets carried at amortised cost

– Allowing an irrevocable election on initial 
recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are 
not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income. Dividends in respect of these 
investments that are a return on investment 
can be recognised in profit or loss and 
there is no impairment or recycling on 
disposal of the instrument

– Reclassifying financial assets where there is 
a change in an entity’s business model as 
they are initially classified based on:

a. The objective of the entity’s business model 
for managing the financial assets; and

b. The characteristics of the contractual cash 
flows.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

These changes are 
expected to provide 
some simplification in 
the accounting for and 
disclosure of financial 
instruments

AASB 12 Disclosure 
of Interests in other 
entities

This standard requires disclosure of information 
that enables users of financial statements to 
evaluate the nature of, and risks associated 
with, interests in other entities and the effects of 
those interests on the financial statements. This 
standard replaces the disclosure requirements 
in AASB 127 and AASB 131.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

Not-for-profit entities 
are not permitted to 
apply this Standard 
prior to the mandatory 
application date. The 
AASB is assessing the 
applicability of principles 
in AASB 12 in a not-for-
profit context. 

As such, impact will 
be assessed after the 
AASB’s deliberation.
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Standard / 
Interpretation

Summary Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods beginning or 
ending on

Impact on Local 
Government financial 
statements

AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement

This standard outlines the requirements for 
measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities 
and replaces the existing fair value definition 
and guidance in other AASs. AASB 13 includes 
a ‘fair value hierarchy’ which ranks the valuation 
technique inputs into three levels using 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities; other observable 
inputs; and unobservable inputs.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

Disclosure for fair 
value measurements 
using unobservable 
inputs are relatively 
onerous compared 
to disclosure for fair 
value measurements 
using observable 
inputs. Consequently, 
the standard may 
increase the disclosures 
for public sector 
entities that have 
assets measured 
using depreciated 
replacement cost.

AASB 119 employee 
Benefits

In this revised standard for defined benefit 
superannuation plans, there is a change 
to the methodology in the calculation of 
superannuation expenses, in particular 
there is now a change in the split between 
superannuation interest expense (classified 
as transactions) and actuarial gains and 
losses (classified as ‘other economic flows – 
other movements in equity’) reported on the 
comprehensive operating statement.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

Not-for-profit entities 
are not permitted to 
apply this standard 
prior to the mandatory 
application date. 

While the total 
superannuation 
expense is 
unchanged, the 
revised methodology 
is expected to have 
a negative impact on 
the net result from 
transactions of the 
general government 
sector and for those few 
Victorian public sector 
entities that report 
superannuation defined 
benefit plans.

AASB 128 Investments 
in Associates and Joint 
Ventures

This revised standard sets out the requirements 
for the application of the equity method when 
accounting for investments in associates and 
joint ventures.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

Not-for-profit entities 
are not permitted to 
apply this standard 
prior to the mandatory 
application date. The 
AASB is assessing the 
applicability of principles 
in AASB 128 in a not-
for-profit context. 

As such, impact will 
be assessed after the 
AASB’s deliberation.

1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(y) Pending Accounting Standards (cont.)
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Standard / 
Interpretation

Summary Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods beginning or 
ending on

Impact on Local 
Government financial 
statements

AASB 2009-11 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 
4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 
139, 1023 and 1038 
and Interpretations 10 
and 12]

This standard gives effect to consequential 
changes arising from the issuance of AASB 9.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

No significant impact 
is expected from 
these consequential 
amendments on entity 
reporting.

AASB 2010-7 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 
4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 
108, 112, 118, 120, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 
132, 136, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 
12, 19 & 127]

These consequential amendments are in 
relation to the introduction of AASB 9.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

No significant impact 
is expected from 
these consequential 
amendments on entity 
reporting.

AASB 2011-4 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards to 
Remove Individual 
Key Management 
Personnel Disclosure 
Requirements  
[AASB 124]

This standard amends AASB 124 Related 
Party Disclosures by removing the disclosure 
requirements in AASB 124 in relation to 
individual key management personnel (KMP).

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

No significant impact 
is expected from 
these consequential 
amendments on entity 
reporting.  

AASB 2011-7 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
the Consolidation and 
Joint Arrangements 
Standards  
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 
2009-11, 101, 107, 
112, 118, 121, 124, 
132, 133, 136, 138, 
139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 5, 9, 16 
& 17]

This standard outlines consequential changes 
arising from the issuance of the five ‘new 
Standards’ to other Standards. For example, 
references to AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements are amended to 
AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
or AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements, 
and references to AASB 131 Interests in Joint 
Ventures are deleted as that standard has 
been superseded by AASB 11 and AASB 128 
(August 2011).

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

No significant impact 
is expected from 
these consequential 
amendments on entity 
reporting.  

1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(y) Pending Accounting Standards (cont.)
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Standard / 
Interpretation

Summary Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods beginning or 
ending on

Impact on Local 
Government financial 
statements

AASB 2011-8

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 13 

[AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 
9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 
101, 102, 108, 110, 
116, 117, 118, 119, 
120, 121, 128, 131, 
132, 133, 134, 136, 
138, 139, 140, 141, 
1004, 1023 & 1038 
and Interpretations 2, 
4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 
131 & 132]

This amending standard makes consequentical 
changes to a range of Standards and 
Interpretations arising from the issuance of 
AASB 13. In particular, this standard replaces 
the existing definition and guidance of fair value 
measurements in other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

Disclosures for fair 
value measurements 
using unobservable 
inputs is potentially 
onerous, and may 
increase disclosures 
for assets measured 
using depreciated 
replacement cost.

AASB 2011-9

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – 
Presentation of Items of 
other Comprehensive 
Income 

[AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 
112, 120, 121, 132, 
133, 134, 1039 & 
1049]

The main change resulting from this standard 
is a requirement for entities to group items 
presented in other comprehensive income 
(oCI) on the basis of whether they are 
potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss 
subsequently (reclassification adjustments). 
These amendments do not remove the 
option to present profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income in two statements, 
nor change the option to present items of oCI 
either before tax or net of tax.

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 Jan 2012

This amending standard 
could change the 
current presentation 
of ‘other economic 
flows- other movements 
in equity’ that will be 
grouped on the basis 
of whether they are 
potentially reclassifiable 
to profit or loss 
subsequently.

No other significant 
impact will be expected.

AASB 2011-10

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 119 (September 
2011) 

[AASB 1, AASB 8, 
AASB 101, AASB 
124, AASB 134, AASB 
1049 & AASB 2011-8 
and Interpretation 14]

This standard makes consequential changes 
to a range of other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretaion arising from the 
issuance of AASB 119 employee Benefits. 

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013.

No significant impact 
is expected from 
these consequential 
amendments on entity 
reporting.  

1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(y) Pending Accounting Standards (cont.)
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1 significant accOunting pOlicies (cOnt.)

(z) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities and commitments

 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed by way of a note 
and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST 
receivable or payable respectively.

 Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and inclusive 
of the GST payable.

notes to the Financial report
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2 (a) unDerlying surplus/(Deficit)

Profit/(loss)  (1,431)  4,911 
Less
Capital grants  1,837  1,878 
Capital contribution (cash)  1,815  903 
Non-cash developer contributions  3,407  157 
open Space Contribution  3,986  4,804 
Add
Defined Benefit Call  13,210  2,703 

  
Underlying surplus/(deficit)  734  (128)

The reported profit/(loss) of ($1.431) million for 2012 (2011: $4.911 million) includes once-
off and committed for capital expenditure items.

The Council’s defined underlying surplus/(deficit) represents the Council’s determined 
sustainable operating result, which has been calculated after the exclusion of once-off and 
committed for capital expenditure items, as per above. The concept of underlying surplus/
(deficit) is not defined in Australian Accounting Standards.

Non-cash developer contributions, open space contributions and defined benefit calls are 
items of a council determined once-off nature, whilst capital grants and contributions are 
excluded due to the fact that those funds are not available for day-to-day use.

Compared to last year’s statements, two additional items are included in the consideration 
of underlying surplus/(deficit). The Vision Super Defined Benefit Call is considered a 
substantial item that is of a non-current nature; the open space contributions are similar to 
other capital contributions as they are transferred to reserves for future asset improvement 
works on the resort and recreational lands. Comparative figures for 2011 have been 
adjusted to reflect the new items.

2 (b) rates anD charges

Council uses Capital Improved Value (CIV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within 
the municipal district. The CIV of a property is the total market value of the land plus 
buildings and other improvements. 

The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2011–12 was $34.086 billion 
(2010/2011 $33.864 billion). The 2011–12 rate in the CIV dollar was 0.002666  
(2010–2011, 0.002503).

Residential/commercial/industrial  91,508  85,621 
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments  1,811  666 
Garbage charge  7,052  5,705 
Special rates and charges  333  318 
Total rates and charges  100,704  92,310 

The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal 
district was 1 January 2012, and the valuation will be first applied in the rating year 
commencing 1 July 2012.

The date of the previous general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal 
district was 1 January 2010, and the valuation first applied to the rating period commencing 
1 July 2010.
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4 user fees

(a) Leisure centre fees  241  1,031 
Resort and recreation fees*  3,986  4,804 
Fees – ticket machines / parking meters  156  188 
Aged services fees  2,188  2,515 
Registration fees  972  858 
Road occupancy charges  524  859 
Building services fees  410  416 
Valuation fees/supplementary charges  118  241 
Garbage and waste collection  982  233 
other fines  269  366 
Right-of-way closures  166  7 
other fees and charges  1,403  1,624 
Total user fees  11,415  13,142 
* Resort and recreation fees received during the year are transferred to other reserves 
pursuant to section 18 of the Subdivision Act 1988 (Resort and Recreation Reserve) (refer 
note 28 (b)).

(b) Ageing analysis of contractual receivables
Please refer to the Ageing of Trade and other Receivables table in Note 37 (e) for the 
ageing analysis of contractual receivables.

notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

3 statutOry fees anD fines

Infringements and costs  3,625  3,433 
PeRIN court recoveries  250  123 
Town planning fees  1,015  1,001 
Land information certificates  94  111 
Permits  847  786 
Total statutory fees and fines  5,831  5,454 
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

5 grants
Grants were received in respect of the following:

Summary of grants
Federally-funded grants 2,805 2,714
State-funded grants 17,657 16,506

Total 20,462 19,220

Recurrent
Victorian Grants Commission – general purpose  5,895  4,731 
Home help  5,280  5,264 
Maternal and child health  1,090  1,162 
Recreation  195  795 
Victorian Grants Commission – local roads  1,069  838 
Libraries  862  843 
Welfare support  -    59 
Families and children  1,468  2,107 
Food services  294  288 
Local roads and bridges  4  200 
School crossing supervisors  170  166 
environment protection  -    15 
Waste and environment  -    3 
Access for all abilities  139  119 

  
Total recurrent  16,466  16,590 

Non-recurrent
environment protection  1,436  1,917 
Recreation  1,233  496 
Business and economic services  244  -   
Families and children  90  4 
Local roads and bridges  437  10 
Waste and environment  -    140 
other culture  -    2 
Community welfare  145  -   
Community health  280  -   
Home help  131  61 

  
Total non-recurrent  3,996  2,630 
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

5 grants (cOnt.)
Conditions on grants

Grants recognised as revenue during the year that were obtained on condition that they be 
expended in a specified manner that had not occurred at balance date were:

Active recreation  743  85 
Families and children  36  88 
Business and economic services  190  -   
Home help  40  -   
Recreation  -    12 
other  -    34 
Access for all abilities  -    34 
Community health  96  40 
Waste and environment  53  41 

Total  1,158  334 

Grants which were recognised as revenue in prior years and were expended during the 
current year in the manner specified by the grantor were:

Waste and environment  40  -   
Community health  40  -   
Planning and development  -    121 
Business and economic services  -    150 
Recreation  12  30 
Families and children  88  441 
Local roads and bridges  -    292 
Maternal and child health  -    136 
Active recreation  64  866 
Access for all abilities  34  16 
other  34  19 

 312  2,071 
  

Net increase (decrease) in restricted assets resulting from grant revenues  
for the year:  846  (1,737)
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For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

6 cOntriButiOns
(a) Cash

VicRoads  199  286 
Capital  1,616  148 
other  94  82 
Total  1,909  516 

(b) Non-monetary assets
Land under roads  351  -   
Infrastructure  3,057  157 
Total  3,408  157 

  
Total contributions   5,317  673 

7 net gain/(lOss) On DispOsal Of prOperty, infrastructure, plant anD eQuipment
Proceeds of sale  558  252 
Write down of assets disposed  (399)  (147)
Total  159  105 

8 Other incOme
Interest  1,284  1,368 
Interest on rates  437  347 
Investment property rental  412  730 
other rent  1,743  1,495 
Sale of non-plant and equipment  55  70 
Legal costs  242  223 
Payroll  98  93 
employee  11  11 
Moreland energy Foundation Limited  847  842 
other  850  505 
Total other income  5,979  5,684 

9 emplOyee Benefits
Wages and salaries  52,073  49,643 
WorkCover  2,275  2,483 
Casual staff  483  582 
Annual leave and long service leave  5,994  5,222 
Superannuation  4,879  4,517 
Additional superannuation contributions resulting from actuarial review **  13,210  2,703 
Fringe benefits tax  146  153 
other employee-related costs  1,241  1,408 
Redundancy  296  321 
Total employee benefits  80,597  67,032 

** As a consequence of an actuarial review of the Vision Super Defined Benefits superannuation scheme, Council was 
required to make an additional contribution to the fund. Although the amount was not determined until late July 2012 
and the invoice is not payable until 1 July 2013, the shortfall represents the settlement of a present obligation at the end 
of the reporting period. The shortfall as of 30 June 2012 was therefore included in the ‘employee benefits’ expenditure 
for 2012. In 2011 Council also made an additional contribution to the scheme ($2.7million).
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For the Year ended 30 June 2012

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

10 materials anD services
Utilities  2,459  2,175 
Consultants  9,444  7,670 
Works contracts  80  76 
General services  19,391  17,531 
office services and supplies  4,900  5,033 
other supplies  2,336  2,262 
Materials  469  180 
Minor equipment and medical supplies  1,313  1,332 
other related costs  1,733  1,818 
Property leases and rentals  995  400 
Metropolitan Fire Brigade levy  1,819  1,563 
Council grants and sponsorships  1,122  1,372 
Insurance  1,274  1,225 

  
Total materials and services  47,335   42,637 

11 BaD anD DOuBtful DeBts
Parking fine debtors  846  1,210 
other debtors  (4)  90 
Total bad and doubtful debts  842  1,300 

12 DepreciatiOn anD amOrtisatiOn

Property
Buildings  3,957  3,694 

Plant and Equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment  229  243 
Fixtures, fittings and furniture  54  57 
Computers and telecommunications  1,691  1,845 
Motor vehicles  1,645  1,504 
Library books  800  832 

Infrastructure
Road surface  2,348  2,249 
Road pavement  2,511  2,491 
Bridges  220  217 
Footpaths and cycleways  2,215  2,127 
Drainage  925  893 
Kerb and channel  1,009  967 
other infrastructure  2,623  2,619 

Total depreciation and amortisation  20,227  19,738 
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

13 finance cOsts
Interest – borrowings  1,799  1,528 
Total finance costs  1,799  1,528 

14 Other expenses
Auditors' remuneration  65  65 
Councillors' allowances  6  9 
Total other expenses  71  74 

15 investment in assOciates
Investments in associates accounted for by the equity method are:
Council’s overall movement in investment in associates for the year was:  (47)  (262)
Total  (47)  (262)

  
Council’s total share in investment in associates  1,316   1,363  

–  RFK Pty Ltd Trading as Community Chef and Regional Kitchen Pty Ltd

Background
Investments in associates accounted for by the equity method are:
–  RFK Pty. Ltd. – Council held a 0.04% share of ownership at balance date
–  Regional Kitchen Pty. Ltd. – Council held a 7.55% share of ownership at balance date

RFK Pty Ltd Trading as Community Chef – 0.04% (based on % of total shares held)
Council’s share of accumulated surplus (deficit)

Council’s share of accumulated surplus (deficit) at start of year  -    -   
Reported surplus (deficit) for year  -    -   
Council’s share of accumulated surplus (deficit) at end of year  -    -   

Movement in carrying value of specific investment
Carrying value of investment at start of year  -    -   
Share of surplus(deficit) for year  -    -   
Carrying value of investment at end of year  -    -   

Council’s share of expenditure commitments
operating commitments  -    -   

 -    -   
Regional Kitchen Pty Ltd – 7.55%
Council’s share of accumulated surplus(deficit)

Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at start of year  1,163  1,425 
Reported surplus(deficit) for year  (47)  (18)
Share of asset revaluation – reduction in % of ownership (8.89% to 7.55%)  -    (244)
Transfers (to) from reserves  -    -   
Distributions for the year  -    -   

Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at end of year  1,116  1,163 
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notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

15 investment in assOciates (cOnt.)
Movement in carrying value of specific investment

Carrying value of investment at start of year  1,363  1,625 
Share of surplus(deficit) for year  (47)  (18)
Share of asset revaluation – reduction in % of ownership (8.89% to 7.55%)  -    (244)
Carrying value of investment at end of year  1,316  1,363 

Council’s share of expenditure commitments
operating commitments  12  25 
Capital commitments  -    -   

 12  25 

16 cash anD cash eQuivalents
Cash on hand  12  13 
Cash at bank  937  2,610 
Managed funds  -    44 
Term deposits  36,550  15,352 
Total cash and cash equivalents  37,499  18,019 
Users of the financial report should refer to Note 32 for details of restrictions on cash assets 
and note 34 for details of existing Council commitments

17 traDe anD Other receivaBles

Current
Rates debtors  7,061  6,066 
Parking infringement debtors  6,733  5,600 
Provision for doubtful debts – parking infringements  (5,135)  (4,290)
other debtors  3,992  2,982 
Provision for doubtful debts – other debtors  (444)  (530)
Net GST receivable  577  842 
Total  12,784  10,670 

18 financial assets

Current
Term deposits  -    9,300 
Total  -    9,300 

19 inventOries
Inventories held for distribution  123  131 
Total inventories  123  131 

20 nOn-current assets classifieD as helD fOr sale
Balance at beginning of financial year  -    -   
Disposals during year  -    -   
Transfers to assets held for sale  4,145  -   
Total non-current assets held for sale  4,145  -   
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

21 Other assets

Current
Prepayments  1,930  -   
Accrued income  176  255 
Total  2,106  255 

22 prOperty, infrastructure, plant anD eQuipment 

Summary
at cost  82,369  77,571 
at fair value as at 30 June 2012  1,007,675  -   
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  689,792  1,698,708 
Less accumulated depreciation  (333,948)  (322,579)
Total  1,445,888  1,453,700 

Property
Land
at cost  -    7,127 
at fair value as at 30 June 2012  866,549  -   
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  -    878,884 

 866,549  886,011 
Land under roads
at Council valuation  1,564  1,213 

 1,564  1,213 
  

Total Land  868,113  887,224 

Buildings 
at cost  -    10,316 
at fair value as at 30 June 2012  141,126  -   
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  -    130,383 
Less Accumulated depreciation  -    (3,885)
Total Buildings  141,126  136,814 

  
Total Property  1,009,239  1,024,038 

Valuation of land (excluding land under roads) and buildings was undertaken by Mr Sam 
Camilleri AAPI # 63039, a certified practicing valuer of Westlink Consulting. The valuation of 
buildings is at fair value based on current replacement cost less accumulated depreciation 
at the date of valuation. The valuation of land is at fair value, being market value based 
on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. All freehold land 
reserved for public open space is valued at a discount of 10 per cent to market value based 
on legal precedents.

Land under roads is valued at fair value. Fair value is based on Council valuations at 30 June 
2010 for land under roads in existence at that date and at the date acquired for subsequent 
acquisitions using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or unserviced) 
characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of 
infrastructure assets and services. Council, in its policy on land under roads, has agreed not 
to bring to account the value of land under roads in existence prior to 30 June 2008.
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notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

22 prOperty, infrastructure, plant anD eQuipment (cOnt.)

Plant and Equipment

Motor vehicles
at cost  14,283  13,399 
Less accumulated depreciation  (8,339)  (7,690)

 5,944  5,709 
Plant and equipment
at cost  3,698  3,247 
Less accumulated depreciation  (2,267)  (2,054)

 1,431  1,193 
Furniture and fittings
at cost  1,733  1,654 
Less accumulated depreciation  (1,420)  (1,367)

 313  287 
Computer equipment
at cost  15,027  14,077 
Less accumulated amortisation  (13,121)  (11,431)

 1,906  2,646 
Library books
at cost  10,657  9,797 
Less accumulated depreciation  (6,604)  (5,804)

 4,053  3,993 
Artworks
at cost  713  698 
Less accumulated depreciation  -    -   

 713  698 
  

Total Plant and Equipment  14,360  14,526 

Infrastructure

Road surface
at cost  2,760  1,441 
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  80,320  80,320 
Less accumulated depreciation  (12,042)  (9,696)

 71,038  72,065 
Road pavement
at cost  2,282  505 
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  275,596  275,596 
Less accumulated depreciation  (116,701)  (114,190)

 161,177  161,911 
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

22 prOperty, infrastructure, plant anD eQuipment (cOnt.)

Drains
at cost  6,209  1,787 
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  88,957  88,957 
Less accumulated depreciation  (41,256)  (40,331)

 53,910  50,413 
Footpaths
at cost  4,529  2,152 
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  94,097  94,097 
Less accumulated depreciation  (41,410)  (39,195)

 57,216  57,054 
Kerb and channel
at cost  4,226  1,019 
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  75,952  75,952 
Less accumulated depreciation  (47,466)  (46,457)

 32,712  30,514 
Bridges
at cost  781  56 
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  17,618  17,618 
Less accumulated depreciation  (5,284)  (5,064)

 13,115  12,610 
Other structures
at cost  4,913  2,682 
at fair value as at 30 June 2010  55,688  55,688 
Less accumulated depreciation  (38,038)  (35,415)

 22,563  22,955 
Total Infrastructure  411,731  407,522 

A fair value analysis of infrastructure has been conducted as at 30 June 2012. This process 
was co-ordinated by Mr Tim Provis, Certificate in Civil engineeering, Graduate Degree in 
Project Management, Senior Assets engineer and reviewed by Mrs olivia Wright, B.eng 
(Civil) and B.Com, Manager Strategic Transport & Property. The result of this process 
indicated that the movement in indices had not materially affected the carrying amounts 
disclosed. Therefore the movement in value of Council Infrastructure Assets since the last 
valuation, undertaken at 30 June 2010 is not material.

The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as 
at the date of valuation.

Works in progress
Buildings at cost  10,398  5,520 
Infrastructure at cost  107  1,439 
other plant and equipment at cost  53  655 
Total Works in progress  10,558  7,614 

  
Total property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  1,445,888  1,453,700 
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For the Year ended 30 June 2012

22 prOperty, infrastructure, plant anD eQuipment (cOnt.)

Balance at 
beginning 

of financial 
year

Acquisition 
of assets

Revaluation 
increments 

(decrements)

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 

Written 
down value 

of disposals

Impairment 
losses 

recognised 
in profit or 

loss

Transfers / 
Movements 

between 
asset type

Balance 
at end of 
financial 

year

note 28 (a) note 12

2012 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Property
land  886,011  50  (15,578)  -    283  -    (3,651)  866,549 
land under roads  1,213  351  -    -    -    -    -    1,564 
Total land  887,224  401  (15,578)  -    283  -    (3,651)  868,113 

buildings  136,814  8,482  281  3,957  -    -    (494)  141,126 
Total buildings  136,814  8,482  281  3,957  -    -    (494)  141,126 
Total property 1,024,038  8,883  (15,297)  3,957  283  -    (4,145) 1,009,239 

Plant and Equipment
motor vehicles  5,709  1,996  -    1,645  116  -    -    5,944 
plant and equipment  1,193  467  -    229  -    -    -    1,431 
furniture and fittings  287  80  -    54  -    -    -    313 
computer equipment  2,646  951  -    1,691  -    -    -    1,906 
library books  3,993  860  -    800  -    -    -    4,053 
artworks  698  15  -    -    -    -    -    713 
Total plant and 
equipment  14,526  4,369  -    4,419  116  -    -    14,360 

Infrastructure
road surface  72,065  1,321  -    2,348  -    -    -    71,038 
road pavement  161,911  1,777  -    2,511  -    -    -    161,177 
drains  50,413  4,422  -    925  -    -    -    53,910 
footpaths  57,054  2,377  -    2,215  -    -    -    57,216 
kerb and channel  30,514  3,207  -    1,009  -    -    -    32,712 
bridges/retaining walls  12,610  725  -    220  -    -    -    13,115 
other structures  22,955  2,231  -    2,623  -    -    -    22,563 
Total infrastructure  407,522  16,060  -    11,851  -    -    -    411,731 

Works in progress
buildings  5,520  -    -    -    -    -    4,878  10,398 
motor vehicles  460  -    -    -    -    -    (442)  18 
plant and equipment  148  -    -    -    -    -    (130)  18 
computer equipment  41  -    -    -    -    -    (24)  17 
infrastructure  558  -    -    -    -    -    (451)  107 
other structures  881  -    -    -    -    -    (881)  -   
artworks  6  -    -    -    -    -    (6)  -   
Total works in progress  7,614  -    -    -    -    -    2,944  10,558 

Total property, plant 
and equipment, 
infrastructure

 
1,453,700  29,312  (15,297)  20,227  399  -    (1,201)

 
1,445,888 
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22 prOperty, infrastructure, plant anD eQuipment (cOnt.)

Balance at 
beginning 

of financial 
year

Acquisition 
of assets

Revaluation 
increments 

(decrements)

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 

Written 
down value 

of disposals

Impairment 
losses 

recognised 
in profit or 

loss

Transfers / 
Movements 

between 
asset type

Balance 
at end of 

financial year

note 28 (a) note 12

2011 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Property
land  880,691  5,320  -    -    -    -    -    886,011 
land under roads  1,213  -    -    -    -    -    -    1,213 
Total land  881,904  5,320  -    -    -    -    -    887,224 

buildings  133,949  6,559  -    3,694  -    -    -    136,814 
Total buildings  133,949  6,559  -    3,694  -    -    -    136,814 
Total property 1,015,853  11,879  -    3,694  -    -    -    1,024,038 

Plant and Equipment
motor vehicles  6,339  1,011  -    1,504  137  -    -    5,709 
plant and equipment  1,149  295  -    243  8  -    -    1,193 
furniture and fittings  302  42  -    57  -    -    -    287 
computer equipment  3,765  726  -    1,845  -    -    -    2,646 
library books  3,997  828  -    832  -    -    -    3,993 
artworks  690  8  -    -    -    -    -    698 
Total plant and 
equipment  16,242  2,910  -    4,481  145  -    -    14,526 

Infrastructure
road surface  72,873  1,441  -    2,249  -    -    -    72,065 
road pavement  163,897  505  -    2,491  -    -    -    161,911 
drains  49,519  1,787  -    893  -    -    -    50,413 
footpaths  57,029  2,152  -    2,127  -    -    -    57,054 
kerb and channel  30,462  1,019  -    967  -    -    -    30,514 
bridges/retaining walls  12,771  56  -    217  -    -    -    12,610 
other structures  22,892  2,682  -    2,619  -    -    -    22,955 
Total infrastructure  409,443  9,642  -    11,563  -    -    -    407,522 

Works in progress
buildings  1,231  -    -    -    -    -    4,289  5,520 
motor vehicles  175  -    -    -    -    -    285  460 
plant and equipment  48  -    -    -    -    -    100  148 
computer equipment  42  -    -    -    -    -    (1)  41 
infrastructure  224  -    -    -    -    -    334  558 
other structures  302  -    -    -    -    -    579  881 
artworks  -    -    -    -    -    -    6  6 
Total works in 
progress  2,022  -    -    -    -    -    5,592  7,614 

Total property, plant 
and equipment, 
infrastructure

 
1,443,560  24,431  -    19,738  145  -    5,592  1,453,700 
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For the Year ended 30 June 2012

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

23 investment prOperty
Balance at beginning of financial year  25,160  24,266 
Acquisitions  -    -   
Disposals  -    -   
Fair value adjustments  (380)  894 
Balance at end of financial year  24,780  25,160 

Independent valuations of investment properties were performed at 30 June 2012 by Mr 
Brendan Sheales (AAPI), Mr Heath Bedford (AAPI) and Mr Sam Camilleri (AAPI), certified 
practicing valuers of Westlink Consulting who have recent experience in the location and 
category of the property being valued. Information required from Council was provided.

24 traDe anD Other payaBles

Current
Trade payables  8,618  6,846 
Accrued expenses  6,189  6,266 
Total trade and other payables  14,807  13,112 

Non-current   
other payables  13,210  -   

  
Total  28,017  13,112 

25 trust funDs anD DepOsits
Refundable planning deposits  347  311 
Trust funds  589  575 
Refundable civic facilities deposits  49  40 
Retention amounts  131  101 
other refundable deposits  209  194 
Total trust funds and deposits  1,325  1,221 

Council currently maintains separate and distinct Trust Funds for the Gavin environment 
Trust, the Blackburn Bequest Trust and the Inner Circle Linear Trust. These funds are held 
and administered in accordance with the Trust Deed arrangements.
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26 prOvisiOns

Annual 
leave

Long 
service 

leave
Service 
Gratuity Other Total

2012 $ ‘000       $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000
Balance at beginning of the financial year  4,908  10,559  34  30  15,531 
Additional provisions  4,390  1,896  -    -    6,286 
Amounts used  (4,019)  (1,244)  -    -    (5,263)
Increase (decrease) in the discounted amount 
arising because of time and the effect of any 
change in the discount rate  (141)  (52)  -    -    (193)
Balance at the end of the financial year  5,138  11,159  34  30  16,361 

2011
Balance at beginning of the financial year  4,576  10,185  36  20  14,817 
Additional provisions  3,836  1,522  1  23  5,382 
Amounts used  (3,484)  (1,143)  (3)  (13)  (4,643)
Increase (decrease) in the discounted amount 
arising because of time and the effect of any 
change in the discount rate  (20)  (5)  -    -    (25)
Balance at the end of the financial year  4,908  10,559  34  30  15,531 

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

(a) Employee benefits

Current                     (i)
Annual leave  5,138  4,908 
Long service leave  9,991  9,637 
Service gratuity  34  34 
other  30  30 

 15,193  14,609 
Non-current             (ii) 
Long service leave  1,168  922 

 1,168  922 
Aggregate carrying amount of employee benefits:
Current  15,193  14,609 
Non-current  1,168  922 

 16,361  15,531 

The following assumptions were adopted in measuring the present value of employee benefits:
Weighted average increase in employee costs 4.31% 4.60%
Weighted average discount rates 3.06% 5.28%
Weighted average settlement period  12  12 

(i) Current
All annual leave and the long service leave entitlements representing seven or more years of continuous service
– Short-term employee benefits, that fall due within 12 months after the end of the period 

measured at nominal value  5,522  4,643 
– other long-term employee benefits that do not fall due within 12 months after the end 

of the period measured at present value  9,671  9,966 
 15,193  14,609 

(ii) Non-current
Long service leave representing less than seven years of continuous service measured at 
present value  1,168   922 
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

27 interest-Bearing lOans anD BOrrOwings

Current
Borrowings – secured  1,745  1,443 

 1,745  1,443 
Non-current   
Borrowings – secured  37,918  27,288 

  
Total  39,663  28,731 

The maturity profile for Council’s borrowings is:

Not later than one year  1,745  1,443 
Later than one year and not later than five years  6,981  5,909 
Later than five years  30,937  21,379 
Total  39,663  28,731 

Aggregate carrying amount of interest-bearing loans and borrowings:

Current  1,745  1,443 
Non-current  37,918  27,288 
Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings  39,663  28,731 

Loans with the Westpac, NAB, ANZ and Commonwealth banks have been secured by a 
claim on future municipal rate receipts up to an amount equal to the outstanding value of 
the debt at the time of any loan default.

The Westpac loan is a 20-year variable rate loan set at a 3.75% interest rate at balance 
date. Interest and principal payments are being made on a monthly basis. This loan which 
had an original maturity date of 28 November 2026 is considerably ahead of that scheduled 
repayment date. Its closing balance at 30 June 2012 was $7.23M. 

The NAB loan is a 20-year variable rate principal and interest loan set at a 4.98% interest 
rate at balance date. This loan commenced on 24 August 2010. Its closing balance at 30 
June 2012 was $6.69M. 

The first of two loans with the ANZ bank is a 20-year loan (four year fixed rate principal and 
interest loan) set at a 6.58% interest rate ($8.69M). The second loan is a 20-year loan  
(10-year fixed rate principal and interest loan) set at a 7.3% interest rate ($4.75M). Both of 
these loans commenced on 24 June 2011. These ANZ loans largely refinanced an interest 
only loan with the NAB that existed as at 30 June 2010. 

The Commonwealth loan is a 20-year variable rate loan set at a 4.71% interest rate at 
balance date. Interest only payments were made during the financial year, since this was 
a drawdown facility until 30 June 2012. Principal and interest payments will be made on a 
monthly basis starting from July 2012. Its closing balance at 30 June 2012 was $12.3M.
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28 reserves

Balance at 
beginning 

of reporting 
period

Increment 
(decrement)

Share of 
increment 

(decrement) on 
revaluation by 

an associate

Balance at  
end of 

reporting 
period

(a) Asset revaluation surplus $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012

Property
Land  659,612  (15,578)  -    644,034 
Buildings  72,819  281  -    73,100 

 732,431  (15,297)  -    717,134 
Infrastructure
Road surface  70,019  -    -    70,019 
Road pavement  102,666  -    -    102,666 
Bridges  9,830  -    -    9,830 
Footpaths  38,365  -    -    38,365 
Drainage  22,852  -    -    22,852 
Kerb and channel  17,690  -    -    17,690 
other structures  11,900  -    -    11,900 

 273,322  -    -    273,322 
 

Total asset revaluation surplus  1,005,753  (15,297)    -    990,456 

2011

Property
Land  659,612  -    -    659,612 
Buildings  72,819  -    -    72,819 

 732,431  -    -    732,431 
Infrastructure
Road surface  70,019  -    -    70,019 
Road pavement  102,666  -    -    102,666 
Bridges  9,830  -    -    9,830 
Footpaths  38,365  -    -    38,365 
Drainage  22,852  -    -    22,852 
Kerb and channel  17,690  -    -    17,690 
other structures  11,900  -    -    11,900 

 273,322  -    -    273,322 
 

Total asset revaluation surplus  1,005,753  -    -    1,005,753 

This reserve shows the overall net increase in land, buildings and infrastructure assets as a result of revaluations applied 
over time. Revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation surplus except to the extent that an 
increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an expense, in which 
case, the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense. 
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28 reserves (cOnt.)
Balance at 
beginning 

of reporting 
period

Transfer from 
accumulated 

surplus

Transfer to 
accumulated 

surplus

Balance at  
end of 

reporting 
period

(b) Other reserves $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012

Public resort and recreation land fund 
(restricted)  7,764  3,986  (3,706)  8,044 
Car park development fund (restricted)  5  -    (5)  -   
Barkly Street traffic management (restricted)  17  -    (17)  -   
Moreland open Space Strategy  343  -    (343)  -   
Housing Strategy  614  -    -    614 
Moreland energy management reserve fund  353  -    (353)  -   
Moonee Ponds Creek development  443  -    (73)  370 

 
Total other reserves  9,539  3,986  (4,497)  9,028 

2011

Public resort and recreation land fund 
(restricted)  6,458  4,804  (3,498)  7,764 
Car park development fund (restricted)  5  -    -    5 
Barkly Street traffic management (restricted)  17  -    -    17 
Moreland open Space Strategy  343  -    -    343 
Housing Strategy  667  -    (53)  614 
Moreland energy management reserve fund  353  -    -    353 
Moonee Ponds Creek development  443  -    -    443 

 
Total other reserves  8,286  4,804  (3,551)  9,539 

The public resort and recreation land fund accumulates developers contributions paid to Council and is used to provide 
or improve recreation land and facilities.

The car park development fund provides funding for new car parks and car park redevelopment.

The Barkly Street traffic management fund provides funding for traffic management in Barkly Street.

The Moreland open Space Strategy provides funds to improve and increase the availability of open space in the 
municipality.

The Housing Strategy provides funds for the purchase of community housing projects along with other housing 
initiatives.

The Moreland energy management reserve fund provides funds for the evaluation of energy consuming fixtures and 
equipment within Council buildings and their replacement with more efficient items.

The Moonee Ponds Creek development provides funds for the revitalisation of the Moonee Ponds Creek required 
because of freeway and CityLink works. 
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

29 recOnciliatiOn Of cash flOws frOm Operating activities  
tO surplus Or Deficit

Surplus/(deficit)  (1,431)  4,911 

Depreciation/amortisation  20,227  19,737 
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure  (159)  (105)
Movement in investment in associates  47  262 
Fair value adjustments for investment property  380  (894)
Contributions – non-monetary assets  (3,408)  (157)
(Decrease) / increase in provision for doubtful debts  759  1,300 

Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (6,941)  (1,052)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (1,931)  25 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  16,704  2,049 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  8  24 
(Decrease) in provisions  830  713 

  
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  25,085  26,813 

30 recOnciliatiOn Of cash anD cash eQuivalents
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 16)  37,499  18,019 
Total reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents  37,499  18,019 

31 financing arrangements
Bank overdraft  4,000  4,000 
Used facilities  -    -   

  
Unused facilities  4,000  4,000 

32 restricteD assets
Council has cash and cash equivalents (note 16) that are subject to restrictions.  As at the 
reporting date, Council had legislative restrictions in relation to reserve funds (Recreational 
Lands Reserves).

Reserve funds (note 28)  8,044  7,786 
Total restricted assets  8,044  7,786 
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33 superannuatiOn

Post-employment Benefit

Moreland City Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local  
Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund). obligations for contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss 
when they are due. The Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of which is 
funded differently.

The Fund’s accumulation category, Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and employee contributions on a 
progressive basis. employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (9% required 
under Superannuation Guarantee Legislation). No further liability accrues to the employer as the superannuation benefits 
accruing to employees are represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund.

Defined Benefit Plan

The Fund’s Defined Benefit Plan is a multi-employer sponsored plan. As the plan’s assets and liabilities are pooled 
and are not allocated by employer, the actuary is unable to reliably allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between 
employers.  As provided under Paragraph 32 (b) of AASB 119, Moreland City Council does not use defined benefit 
accounting for these contributions.

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super)  
(a + c)  17,995  4,467 

employer contributions payable to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund  
(Vision Super) at reporting date. (b + d)  13,505  -   

Defined benefits fund
employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super)  14,176  985 

a)  14,176  985 
employer contributions payable to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund  
(Vision Super) at reporting date **  13,210  -   

b)  13,210  -   
Accumulation funds
employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super)  2,907  2,741 
employer contributions to Vision Super for disbursement to other super funds  912  741 

c)  3,819  3,482 
employer contributions payable to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund  
(Vision Super) at reporting date  222  -   

employer contributions payable to Vision Super for disbursement to other super 
funds at reporting date  73  -   

d)  295  -   
** The Local Authorities Superannuation latest 31 December 2011 actuarial 
investigation identified an unfunded liability of $406M excluding contributions tax, in 
the defined benefit fund of which Council is a member. Council was made aware 
of the expected shortfall through the year and was formally informed of its share of 
the shortfall on 2 August 2012 which amounted to $12.071M plus contributions tax 
of $2.130M – a total of $14.201M. This amount is due for payment on 1 July 2013.  
Council will consider how to meet this obligation during its 2013–14 Budget and 
Strategic Resource Plan deliberations. Council has accounted for this shortfall as of 
30 June 2012 ($13.210M) in the Comprehensive Income Statement (refer Note 9) 
and in the Balance Sheet as Trade and other payables (refer Note 24).
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34 cOmmitments
The Council has entered into the following commitments:

2012
Not later 

than 1 year

Later than 1 
year and not 

later than  
2 years

Later than 
2 years and 

not later 
than  

5 years
Later than  

5 years Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Operating
Garbage collection  6,699  7,807  25,809  4,671  44,986 
Administration  464  7  7  -    478 
Cleaning contracts for Council buildings  759  759  696  -    2,214 
Leisure centres  190  157  110  -    457 
IT systems support  1,327  1,329  1,332  -    3,988 
Recycling  (500)  (500)  (1,500)  (500)  (3,000)
Social services  -    -    -    -    -   
Consultancies  -    -    -    -    -   
Total  8,939  9,559  26,454  4,171  49,123 

Capital
Works  91  -    -    -    91 
Total  91  -    -    -    91 

2011
Not later 

than 1 year

Later than 1 
year and not 

later than  
2 years

Later than 
2 years and 

not later 
than  

5 years
Later than  

5 years Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Operating
Garbage collection  6,104  6,350  21,482  8,063  41,999 
Administration  488  441  -    -    929 
Cleaning contracts for Council buildings  862  -    -    -    862 
Leisure centres  60  -    -    -    60 
IT systems support  1,325  1,327  2,661  -    5,313 
Recycling  215  -    -    -    215 
Social services  60  -    -    -    60 
Consultancies  91  -    -    -    91 
Total  9,205  8,118  24,143  8,063  49,529 

Capital
Works  84  -    -    -    84 
Total  84  -    -    -    84 
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

35 Operating leases

(a) Operating lease commitments
At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable 
operating leases for the lease of equipment, land and buildings for use within Council’s 
activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities):

Not later than one year  941  414 
Later than one year and not later than five years  3,438  1,415 
Later than five years  296  472 

 4,675  2,301 
(b) Operating lease receivables

The Council has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property, 
consisting of surplus freehold office complexes. These properties held under operating 
leases have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between one and 10 years. All leases 
include a CPI based revision of the rental charge annually.

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than one year  1,651  1,745 
Later than one year and not later than five years  6,606  5,489 
Later than five years  24,148  1,063 

 32,405  8,297 

36 cOntingent liaBilities anD cOntingent assets

Contingent liabilities

The Council is presently involved in several confidential legal matters, which are being 
conducted through Council’s solicitors.

As these matters are yet to be finalised, and the financial outcomes are unable to be reliably 
estimated, no allowance for these contingencies has been made in the financial report.

Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in 
the need to make additional contributions to the scheme to ensure that the liabilities of the 
fund are covered by the assets of the fund. As a result of the increased volatility in financial 
markets, the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods has increased. At this 
point in time, it is not known if additional contributions, other than already disclosed at note 
33, will be required, their timing or potential amount.

on 25 July 1994, Council entered into a Guarantee and Indemnity with the Australian and 
New Zealand Banking Group Limited and Basketball Stadiums Victoria Co-operative Ltd 
trading as Sports Stadiums Victoria, for a bank loan for the purposes of building a new 
basketball stadium at Coburg on land leased from Council which is valued in excess of 
the contingent liability. The balance of that part of the loan guaranteed by Council, as at 30 
June 2012 was $680,000 and therefore a contingent liability exists for this amount.   

Guarantees for loans to other entities  680  760 

Contingent assets

As at 30 June 2012, there where no contingent assets identified by Council.
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37 financial instruments
(a) Accounting Policy, terms and conditions

Recognised  
financial 
instruments

Note Accounting Policy Terms and Conditions

Financial assets
Cash and cash 
equivalents

16 Cash on hand and at bank and money  
market call account are valued at face value.

on call deposits returned a floating 
interest rate based on the daily 11am 
return. The interest rate at balance date 
was 3.40%  (4.65% in 2010–11).

Interest is recognised as it accrues. Term deposits provided an average return 
of 5.35% for the period invested. Funds 
held in term deposits in 2010–11 provided 
an average return of 5.83% for the period 
invested.

Investments and bills are valued at cost. Council did not have any funds invested 
in Managed funds during the 2011–12 
financial year. (Funds invested in Managed 
Funds during the 2010–11 financial year 
achieved a return of 1.78%, excluding 
unrealised gains/losses).

Investments are held to maximise interest 
returns of surplus cash.

Interest revenues are recognised as they 
accrue. 
Managed funds are measured at market value.

Trade and other receivables
Other debtors 17 Receivables are carried at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.  
A provision for doubtful debts is recognised 
when there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss has occurred.

Collectability of overdue accounts is assessed 
on an ongoing basis.

General debtors are unsecured and 
interest free at this time. Credit terms are 
usually up to 60 days.

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other 
payables

24 Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be 
paid in the future for goods and services 
provided to Council as at balance date 
whether or not invoices have been received.

General creditors are unsecured, not 
subject to interest charges and are 
normally settled within 21 days from end 
of month of invoice receipt.

Interest-bearing 
loans and 
borrowings

27 Loans are carried at their principal amounts, 
which represent the present value of future 
cash flows associated with servicing the debt. 
Interest is accrued over the period it becomes 
due and recognised as part of payables.

Borrowings are secured by way of 
mortgages over the general rates of the 
Council.

The weighted average interest rate on 
borrowings is 5.97% (6.03% in 2010–11).

Finance leases are accounted for at their 
principal amount with the lease payments 
discounted to present value using the interest 
rates implicit in the leases.

As at balance date, the Council had no 
finance leases.

Bank overdraft overdrafts are recognised at the principal 
amount. Interest is charged as an expense  
as it accrues.

The overdraft is subject to annual review.

It is secured by a mortgage over Council’s 
general rates and is repayable on demand.

The overdraft interest rate at balance date 
was 9.83% (10.49% in 2010–11).
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37 financial instruments (cOnt.)
(b) Interest Rate Risk

The exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities, both 
recognised and unrecognised, at balance date are as follows:      

Fixed interest maturing in:
Floating 
interest  

rate
1 year  
or less

Over  
1 to 5  
years

More than  
5 years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

2012 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  -    37,487  -    -    12  37,499 
Financial assets  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Trade and other receivables  -    -    -    -    3,548  3,548 
Total financial assets  -    37,487  -    -    3,560  41,047 

Weighted average interest rate 5.81%

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  -    -    13,210  -    14,807  28,017 
Trust funds and deposits  589  -    -    -    736  1,325 
Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings  26,220  -    -    13,443  -    39,663 
Total financial liabilities  26,809  -    13,210  13,443  15,543  69,005 

Weighted average interest rate 5.26% 6.83%
      

Net financial assets (liabilities)  (26,809)  37,487  (13,210)  (13,443)  (11,983)  (27,958)

Fixed interest maturing in:
Floating 
Interest 

rate
1 year  
or less

Over  
1 to 5  
years

More than  
5 years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

2011 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  44  17,962  -    -    13  18,019 
Financial assets  -    9,300  -    -    -    9,300 
Trade and other receivables  -    -    -    -    2,452  2,452 
other assets  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Total financial assets  44  27,262  -    -    2,465  29,771 

Weighted average interest rate 1.78% 5.14%

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  -    -    -    -    13,112  13,112 
Trust funds and deposits  575  -    -    -    646  1,221 
Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings  14,581  -    -    14,150  -    28,731 
Total financial liabilities  15,156  -    -    14,150  13,758  43,064 

Weighted average interest rate 5.99% 6.83%
      

Net financial assets (liabilities)  (15,113)  27,262  -    (14,150)  (11,292)  (13,293)
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37 financial instruments (cOnt.)

(c) Net Fair Values
The aggregate net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, at balance 
date are as follows:

Financial instruments
Total carrying amount as 

per Balance Sheet
Aggregate net  

fair value
2012 2011 2012 2011
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 37,499 18,019 37,499 18,019
Financial assets - 9,300 - 9,300
Trade and other receivables 3,548 2,452 3,548 2,452
Total financial assets 41,047 29,771 41,047 29,771

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 28,017 13,112 28,017 13,112
Trust funds and deposits 1,325 1,221 1,325 1,221
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 39,663 28,731 39,663 28,731
Total financial liabilities 69,005 43,064 69,005 43,064

(d) Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial asset is 
represented by the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Balance Sheet.

(e) Risks and mitigation
The risks associated with our main financial instruments and our policies for minimising these risks are detailed below.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. The Council’s exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only 
insignificant exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk. Components of market risk to 
which we are exposed are discussed below.
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37 financial instruments (cOnt.)

(e) Risks and mitigation (cont.)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities 
that we use. Non-derivative interest bearing assets are predominantly short-term liquid assets. our interest rate liability risk 
arises primarily from long-term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which exposes us to fair value interest rate risk.

our loan borrowings are sourced from major Australian banks by a tender process. Finance leases are sourced from 
major Australian financial institutions. overdrafts are arranged with major Australian banks. We manage interest rate risk 
on our net debt portfolio by:
– ensuring access to diverse sources of funding
– reducing risks of refinancing by managing in accordance with target maturity profiles
– setting prudential limits on interest repayments as a percentage of rate revenue.

We manage the interest rate exposure on our debt portfolio by appropriate budgeting strategies and obtaining approval 
for borrowings from the Department of Planning and Community Development each year.

Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989.  
We manage interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures:
– conformity with State and Federal regulations and standards
– capital protection
– appropriate liquidity
– diversification by credit rating, financial institution and investment product
– monitoring of return on investment  
–  benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.

Maturity will be staggered to provide for interest rate variations and to minimise interest rate risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause us 
to make a financial loss. We have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in our balance sheet. To help 
manage this risk:
– we have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities we deal with 
– we may require collateral where appropriate
– we only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in our 

investment policy.

Trade and other receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the consumer, business and 
government sectors. Credit risk associated with the Council’s financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is 
the Victorian Government. Apart from the Victorian Government, we do not have any significant credit risk exposure 
to a single customer or groups of customers. ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of our 
customers and, where appropriate, an allowance for doubtful debts is raised.

We may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as when we 
provide a guarantee for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 36.
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2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

37 financial instruments (cOnt.)

(e) Risks and mitigation (cont.)

Movement in provisions for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year 530 440
New provisions recognised during the year 211 152
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible 12 -
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year  (309)  (62)
Balance at end of year 444 530

Ageing of trade and other receivables
At balance date other debtors representing financial assets were past due but not impaired. These amounts relate to a 
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing of the Council’s Trade & 
other Receivables was:

Current (not yet due)  3,198  1,610 
Past due by up to 30 days  219  403 
Past due between 31 and 90 days  100  252 
Past due by more than 90 days  31  187 
Total Trade & other Receivables  3,548  2,452 

Ageing of individually-impaired trade and other receivables
At balance date, other debtors representing financial assets with a nominal value of $473,467 (2011 $706,091) were 
impaired. The amount of the provision raised against these debtors was $444,467 (2011: $530,389). The individually-
impaired debtors relate to general and sundry debtors and have been impaired as a result of their doubtful collection. 
Many of the long outstanding past due amounts have been lodged with Council’s debt collectors or are on payment 
arrangements.

The ageing of trade and other receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at reporting date was:

Current (not yet due)  -  - 
Past due by up to 30 days  -  - 
Past due between 31 and 90 days  -    -   
Past due by more than 90 days  473  706 
Total Trade & other Receivables  473  706 
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37 financial instruments (cOnt.)

(e) Risks and mitigation (cont.)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of our operational liquidity requirements:
– we will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the date
– we will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth,
– we may be unable to settle or recover a financial assets at all.

To help reduce these risks we:
– have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained
– have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place
– have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid instruments
– monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis
– set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal 

repayments to rate revenue.

The Council’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

The table below lists the contractual maturities for Financial Liabilities.

These amounts represent undiscounted gross payments including both principal and interest amounts.

2012

6 mths
or less

$’000

6–12
months

$’000

1–2
years
$’000

2–5
years
$’000

>5
years
$’000

Contracted
Cash Flow

$’000

Carrying
Amount

$’000
Trade and other 
payables  14,807  -  14,201  -  -  29,007  28,017 
Trust funds and 
deposits  368  221  147  -    620  1,356  1,325 
Interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings  1,924  1,906  3,757  10,842  44,526  62,954  39,663 
Total financial 
liabilities  17,099  2,127  18,105  10,842  45,146  93,317  69,005 

2011

6 mths
or less

$’000

6–12
months

$’000

1–2
years
$’000

2–5
years
$’000

>5
years
$’000

Contracted
Cash Flow

$’000

Carrying
Amount

$’000
Trade and other 
payables  13,112  -  -    -  -  13,112  13,112 
Trust funds and 
deposits  322  193  129  -  606  1,250  1,221 
Interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings  1,656  1,638  3,223  15,631  21,111  43,259  28,731 
Total financial 
liabilities  15,090  1,831  3,352  15,631  21,717  57,621  43,064 
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For the Year ended 30 June 2012

37 financial instruments (cOnt.)

(f) Sensitivity disclosure analysis
Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management’s knowledge and 
experience of the financial markets, the Council believes the following movements are ‘reasonably possible’ over the 
next 12 months (base rates are sourced from Reserve Bank of Australia):
– A parallel shift of + 1% and -2% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 4.75%.
The table below discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of financial instruments held 
by the Council at year-end, if the above movements were to occur.

Interest rate risk
-2 % +1%

-200 basis points +100 basis points
Profit Equity Profit Equity

2012 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents  37,499 (750) (750) 375 375
Financial assets  -    -    -    -    -   
Trade and other receivables  3,548  -    -    -    -   
Financial liabilities:
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  26,220 524 524 -262 -262

Interest rate risk
-2 % +1%

-200 basis points +100 basis points
Profit Equity Profit Equity

2011 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents  18,006 (360) (360) 180 180
Financial assets  9,300 (186) (186) 93 93
Trade and other receivables  2,452  -    -    -    -   
Financial liabilities:
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  14,581 292 292 -146 -146

(g) Fair Value Hierarchy
All financial assets carried at fair value are measured at quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

38 auDitOrs’ remuneratiOn 
Audit fee to conduct external audit – Victorian Auditor-General 56 56
Fees for other services provided by internal auditor 9 8

65 64

39 events Occurring after Balance Date 
Council received an invoice from Vision Super on 2 August 2012 for the shortfall in the Defined Benefit Superannuation 
Scheme Fund, following the 31 December 2011 actuarial investigation. The invoice was for a total of $14.201 million 
payable on 1 July 2013.  Consistent with AASB 110 events after the reporting period, this constitutes an adjusting event 
as the shortfall represents the settlement of a present obligation at the end of the reporting period.

Consequently, the amount that represents Council’s obligation as of 30 June 2012 ($13.210 million) was included in the 
2012 accounts under ‘employee benefit’ expenditure.

40 relateD party transactiOns
(i)  Responsible Persons

Names of persons holding the position of a responsible person at the Council at any time during the year are:
Councillors Councillor John Kavanagh (Mayor from 5/12/11 to current)

Councillor oscar Yildiz (Mayor from 1/07/11 to 4/12/11)
Councillor Stella Kariofyllidis
Councillor Alice Pryor (Deputy Mayor from 1/07/11 to 4/12/11)
Councillor Kathleen Matthews-Ward
Councillor Anthony Helou
Councillor Toby Archer (resigned December 2012)
Councillor Michael Teti (Deputy Mayor from 5/12/11 to current)
Councillor enver erdogan
Councillor Jo Connellan
Councillor Lambros Tapinos
Councillor Lenka Thompson (elected January 2012)

Chief Executive Officer Peter Brown

(ii) Remuneration of Responsible Persons
The numbers of responsible officers, whose total remuneration from Council  
and any related entities fall within the following bands:

2012 
No.

2011 
No.

$10,000      –     $19,999  2  -   
$20,000      –     $29,999  7  9 
$30,000      –     $39,999  1  -   
$50,000      –     $59,999  2  1 
$60,000      –     $69,999  -    1 
$310,000    –     $319,999  -    1 
$320,000    –     $329,999  1  -   

 13  12 
$ $

Total remuneration for the reporting year for responsible persons included above 
amounted to: 697,652 674,916
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40 relateD party transactiOns (cOnt.)

(iii) No retirement benefits have been made by the Council to a responsible person. (2010/11, $Nil).

(iv)  No loans have been made, guaranteed or secured by the Council to a responsible person during the reporting year 
(2010–11, $Nil).

(v) Other Transactions
No transactions other than remuneration payments or the reimbursement of approved expenses were entered into  
by Council with Responsible Persons, or Related Parties of such Responsible Persons during the reporting year 
(2010/11, $Nil).

(vi) Senior Officers’ Remuneration
A senior officer other than a responsible person, is an officer of Council whose total annual remuneration exceeds 
$127,000, or, if remuneration is less than $127,000, has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief 
executive officer

The number of senior officers other than the responsible persons, are shown below in their 
relevant income bands:

2012 
No.

2011 
No.

Income Range:
<$127,000  -    1 
$127,000 – $129,999  -    2 
$130,000 – $139,999  4  4 
$140,000 – $149,999  6  9 
$150,000 – $159,999  2  6 
$160,000 – $169,999  8  1 
$190,000 – $199,999  -    1 
$200,000 – $209,999  1  5 
$210,000 – $219,999  4  -   

 25  29 
$ $

Total remuneration for the reporting year for senior officers included above, amounted to:  4,118,696  4,528,180 
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notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012

Chief Executive Officer’s Office
Ceo’s office is responsible for the Council’s overall operations and the internal audit function.
The office includes the following branches: Chief executive 

officer
Internal Auditor

Corporate Services Department
Corporate Services Department is responsible for compliance with the Corporate Governance requirements and for 
providing a range of strategic and operational financial services to business units and to the Council as a whole. 

The department includes the following branches: Director Corporate 
Services

Information 
Technology

Legal Services

Finance & Business 
Systems

Citizens Services Governance

Social Development Department
Social Development Department promotes and enhances community wellbeing through funding programs, advocacy, 
service provision, community partnerships and regulatory activity. 

The department includes the following branches: Director Social 
Development

Culture & Library 
Services

Aged Services

east Timor Project Social Policy & early 
Years

Youth & Leisure

City Infrastructure Department
City Infrastructure Department enhances community wellbeing through the provision of a broad range of asset 
maintenance, enhancement and creation services.

The department includes the following branches: Director City 
Infrastructure

Strategic Transport 
& Property

City operations

Capital Works 
Delivery

41 revenue, expenses anD assets By functiOns/activities

Rates Income CEO’s Office
Corporate  
Services

Social  
Development

City  
Infrastructure

City  
Development

Organisational 
Development

Economic 
Development Total

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

INCOME

Grants  -    -    -    -    7,208 5,717  9,811 9,584  1,846 1,921  1,597 1,996  -   2 0 0 20,462 19,220

Other  100,704 92,310  -    -    5,556 2,927  3,715 4,730  6,523 5,137  12,279 12,417  247 309  1 170 129,025 118,000

TOTAL 100,704 92,310  -   0 12,764 8,644 13,526 14,314 8,369 7,058 13,876 14,413 247 311 1 170 149,487 137,220

ExPENSES  -    -    722 722  53,333 39,066  31,207 31,244  41,890 38,414  14,839 14,958  5,784 5,351  3,143 2,554 150,918 132,309

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 
FOR THE YEAR 100,704 92,310  (722) (722) (40,569) (30,422) (17,681) (16,930) (33,521) (31,356) (963) (545) (5,537) (5,040) (3,142) (2,384) (1,431) 4,911
ASSETS ATTRIBUTED 
TO FUNCTIONS/
ACTIVITIES*  -    -   141 181 10,385 9,809 962,944 972,270 467,905 467,482 3,252 2,371 1,127 1,344 134 243 1,445,888 1,453,700

*Assets have been attributed to functions/activities based on the control and/or custodianship of specific assets.
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41 revenue, expenses anD assets By functiOns/activities

Rates Income CEO’s Office
Corporate  
Services

Social  
Development

City  
Infrastructure

City  
Development

Organisational 
Development

Economic 
Development Total

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

INCOME

Grants  -    -    -    -    7,208 5,717  9,811 9,584  1,846 1,921  1,597 1,996  -   2 0 0 20,462 19,220

Other  100,704 92,310  -    -    5,556 2,927  3,715 4,730  6,523 5,137  12,279 12,417  247 309  1 170 129,025 118,000

TOTAL 100,704 92,310  -   0 12,764 8,644 13,526 14,314 8,369 7,058 13,876 14,413 247 311 1 170 149,487 137,220

ExPENSES  -    -    722 722  53,333 39,066  31,207 31,244  41,890 38,414  14,839 14,958  5,784 5,351  3,143 2,554 150,918 132,309

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 
FOR THE YEAR 100,704 92,310  (722) (722) (40,569) (30,422) (17,681) (16,930) (33,521) (31,356) (963) (545) (5,537) (5,040) (3,142) (2,384) (1,431) 4,911
ASSETS ATTRIBUTED 
TO FUNCTIONS/
ACTIVITIES*  -    -   141 181 10,385 9,809 962,944 972,270 467,905 467,482 3,252 2,371 1,127 1,344 134 243 1,445,888 1,453,700

*Assets have been attributed to functions/activities based on the control and/or custodianship of specific assets.

notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012

City Development Department
City Development Department promotes and enhances community wellbeing by the provision of statutory, strategic and 
environmental regulatory and enforcement services.

The department includes the following branches: Director City 
Development

Sustainable 
Development

Urban Development Urban Safety
Organisational Development Department
organisational Development Department provides services related to internal and external communication, planning and 
performance, human resource welfare and management, and project planning and compliance.

The department includes the following branches: Human Resources Communications & 
Research

oHS & Risk 
Management

Council Planning & 
Performance

MP2 Project office

Economic Development Department
economic Development Department promotes and enhances economic development within the municipal precinct 
through a number of major projects and strategies.

The department includes the following branches: Director economic 
Development

The Coburg Initiative

Activity Centres economic 
Development
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notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012

42 financial ratiOs (perfOrmance inDicatOrs)
2012 2012 2011 2011 2010 2010
$’000 (%) $’000 (%) $’000 (%)

(a) Debt servicing ratio (to identify 
the capacity of Council to service its 
outstanding debt)
Debt servicing costs 1,799 = 1.20% 1,528 = 1.11% 787 = 0.54%
Total revenue 149,487 137,220 144,631

Debt servicing costs refer to the payment of interest on loan borrowings, finance lease, and bank overdraft. 

The ratio expresses the amount of interest paid as a percentage of Council’s total revenue.

(b) Debt commitment ratio (to identify 
Council’s debt redemption strategy)
Debt servicing and redemption costs 3,168 = 3.15% 2,305 = 2.50% 1,286 = 1.53%
Rate revenue 100,704 92,310 83,926

The strategy involves the payment of loan principal and interest, finance lease principal and interest. 

The ratio expresses the percentage of rate revenue utilised to pay interest and redeem debt principal. 

(c) Revenue ratio (to identify Council’s 
dependence on non-rate income)
Rate revenue 100,704 = 67.37% 92,310 = 67.27% 83,926 = 58.03%
Total revenue 149,487 137,220 144,631

The level of Council’s reliance on rate revenue is determined by assessing rate revenue as a proportion of the total 
revenue of Council.

(d) Debt exposure ratio  
(to identify Council’s exposure to debt)
Total indebtedness 56,024 = 5.26% 44,262 = 4.11% 35,126 = 3.28%
Total realisable assets  1,064,407 1,075,777 1,071,709
 
For the purposes of the calculation of financial ratios, realisable assets are those assets which can be sold and which 
are not subject to any restriction on realisation or use. 

Any liability represented by a restricted asset (note 32) is excluded from total indebtedness.

The following assets are excluded from total assets when calculating Council’s realisable assets:

land – other controlled; buildings on other controlled land; restricted assets; heritage assets; roads and lanes; footpaths; 
kerb and channel; drains; bridges.

This ratio enables assessment of Council’s solvency and exposure to debt. Total indebtedness refers to the total liabilities 
of Council. Total liabilities are compared to total realisable assets which are all Council assets not subject to any restriction 
and are able to be realised. The ratio expresses the percentage of total liabilities for each dollar of realisable assets.
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42 financial ratiOs (perfOrmance inDicatOrs) (cOnt.)
2012 2012 2011 2011 2010 2010
$’000 (%) $’000 (%) $’000 (%)

(e) Working capital ratio (to assess Council’s 
ability to meet current commitments)

Current assets 56,657 = 171.33% 38,375 = 126.30% 34,459 = 122.75%
Current liabilities 33,070 30,385 28,072

The ratio expresses the level of current assets the Council has available to meet its current liabilities.

(f) Adjusted working capital ratio (to 
assess Council’s ability to meet current 
commitments)

Current assets 56,657 = 242.14% 38,375 = 188.02% 34,459 = 183.03%
Current liabilities 23,399 20,410 18,827
 
The ratio expresses the level of current assets the Council has available to meet its current liabilities.

Current liabilities have been reduced to reflect the long service leave that is shown as a current liability because Council 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, but 
is not likely to fall due within 12 months after the end of the period.
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notes to the Financial report
For the Year ended 30 June 2012

Note
2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

43 capital expenDiture

Capital expenditure areas

Roads  8,682  5,117 
Drains  4,422  1,787 
open space  2,281  2,627 
Land and buildings  8,482  11,127 
Plant, equipment and other  4,369  2,747 
Bridges  725  56 
other structures  351  970 
Total capital works  29,312  24,431 

Represented by:
Renewal (a)  18,640  12,098 
Upgrade (b)  1,079  1,373 
expansion (c)  56  39 
New  9,537  10,921 
Total capital works  29,312  24,431 

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure movement 

The movement between the previous year and the current year in property, 
plant and equipment, infrastructure as shown in the Balance Sheet links to 
the net of the following items:

Total capital works (includes contributions – non-monetary assets)  29,312  24,431 
Asset identified / derecognised and movement in works in progress 22  (1,201)  5,592 
Asset revaluation movement 28 (a)  (15,297)  -   
Depreciation/amortisation 12  (20,227)  (19,738)
Written down value of assets sold 22  (399)  (145)
Net movement in property, plant and equipment, infrastructure 22  (7,812)  10,140 

(a) Renewal 
expenditure on an existing asset which returns the service potential or the life of the asset up to that which it had 
originally. It is periodically required expenditure, relatively large (material) in value compared with the value of the 
components or sub-components of the asset being renewed. As it reinstates existing service potential, it has no impact 
on revenue, but may reduce future operating and maintenance expenditure if completed at the optimum time. 

(b) Upgrade

expenditure which enhances an existing asset to provide a higher level of service or expenditure that will increase the 
life of the asset beyond that which it had originally. Upgrade expenditure is discretional and often does not result in 
additional revenue unless direct user charges apply. It will increase operating and maintenance expenditure in the future 
because of the increase in the council’s asset base. 

(c) Expansion
expenditure which extends an existing asset, at the same standard as is currently enjoyed by residents, to a new group 
of users. It is discretional expenditure which increases future operating and maintenance costs, because it increases 
Council’s asset base, but may be associated with additional revenue from the new user group.  

44 special cOmmittees anD Other activities
Council is not aware of any special committees or other activities which need to be accounted for in this financial report 
or which have not been included due to materiality.  
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1. Basis Of preparatiOn Of stanDarD statements
Moreland City Council is required to prepare and include audited Standard Statements within its Annual Report. Four 
Statements are required – a Standard Income Statement, Standard Balance Sheet, Standard Statement of Cash Flows 
and a Standard Statement of Capital Works, together with explanatory notes.

These statements and supporting notes form a special purpose financial report prepared to meet the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Finance and Reporting) Regulations 2004.

The Standard Statements have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with those used for the General Purpose 
Financial Report and the budget. The results reported in these statements are consistent with those reported in the 
General Purpose Financial Report.

The Standard Statements are not a substitute for the General Purpose Financial Statements, which are included 
on pages 67 to 70 of the annual report. They have not been prepared in accordance with all Australian Accounting 
Standards or other authoritative professional pronouncements.

The Standard Statements compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual 
performance. The Local Government Act 1989 requires explanation of any material variances. The Council has adopted 
a materiality threshold of 10 per cent, except where the variance is considered to be of material value. explanations have 
not been provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material because 
of its nature.

The budget figures included in the Standard Statements are based on those adopted by the Council on 29 June 2011. 
Some adjustments to the adopted budgets were required to ensure allignment with the main statements in the Annual 
Financial Report. The budget was based on assumptions that were relevant at the time of adoption of the budget. The 
Council set guidelines and parameters for revenue and expense targets in this budget in order to meet the Council’s 
business plan and financial performance targets for both the short and long-term. The budget did not reflect any 
changes to equity resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable.

Detailed information on the actual financial results are contained in the General Purpose Financial Report on pages 71 to 
118. The detailed budget can be obtained by contacting Council or through the Council’s website at moreland.vic.gov.au. 
The Standard Statements must be read with reference to these documents.

notes accompanying the standard statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2012
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Budget Actuals
2011–12 Variances 2011–12

$’000 $’000 % Ref $’000
Revenue

Rates and charges  98,497  2,207  2.2 1  100,704 
Statutory fees and fines  7,208  (1,377)  (19.1) 2  5,831 
User fees  10,866  549  5.0 3  11,415 
Contributions – cash  1,205  704  58.4 4  1,909 
Contributions – non-monetary assets  -    3,408  -   5  3,408 
Grants – recurrent  15,211  1,255  8.3 6  16,466 
Grants – non-recurrent  687  3,309  481.7 7  3,996 
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment  300  (141)  (47.0) 8  159 
other income  4,401  1,578  35.9 9  5,979 

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and 
joint ventures accounted for by the equity method  -    -    -    -   
Fair value adjustments for investment property  -    (380)  -   10  (380)

     
Total revenues  138,375  11,112  8.0   149,487 

Expenses
employee benefits  66,860  (13,737)  (20.5) 11  80,597 
Materials and services  41,220  (6,115)  (14.8) 12  47,335 
Bad and doubtful debts  1,043  201  19.3 13  842 
Depreciation and amortisation  19,957  (270)  (1.4) 14  20,227 
Finance costs  2,644  845  32.0 15  1,799 
other expenses  75  4  4.8  71 
Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) 
reversals  -    (47)  -   16  47 

Total expenses  131,799  (19,119)  (14.5)   150,918 
     

Net surplus (deficit)  6,576  (8,007)  121.8   (1,431)

The above Standard Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the note to, and forming part of, the financial report. 

standard income statement
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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2. variance explanatiOn repOrt
Ref. Item Explanation

1 Rates and charges This variance is largely due to significantly higher than budgeted supplementary rates 
income. This additional income is derived from the continuing high level of building activity 
occurring within the municipality.

2 Statutory fees and fines This variance is due to parking and planning permit fees being below budget.

3 User fees User fees generated from commercial garbage collections were higher than anticipated.

4 Contributions – cash Capital contributions were higher than anticipated.

5 Contributions –  
non-monetary assets

This variance is due to the recognition of donated assets from completed developments 
during the year for which Council has now accepted ongoing responsibility.

6 Grants – recurrent This variance is due to above budget results which have occurred across a range of partly 
grant-funded Council services. expenditure obligations apply to these additional funds. In 
addition, Grants Commission funding was above budget due to the advance payment of 
half of the 2012–13 funding.

7 Grants – non-recurrent This variance is due to grants being significantly above budget due to the recognition 
of $1,309k in unbudgeted grants related to the consolidated accounts of the Moreland 
enterprise Foundation Limited (MeFL). In addition, an unbudgeted grant of $1M was 
received for the Brunswick Baths.   

8 Net gain/(loss) on disposal 
of property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment

This variance is a result of sales of assets with higher than expected written down values, 
including an unbudgeted sale of a land asset (non depreciating asset type).

9 other income This variance is due to above budget interest and $1.013M of unbudgeted revenue after 
consolidating MeFL operations.

10 Fair value adjustments for 
investment property

Market valuations undertaken for Council's investment properties by qualified valuers, 
resulted in this overall decrement.

11 employee benefits This variance is largely due to the recognition of additional Council obligations to the Vision 
Super "defined benefits" superannuation scheme and the consolidation of unbudgeted 
MeFL employee expenses.

12 Materials and services The primary reasons for this variance are the approved use of agency staff to fill staff 
vacancies, higher than budgeted consultancy costs which includes the consolidation 
of MeFL consultancy costs and expenditure originally budgeted as part of the capital 
program which were actually operating in nature.

13 Bad and doubtful debts At balance date, debtors were assessed for recoverability. As a result, the provision for 
parking debtors was below budget primarily due to a lower than anticipated number of 
parking fines in excess of the statutory lodgement period.  

14 Depreciation and 
amortisation 

Depreciation expense for the year was above budget as a result of higher than anticipated 
new asset purchases and construction projects.

15 Finance costs This favourable variance is due to better than budgeted interest rate as well as a delay in 
the commencement of loan-funded projects.

16 Share of net profits/(losses) 
of associates and joint 
ventures accounted for by 
the equity method

A decrease in Council's equity interest in the regional food kitchen enterprise is primarily 
due to the recognition of the loss made by the enterprise for 2011–12.

standard income statement
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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Budget Actuals
2011–12 Variances 2011–12

$’000 $’000 % Ref $’000
Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  14,276  23,223  162.7 17  37,499 
Trade and other receivables  11,875  909  7.7 18  12,784 
Financial assets  9,500  (9,500)  (100.0) 19  -   
Inventories  164  (41)  (25.0)  123 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale  -    4,145  -   20  4,145 
other assets  672  1,434  213.4 21  2,106 

Total current assets  36,487  20,170  55.3   56,657 

Non-current assets

Investments in associates accounted for using the 
equity method (includes shares in MAPS Ltd)  1,627  (309)  (19.0) 22  1,318 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  1,475,927  (30,039)  (2.0) 23  1,445,888 
Investment property  21,669  3,111  14.4 24  24,780 

Total non-current assets  1,499,223  (27,237)  (1.8)   1,471,986 
     

Total assets  1,535,710  (7,067)  (0.5)   1,528,643 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  12,479  (2,328)  (18.7) 25  14,807 
Trust funds and deposits  1,110  (215)  (19.4) 26  1,325 
Provisions  15,410  217  1.4 27  15,193 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  1,551  (194)  (12.5) 28  1,745 

Total current liabilities  30,550  (2,520)  (8.2)   33,070 

Non-current liabilities

Provisions  926  (242)  (26.1) 27  1,168 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  38,492  574  1.5 28  37,918 
Trade and other payables  -    (13,210)  -   25  13,210 

Total non-current liabilities  39,418  (12,878)  (32.7)   52,296 
     

Total liabilities  69,968  (15,398)  (22.0)   85,366 
     

Net assets  1,465,742  (22,465)  (1.5)   1,443,277 

Equity
Accumulated surplus  453,635  (9,842)  (2.2) 29  443,793 
Asset revaluation reserve  1,005,752  (15,296)  (1.5) 30  990,456 
other reserves  6,355  2,673  42.1 30  9,028 

Total equity  1,465,742  (22,465)  (1.5)   1,443,277 

The above Standard Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the note to, and forming part of, the financial report.

standard Balance sheet
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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3. variance explanatiOn repOrt
Ref. Item Explanation

17 Cash and cash equivalents Cash balances at year end were significantly higher than forecast due to a higher than 
anticipated opening cash balance, delays in a number of large capital projects funded by 
loans and the year-end impact of the consolidation of MeFL. The variance has also been 
affected by the transfer of long-term financial assets $9.3M to short-term deposits.  
(refer note 20)

18 Trade and other receivables Council brought to account higher than expected interest owed on rates in arrears and 
there was an unanticipated growth in rates and sundry debtors.

19 Financial assets This decrease reflects the movement in Council’s term deposit investments with long 
investment periods. This resulted in an increase in cash and cash equivalents.  
(refer note 18)

20 Non-current assets 
classified as held for sale

Council has issued resolutions indicating an intention to sell a number of property assets 
within the next 12 months.

21 other assets This variance is due to a payment to a holding account with Council's lawyers awaiting 
a conclusion of the Strategic Partnering Agreement with the Coburg 2020 master plan 
development partner equiset Services.

22 Investments in associates 
accounted for using the 
equity method

This variance reflects the unbudgeted movement in Council’s equity position in the 
regional kitchen enterprise.

23 Property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment 

This variance is due to a higher than forecast actual opening balance, the unbudgeted 
impact of the revaluation of Council’s land and buildings, and the net result of asset 
depreciation, purchases and sales.

24 Investment property The investment property figure relates to strategic properties acquired as part of the 
Coburg Initiative project. The variance is as a result of the budget reflecting a very 
conservative view of the property market movement given the global economic situation.

25 Trade and other payables Council received a number of high value invoices, over $2M, from several contractors 
building the Brunswick Baths precinct in June. Payment terms determined that this 
significant value of invoices would be paid in early July. Non-current liabilities is $13M 
higher than budget due to recognition of additional Council obligations to the Vision Super 
"defined benefits" superannuation scheme.

26 Trust funds and deposits This variance is largely due to a higher than forecast actual opening balance. There was 
a marginal increase in the value of both trust funds and deposits between the reporting 
periods. The budget had not forecast any change in value.

27 Provisions overall employee provisions were aligned with budget.

28 Interest-bearing loans  
and borrowings

overall loan borrowings are below budget due to higher than budget debt redemption 
resulting from a lower than anticipated interest rate on a loan with a fixed repayment 
schedule.

29 Accumulated surplus The unbudgeted movements between reserves and the accumulated surplus, together 
with operating result variances to budget account for this movement.  

30 Reserves This variance is primarily due to the unbudgeted impact of Council’s land and buildings 
revaluations. The net of transfers in and out of the Public Resort & Recreation Land Fund 
reserve and the Housing Strategy reserve also contribute to this result.

standard Balance sheet
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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Budget Actuals
2011–12 Variances 2011–12

$’000 $’000 % Ref $’000
Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers  103,926  7,024  6.8 31  110,950 
Payments to suppliers  (40,049)  (18,805)  (47.0) 32  (58,854)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from customers/suppliers  63,877  (11,781)  (18.4)   52,096 
Interest received  1,180  582  49.3 33  1,762 
Government receipts  15,898  4,930  31.0 34  20,828 
Statutory fees and fines  7,191  (2,492)  (34.7) 35  4,699 
Payments to employees  (66,002)  (1,129)  (1.7) 36  (67,131)
other payments  (1,322)  1,169  88.4 37  (153)
other receipts  7,464  5,520  73.9 38  12,984 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities  28,286  (3,201)  (11.3)   25,085 

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  300  258  86.1 39  558 
Payments for investment property  -    -    -    -   
Purchase of financial assets  -    9,300  -   40  9,300 
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (37,349)  12,649  33.9 41  (24,700)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities  (37,049)  22,207  59.9   (14,842)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings  12,300  -    -   42  12,300 
Finance costs  (2,644)  845  32.0 43  (1,799)
Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings  (1,068)  (301)  (28.2) 44  (1,369)
Trust monies and deposits paid  -    105  -   45  105 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities  8,588  649  (7.6)   9,237 

Net increase (decrease) in cash held  (175)  19,655  11,231.3  19,480 
Cash at the beginning of the year  23,951  (5,932)  24.8   18,019 

Cash at the end of the year  23,776  13,723  57.7   37,499 

Reconciliation of operating result and net cash flows from operating activities
For the year ending 30 June 2012
Net surplus (deficit) from operations  6,576  (8,007)  (121.8)  (1,431)

Depreciation and amortisation  19,957  270  1.4  20,227 
(Profit) Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (300)  141  47.0  (159)
Finance costs  2,644  (845)  (32.0)  1,799 
Net movement in current assets and liabilities  (591)  5,240  886.7   4,649 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities  28,286  (3,201)  (11.3)   25,085 

The above Standard Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the note to, and forming part of the  
financial report.

standard Cash Flow statement
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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4. variance explanatiOn repOrt
Ref. Item Explanation

31 Receipts from customers Subdivider contributions were above budget due to the currently higher level of overall 
subdivision activity than forecast. In addition, unbudgeted park development income and 
unbudgeted revenue after consolidating Moreland energy Foundation Limited (MeFL) 
operations are other variance factors. In addition, user charges and other fines were 
budgeted at net of GST values.

32 Payments to suppliers The primary reasons for this variance are the approved use of agency staff to fill staff 
vacancies, the consolidation of MeFL consultancy costs, expenditure originally  
budgeted as part of the capital program which were actually operating in nature and the 
variance between gross and net payment values as payments were budgeted at net of 
GST values.

33 Interest received Actual interest received is above budget due to a higher than forecast level of funds 
available for investment and the receipt of interest in the reporting period which was 
recognised as accrued interest in the prior financial year.  

34 Government receipts Grants were significantly above budget due to the recognition of $1.309M in unbudgeted 
grants related to the consolidated accounts of the MeFL and other grants for which 
Council has future expense obligations (Refer to note 5 in the annual report for details).   
In addition, grant receipts were budgeted at net of GST values.

35 Statutory fees and fines This variance is due to parking and planning permit fees being below budget.

36 Payments to employees This variance is largely due to the consolidation of unbudgeted MeFL employee  
expenses and major project employee expenses which were unable to be capitalised  
as originally anticipated.

37 other payments This variance is due to an overestimated budget amount.

38 other receipts This variance is primarily due to unbudgeted GST receipts from the ATo, and above 
budget interest and property rental income receipts. In addition, $1.013M of unbudgeted 
revenue after consolidating MeFL operations is another major factor. 

39 Proceeds from sale 
of property, plant and 
equipment

Proceeds from asset sales were above budget due to a higher than budgeted number of 
sales conducted during the period.

40 Purchase of  
financial assets

This variance reflects the reduction in Council’s term deposit investment related to long 
service leave obligations.

41 Payments for property, 
plant and equipment

This variance reflects a number of large projects which have been either rescoped,  
are currently under construction or have been carried forward to the new capital  
works program.

42 Proceeds from interest 
bearing loans and 
borrowings

Loan borrowings are in alignment with anticipated borrowings.

43 Finance costs This favourable variance is due to a delay in the commencement of loan-funded projects 
and the better than anticipated loan interest rate.

44 Repayment of interest 
bearing loans and 
borrowings

Council took advantage of low interest rates and made increased principal loan 
repayments throughout the year.

45 Trust monies and  
deposits paid

This increase is due to a marginal increase in the value of both trust funds and deposits 
between the reporting periods. The budget had not forecast any change in value.

standard statement of Cashflow
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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Budget Actuals
2011–12 Variances 2011–12

$’000 $’000 % Ref $’000
Capital Works Areas

Roads  7,400  (1,282)  (17.3) 46  8,682 
Drains  640  (3,782)  (590.9) 47  4,422 
open space  4,344  2,063  47.5 48  2,281 
Land and buildings  11,270  2,788  24.7 49  8,482 
Plant, equipment and other  4,487  118  2.6 50  4,369 
other structures  1,500  1,149  76.6 51  351 
Bridges  -    (725)  -   52  725 

Total capital works  29,641  329  1.1   29,312 

Represented by:
Renewal  21,685  3,045  14.0 53  18,640 
Upgrade  4,249  3,170  74.6 54  1,079 
expansion  -    (56)  -   55  56 
New assets  3,707  (5,830)  (157.3) 56  9,537 

Total capital works  29,641  329  1.1   29,312 

Budget Actuals
Property, Plant & Equipment movement 2011–12 Variances 2011–12
Reconciliation Worksheet $’000 $’000 % Ref $’000

The movement between the previous year and 
the current year in property, plant and equipment 
as shown in the Standard Balance Sheet links to 
the net of the following items:

Total capital works  29,641  (329)  (1.1) 57  29,312 
Movement in works in progress  -    (1,201)  -    (1,201)
Depreciation and amortisation  (19,957)  (270)  1.4 58  (20,227)
Asset revaluation movement  -    (15,297)  -   59  (15,297)
Written down value of assets sold  (300)  (99)  33.0 60  (399)

Net movement in property, plant & equipment  9,384  (17,196)  (183.2)   (7,812)

The above Standard Statement of Capital Works should be read in conjunction with the note to, and forming part of, the 
financial report.

standard statement of Capital works
For the Year ended 30 June 2012
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5. variance explanatiOn repOrt
Ref. Item Explanation

46 Roads This variance is due to the recognition of donated assets from completed developments 
during the year for which Council has now accepted ongoing responsibility.

47 Drains Higher than forecast drainage expenditure occurred as a result of new drainage assets 
installed as part of road reconstruction as well as recognition of donated assets from 
completed developments.

48 open space Several major park infrastructure, sportsfield and street landscaping projects have been 
delayed until the new financial year.

49 Land and buildings A delay in the construction of the Brunswick Baths project has resulted in a significant 
underspend. These costs are currently classified as work in progress, pending project 
completion.

50 Plant, equipment and other Minor variance due to the lower than expected purchasing of plant and equipment 
throughout the year.

51 other structures This variance is due to the delay in the Street Lighting project as a result of time delays 
in establishing the necessary work contracts.

52 Bridges As part of the open space works program it was determined that additional works 
needed to be performed on retaining walls.

53 Renewal expenditure This variance is mainly due to various projects, including the street lighting and childcare 
centre building projects, being delayed or still in the process of construction.

54 Upgrade expenditure This variance in part is due to the continuing construction of the Brunswick Baths project. 
Costs have been included in works in progress until the completion of this project.

55 expansion expenditure expenditure works originally classified as renewal type were actually of an  
expansion nature.

56 New assets This variance is predominately due to the construction of new building assets as well as 
donated roads infrastructure assets.

57 Total capital works This variance reflects a number of large projects which have been either rescoped, are 
currently under construction or have been carried forward to the new capital works 
program offset by uncompleted projects from the prior year works program, completed 
during the current period.

58 Depreciation & amortisation Depreciation expense for the year was slightly above budget as a result of unexpected 
donated Infrastructure assets.

59 Asset revaluation movement A valuation of land (excluding land under roads) and buildings was undertaken by 
Westlink Consulting resulting in an adjustment to the fair value of these assets.

60 Written down value of  
assets sold

The written down value of assets was higher than forecast due to unbudgeted sale of a 
land asset during the year.

standard statement of Capital works
For the year ending 30 June 2012
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Glossary

acrOnym title

AAS27 Australian Accounting Standard 27
AIM Area Integrated Maintenance Program
CALDCOM Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Communication
CAP Council Action Plan
CEO Chief executive officer
CERES Centre for education and Research in environmental Strategies
CMS Carbon Management Strategy
DDA Disability Discrimination Act
EBA enterprise Bargaining Agreement
EFT equivalent Full-Time
EOI expression of Interest
FOI Freedom of Information
GIS Geographic Information System
HPP Health Privacy Principle
ILMS Integrated Library Management System
IPP Information Privacy Principle
JMAPP Jardine Municipal Asset Protection Plan
KPI Key Performance Indicator
L2P Learner to Permit (driving program)
LSI Life Styles Inventory
MACHS Moreland Activity Centres and Housing Strategy
MAV Municipal Association of Victoria
MHIRG Manual Handling Internal Reference Group
MITS Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy
MOSS Moreland open Space Strategy
MP2 Moreland PRINCe 2 (project management methodology)
MSD Melbourne Statistical Division
MSLS Municipal Street Landscape Strategy
MSS Municipal Strategic Statement
NAIDOC National Aborigines and Islanders Day observance Committee
NBN National Broadband Network
NCP National Competition Policy
OCI organisational Culture Inventory
OHS occupational Health and Safety
OPAC online Public Access Catalogue
PDR Performance and Development Review
PODS Parking overstay Detection System
RBA Results Based Accountability
ROW Right of Way
SPA Strategic Partnering Agreement
UPC Urban Planning Committee
VAGO Victorian Auditor-General’s office
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Council offices  
office hours: 8.30am to 5pm 
Moreland Civic Centre  
90 Bell Street  
Coburg, Victoria 3058 

Brunswick Citizens’ Service Centre  
233 Sydney Road  
Brunswick, Victoria 3056 

Glenroy Citizens’ Service Centre  
796N Pascoe Vale Road  
Glenroy, Victoria 3046 

Postal address:  
Locked Bag 10  
Moreland, Victoria 3058 

General enquiries:  
Telephone: 03 9240 1111  
Facsimile: 03 9240 1212  
email: info@moreland.vic.gov.au  
Website: moreland.vic.gov.au

Published by Moreland City Council 2012

To contact Council in your language via an interpreter, please 
phone Council’s Language Link service. Phone numbers for 
each language are listed below. 
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